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1.  PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited was incorporated in
Hong Kong (hereinafter as the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries
were incorporated in Hong Kong or Shanghai (together with
the Bank hereinafter as the “Group”). The Bank is a licensed
bank authorised under the Hong Kong Banking Ordinance.

The principal activities of the Bank are the provision
of banking and related financial services. The principal
activities of the Bank’s subsidiaries are shown in “Appendix
— Subsidiaries of the Bank”. The address of the Bank’s
registered office is 151 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (HKFRSs is a collective term which
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, HKASs and Interpretations) issued by
the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of available-for-sale securities, financial assets
and financial liabilities (including derivative financial
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, precious
metals at fair value, investment properties which are carried
at fair value and premises which are carried at fair value
or revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. Repossessed assets and
assets held for sale are stated at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further explained
in Notes 2.24 and 2.27 respectively.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the Management to exercise
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 3.

Except for the annual improvements to HKFRSs that
are already mandatorily effective for accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2015, there is no other standard or
amendment adopted by the Group in 2015. The impact of
the adoption of these annual improvements is not material
to the Group's financial statements.

(a) Standards and amendments issued that are not
yet mandatorily effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group in 2015

The following standards and amendments have been issued
and are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016:

RAFER
BREAZFE rEERE
Applicable for Currently
%8 /55T AES financial years relevant to
Standards/Amendments Content beginning on/after the Group
BB ERE 1R (K1B3T) wEM BN 20161 A1H =
HKAS 1 (Amendments) Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2016 Yes
BEQHENE 6% - BAGEEL RBE - HEMLED 201651 A1H A
F415 (BEFT)
HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 (Amendments) Agriculture: Bearer Plants 1 January 2016 No
BEGHENE16% - BEGEEL BIBIEREHZ AERA A 201651 A1H A
385 (FEFT)
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 (Amendments) Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation 1 January 2016 No
BEGERE2752011) (KEFT) BYMERKANERE 201651 1K =

HKAS 27 (2011) (Amendments)

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements

1 January 2016 Yes
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(a) B AB {8 [ 575 58 I 1o 2 34 e AR 37 K EE B 2015 12 (a)  Standards and amendments issued that are not

BIERAY 2 R RAEAT (48)

yet mandatorily effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group in 2015 (Cont’d)

RAFEHR
BREAZEE AEERE
Applicable for Currently
8 /5T RE financial years relevant to
Standards/Amendments Content beginning on/after the Group
BB EE28%(2011) Kk REZRAMEREECE L HANERELEIEA T &
BEMBREERF105 (FEFT)
HKAS 28 (2011) and HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and To be determined No
(Amendments) its Associate or Joint Venture
BEEHENE285%(2011) « BAERE REERE : HRAGRIINEIRER 201651 A1H A
RERRE10RRBBUBRE
R 125 (185T)
HKAS 28 (2011), HKFRS 10 and Investment entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception 1 January 2016 No
HKFRS 12 (Amendments)
BB BREEIFIR SRIE 201841418 =
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 Yes
BERBREERS 115 (BEFT) WEREXKERZ ST RE 201651 A1H A
HKFRS 11 (Amendments) Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 1 January 2016 No
BAEUBRELENF 1458 EEELRA 201651718 &
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1 January 2016 No
BB RELRE15% BREPEREYA 201851 A1H b=
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018 Yes
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2.1
(a)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

Standards and amendments issued that are not
yet mandatorily effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group in 2015 (Cont’d)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected

to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

HKAS 1 (Amendments), “Disclosure Initiative”.
The amendments to HKAS 1 are designed to
further encourage companies to apply professional
judgement in determining what information to
disclose in their financial statements. For example,
the amendments make clear that materiality applies
to the whole of financial statements and that the
inclusion of immaterial information can inhibit the
usefulness of financial disclosures. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that companies should use
professional judgement in determining where and in
what order information is presented in the financial
disclosures. This amendment will not have material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HKAS 27 (2011) (Amendments), “Equity Method in
Separate Financial Statements”. The amendments
restore the option to allow an entity to apply the
equity method to account for its investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in its
separate financial statements. Early application is
permitted. Entities electing to change to the equity
method in its separate financial statements shall have
to apply the same accounting for each category of
investments so elected and are required to apply this
change retrospectively. These amendments will not
have any material impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(a) Standards and amendments issued that are not
yet mandatorily effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group in 2015 (Cont’d)

o HKFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”. The issuance

of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” completes the
Accounting Standards Board's
comprehensive response to the financial crisis.
HKFRS 9, the equivalent standard of IFRS 9 under
HKFRS, includes a logical model for classification and
measurement, a single, forward-looking “expected

International

loss” impairment model and a tighter linkage of
risk management to hedge accounting. The changes
introduced in HKFRS 9 are highlighted as follows:

(i) Classification and Measurement
Financial assets

Financial assets are required to be classified into one of
the following measurement categories: (1) measured
subsequently at amortised cost, (2) measured subsequently
at fair value through other comprehensive income (all fair
value changes other than interest accrual, amortisation
and impairment will be recognised in other comprehensive
income) or (3) measured subsequently at fair value through
profit or loss. Classification is to be made on transition,
and subsequently on initial recognition. The classification
depends on the entity’s business model for managing
its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the instruments.

A financial instrument is subsequently measured at amortised
cost only if it is a debt instrument, and the objective of the
entity’s business model is to hold the asset to collect the
contractual cash flows, and the asset’'s contractual cash
flows characteristics represent only unleveraged payments
of principal and interest. A debt instrument is subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
if it is held in a business model whose objective is achieved
by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets and the instrument fulfils the contractual cash flows
characteristics. All other debt instruments are to be measured
at fair value through profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(a) Standards and amendments issued that are not
yet mandatorily effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group in 2015 (Cont’d)

(i) Classification and Measurement (Cont’d)
Financial assets (Cont'd)

Equity instruments are generally measured subsequently at
fair value with limited circumstances that cost may be an
appropriate estimate of fair value. Equity instruments that
are held for trading will be measured at fair value through
profit or loss. For all other equity investments, an irrevocable
election can be made at initial recognition to recognise
unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses in other
comprehensive income without subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to the income statement even
upon disposal. Dividend income is recognised in the income
statement when the right to receive payment is established.

Financial liabilities

Except for the two substantial changes described below, the
classification and measurement requirements of financial
liabilities have been basically carried forward with minimal
amendments from HKAS 39.

The accounting for fair value option of financial liabilities
were changed to address own credit risk. The amount
of change in fair value attributable to changes in the
credit risk of the financial liabilities will be presented in
other comprehensive income. The remaining amount of
the total gain or loss is included in the income statement.
If this creates or enlarges an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss, then the whole fair value change is presented
in the income statement. The determination of whether
there will be a mismatch will need to be made at initial
recognition of individual liabilities and will not be re-
assessed. Amounts presented in other comprehensive income
are not subsequently reclassified to the income statement
but may be transferred within equity. This removes the
volatility in profit or loss that was caused by changes in the
credit risk of liabilities elected to be measured at fair value.
It also means that gains caused by the deterioration of an
entity’s own credit risk on such liabilities will no longer be
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(a) Standards and amendments issued that are not
yet mandatorily effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group in 2015 (Cont’d)

(i) Classification and Measurement (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities (Cont'd)

The standard also eliminates the exception from fair value
measurement contained in HKAS 39 for derivative financial
instruments that are linked to and must be settled by delivery
of an unquoted equity instrument.

(i) Impairment

The standard introduces a new, expected-loss impairment
model that will require more timely recognition of expected
credit losses. Specifically, it requires entities to account
for 12 months expected credit losses from inception when
financial instruments are first recognised and to recognise
full lifetime expected credit losses on a more timely basis
when there have been significant increases in credit risk since
initial recognition. The impairment for financial instruments
that are subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (debt instruments),
loan commitments and financial guarantees will be governed
by this standard.

(iif) Hedge accounting

The requirements related to hedge accounting would better
align the accounting treatments with risk management
activities and enable entities to better reflect these activities
in their financial statements. It relaxes the requirements for
assessing hedge effectiveness which more risk management
strategies may be eligible for hedge accounting. It also relaxes
the rules on using non-derivative financial instruments as
hedging instruments and allows greater flexibility on hedged
items. Users of the financial statements will be provided with
more relevant information about risk management and the
effect of hedge accounting on the financial statements.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

(a) Standards and amendments issued that are not
yet mandatorily effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group in 2015 (Cont’d)

(iii) Hedge accounting (Cont’d)

Early application of HKFRS 9 in its entirety at the same
time is permitted. Only the part related to own credit risk
can be elected to be early applied in isolation. The Group
has already formed a groupwide project team to assess the
impact of HKFRS 9, formulate the work plan and implement
the standard. Significant works has been done on analysing
our financial instruments, building models and designing
new workflows. Due to the complication of the project, no
quantitative information of the potential effect is concluded
yet.

. HKFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”. HKFRS 15 applies a single model and
specifies the accounting treatment for all revenue
arising from contracts with customers. The new
standard is based on the core principle that revenue
is recognised to reflect the consideration expected
to be entitled when control of promised good or
service transfers to customer. It is also applicable to
the recognition and measurement of gains or losses
on the sale of some non-financial assets such as
properties or equipment that are not an output of
ordinary activities. HKFRS 15 also includes a set of
disclosure requirements about revenue from customer
contracts. The new standard will replace the separate
models for goods, services and construction contracts
stipulated in different standards under the current
HKFRS. Early application is permitted. The Group is
considering the financial impact of the standard and
the timing of its application.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont'd)
(b) Improvements to HKFRSs

“Improvements to HKFRSs” contains numerous amendments
to HKFRSs which the HKICPA considers not urgent but
necessary. It comprises amendments that result in accounting
changes for presentation, recognition or measurement
purpose as well as terminology or editorial amendments
related to a variety of individual HKFRSs. The amendments
will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2016. The adoption of these improvements does not
have a material impact on the Group's financial statements.

(c) Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

The requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance came into effect for the
first time during the current financial year. The main impact
to the Group’s financial statements is on the presentation
and disclosure of certain information in the Group’s financial
statements.

2.2 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Bank and all of its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.2 Consolidation (Cont'd)
Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated;
unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment of the assets transferred.
Where necessary, accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

In the Bank’s balance sheet, the investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less allowance for impairment losses. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Bank on the
basis of dividends received and receivable. Dividend income
from subsidiaries is recognised in the income statement
when the right to receive payment is established.

2.3 Segmental reporting

The operating result of segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
Management, which is the chief operating decision maker
of the Group, that allocates resources and assesses the
performance of operating segments. Income and expenses
directly associated with each segment are included in
determining operating segment performance.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.

“functional currency”). The consolidated financial
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or exchange rates at the end of
the reporting period for items that are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of foreign currency transactions using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions and monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting
period are recognised directly in the income statement,
except when deferred in other comprehensive income as
qualifying net investment hedges.

Translation differences on monetary securities held at fair
value through profit or loss are reported as part of the fair
value gain or loss. Changes in the fair value of monetary
securities denominated in foreign currency classified as
available for sale are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of
the securities and other changes in the carrying amount of
the securities. Translation differences related to changes in
the amortised cost are recognised in the income statement,
and other changes in the carrying amount are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary items are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences
on non-monetary financial assets such as equities classified
as available for sale are included in other comprehensive
income.

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from Hong Kong
dollars are translated into Hong Kong dollars as follows:

o assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rates
at the end of the reporting period;
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

o income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates; and

o all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
the currency translation reserve in equity through
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities,
borrowings and other currency instruments designated as
hedges of such investments are taken to other comprehensive
income. When a foreign entity is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in the income statement, as part
of the gain or loss on sale.

2.5 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
re-measured at fair value. Fair values are obtained from
quoted market prices in active markets, including recent
market transactions, and through the use of valuation
techniques, including discounted cash flow models and
option pricing models, as appropriate. All derivatives are
carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities
when fair value is negative.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments
are treated as separate derivatives when their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of
the host contract and the host contract is not carried at fair
value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in the income statement.

Derivatives are categorised as held for trading and changes
in their fair value are recognised immediately in the income
statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.6 Hedge accounting

The Group documents at inception the relationship between
hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its
assessment, both at the hedge inception and on an ongoing
basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values of hedged items. These criteria should be met before
a hedge can be qualified to be accounted for under hedge
accounting.

Net investment hedge

A gain or loss on the effective portion of the hedging
instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity; a gain or loss on the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.
Accumulated gains and losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to the income
statement upon disposal of the foreign operation as part of
the gain or loss on disposal.

2.7 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.8 Interest income and expense and fee and
commission income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income
statement for all financial assets and financial liabilities using
the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and
of allocating the interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument
or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When
calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates
future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the
financial instrument (e.g. prepayment options or incentives
relating to residential mortgage loans) but does not consider
future credit losses. The calculation includes fees, premiums
or discounts and basis points paid or received between
parties to the contract, and directly attributable origination
fees and costs which represent an integral part of the
effective yield.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets
has been written down as a result of an impairment loss,
interest income is recognised on the written down value
using the rate of interest used to discount the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Subsequent unwinding of the discount allowance is
recognised as interest income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.8 Interest income and expense and fee and
commission income and expense (Cont'd)

Fee and commission income and expenses that are not
an integral part of the effective yield are recognised on
an accrual basis ratably over the period when the related
service is provided, such as administrative fee, asset
management fee and custody services fee. Loan syndication
fees are recognised as revenue when the related syndication
arrangement has been completed and the Group has
retained no part of the loan package for itself or has retained
a part at the same effective interest rate as applicable to the
other participants.

2.9 Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into the following
four categories: financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity securities
and available for sale financial assets. The Management
determines the classification of investments at initial
recognition. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets are held. All financial assets are
recognised initially at fair value. Except for financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss, all transaction
costs of financial assets are included in their initial carrying
amounts.

(1) Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held
for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit
or loss at inception.

A financial asset which has been acquired or incurred
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or is
part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking is classified
as held for trading. Derivatives are also classified as held
for trading.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont'd)

(1) Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (Cont’d)

A financial asset, other than one held for trading, will be
designated as a financial asset at fair value through profit
or loss, if it meets one of the criteria set out below, and is
so designated by the Management:

o eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement
or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred
to as “an accounting mismatch”) that would
otherwise arise from measuring the financial assets or
recognising the gains and losses on them on different
bases; or

. applies to a group of financial assets, financial
liabilities or both that is managed and its performance
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the group is provided
internally on that basis to the Management; or

o relates to financial assets containing one or more
embedded derivative that significantly modifies the
cash flow resulting from those financial assets.

These assets are recognised initially at fair value, with
transaction costs taken directly to the income statement,
and are subsequently re-measured at fair value.

Gains and losses from changes in the fair value of such
assets (excluding the interest component) are reported in
net trading gain/loss or net gain/loss on financial instruments
designated at fair value through profit or loss. The interest
component is reported as part of interest income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont'd)
(2) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market, including placements with and advances
to banks and other financial institutions, investment debt
securities without an active market and loans and advances
to customers. They arise when the Group provides money,
goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of
trading the receivable. They are initially recorded at fair
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowances for impairment losses.

(3) Held-to-maturity

Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity are those traded
in active markets, with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities that the Group’s Management has both
the positive intention and the ability to hold to maturity.
Where the Group sold held-to-maturity assets (i) other than
due to an isolated event beyond the Group’s control, non-
recurring and could not have been reasonably anticipated
by the Group, such as a significant deterioration in the
issuer’s creditworthiness, significant change in statutory or
regulatory requirement; or (ii) other than an insignificant
amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category would
be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. They are
initially recorded at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method less
allowances for impairment losses.

(4) Available-for-sale

Financial assets classified as available-for-sale are those that
are either designated as such or are not classified in any of
the other categories. They are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time but may be sold in response to
needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange
rates or equity prices.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont'd)
(4) Available-for-sale (Cont’d)

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recorded at fair
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs, and are
subsequently measured at fair value. Unrealised gains and
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investments
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, until
the financial asset is derecognised or impaired at which
time the accumulated gain or loss previously recognised
in equity should be transferred to the income statement.
However, interest income which includes the amortisation
of premium and discount is calculated using the effective
interest method and is recognised in the income statement.
Dividends on equity instruments classified as available-for-
sale are recognised in other operating income when the
Group's right to receive payment is established.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in other comprehensive income is amortised
to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment
using the effective interest method. Any difference between
the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also
amortised over the remaining life of the financial asset
using the effective interest method. If the financial asset
is subsequently determined to be impaired, the amount
recorded in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss immediately.

The treatment of translation differences on available-for-sale
securities is dealt with in Note 2.4.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.10 Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities under the following
categories: trading liabilities, deposits and other liabilities. All
financial liabilities are classified at inception and recognised
initially at fair value.

(1) Trading liabilities

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is
incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the
short term. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading.
It is measured at fair value and any gains and losses from
changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement.

(2) Deposit, and other liabilities

Deposits and other liabilities, other than those classified as
trading liabilities are carried at amortised cost. Any difference
(if available) between proceeds net of transaction costs and
the redemption value is recognised in the income statement
over the period using the effective interest method.

2.11 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a
contract between the holder and the debtor.

Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised as
financial liabilities and reported under “Other accounts
and provisions” in the financial statements at fair value on
the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group’s liabilities under such guarantees
are measured at the higher of (i) the amount determined
in accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets” and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate, accumulated
amortisation recognised over the life of the guarantee on
a straight-line basis. Any changes in the liability relating
to financial guarantee contracts are taken to the income
statement.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.12 Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments

Purchases and sales of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity are
recognised on the trade date, the date on which the
Group purchases or sells the assets. Loans and receivables
(except investment securities without an active market)
are recognised when cash is advanced to the borrowers.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or where
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership. When the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial asset, the Group either continues to recognise the
transferred financial asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement if control remains or derecognise it if there is
no retained control.

Trading liabilities are recognised on the trade date. Deposits
that are not trading liabilities are recognised when money is
received from customers, other liabilities are recognised when
such obligations arise. Financial liabilities are derecognised
from the balance sheet when and only when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Securities and bills sold to a counterparty with an obligation
to repurchase at a pre-determined price on a specified future
date under a repurchase agreement are referred to as repos.
Securities and bills purchased from a counterparty with an
obligation to re-sell to the counterparty at a pre-determined
price on a specified future date under a resale agreement
are referred to as reverse repos.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.12 Recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments (Cont'd)

Repos or securities lending are initially recorded as due
to banks, placements from banks and other financial
institutions, as appropriate, at the actual amount of cash
received from the counterparty. Financial assets given as
collateral for repurchase agreements are not derecognised
and are recorded as financial investments or financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss. Reverse repos or securities
borrowing are initially recorded in the balance sheet as cash
and due from banks or placements with banks and other
financial institutions, as appropriate, at the actual amount
of cash paid to the counterparty. Financial assets received
as collateral under reverse repurchase agreements are not
recognised on the balance sheet. The difference between
sale and repurchase price is recognised as interest income
or interest expense over the life of the agreements using the
effective interest method.

2.13 Fair value measurement

The Group measures its premises and investment properties,
precious metals and certain financial instruments at fair value
at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
in its principal market or the most advantageous market
accessible by the Group at the measurement date.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.13 Fair value measurement (Cont'd)

If the market for assets or liabilities is not active, the Group
uses valuation techniques, including the use of recent arm’s
length transactions, discounted cash flow analysis, option
pricing models and other valuation techniques commonly
used by market participants, that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

2.14 Precious metals

Precious metals comprise gold. Precious metals are initially
recognised and subsequently re-measured at fair value.
Mark-to-market gains or losses on precious metals are
included in net trading gain/loss.

2.15 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses as at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses
are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and
that loss event (or events) has an impact on the reliably
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group
of financial assets. Objective evidence that a financial asset
or group of financial assets may be impaired includes
observable data that comes to the attention of the Group
about the following probable loss events:

(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

(i) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payment;

(iii) the Group granting to the borrower, for economic
or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, a concession that the lender would not
otherwise consider;

(iv) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.15 Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)

(v) the disappearance of an active market or
downgrading below investment grade level for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

(vi) observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a
group of financial assets since the initial recognition
of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be
identified with the individual financial assets in the
group, including:

o adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers
in the group; or

° national or local economic conditions that correlate
with defaults on the assets in the group.

(1) Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of
impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and
collectively assesses them for impairment together with all
other financial assets that are not individually significant or
for which impairment has not yet been identified. Assets
that are individually assessed for impairment and for which
an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on
loans and receivables or held-to-maturity securities has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred), discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the income statement. If a loan or held-to-
maturity security has a variable interest rate, the discount
rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a
practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on
the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable
market price.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.15 Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)
(1) Assets carried at amortised cost (Cont’d)

The calculation of the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects the
cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for
obtaining and selling the collateral.

For the purposes of a collective assessment of impairment,
financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar and
relevant credit risk characteristics. Those characteristics are
relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups
of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to
pay all amounts due according to the contractual terms of
the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are
collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the
basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the
group and historical loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics similar to those in the group. Historical
loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable
data to reflect the effects of current conditions that did not
affect the period on which the historical loss experience
is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the
historical period that do not exist currently.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the
related allowance for impairment losses. Such loans are
written off after all the necessary procedures have been
completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off
decrease the amount of impairment losses in the income
statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of allowance for
impairment losses decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss
to the extent of its decrease is reversed by adjusting the
allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised
in the income statement.

Loans whose terms have been renegotiated with substantial
difference in the terms are no longer considered to be past
due but are treated as new loans.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.15 Impairment of financial assets (Cont'd)
(2) Assets classified as available-for-sale

If evidence of impairment exists for available-for-sale
financial assets, the accumulated losses, measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost or amortised cost
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that financial asset previously recognised in the income
statement, is removed from equity and recognised in
the income statement. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is
considered in determining whether the assets are impaired.
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument
classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in the income statement,
the impairment loss to the extent of its decrease is reversed
through the income statement. With respect to equity
instruments, further fair value changes are recognised in the
reserve for fair value change of available-for-sale securities
through other comprehensive income, impairment losses are
not reversed through the income statement.

2.16 Impairment of investment in subsidiaries
and non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. Potential indications of impairment
may include significant adverse changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment in which the assets
operate or whether there has been a significant or prolonged
decline in value below their cost. “Significant” is evaluated
against the original cost of the investment and “prolonged”
against the period in which the fair value has been below
its original cost.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash generating units). Assets that suffered impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries
and non-financial assets (Cont'd)

2.16

In the Bank’s balance sheet, impairment testing of the
investment in a subsidiary is also required upon receiving
dividend from that entity if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of that entity concerned in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
that entity in the Bank's balance sheet exceeds the carrying
amount of that entity’s net assets including goodwill in its
consolidated balance sheet.

2.17 Investment properties

Properties that are held for long-term rental yields or for
capital appreciation or both, and that are not occupied by
the companies in the Group, are classified as investment
properties. Properties leased out within Group companies are
classified as investment properties in individual companies’
financial statements and as premises in consolidated financial
statements. Land held under operating lease is classified and
accounted for as investment property when the rest of the
definition of investment property is met. The operating lease
is accounted for as if it is a finance lease.

Investment properties are recognised initially at cost,
including related transaction costs. After initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying
amount only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The item is
stated at cost less impairment and is included in the carrying
amount of investment properties. Once the item begins to
generate economic benefits, it is then measured at fair value.
All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the
income statement during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

Any changes in fair value are recognised directly in the
income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.17 Investment properties (Cont'd)

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is
reclassified as premises, and its fair value at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes. If
an item of premises becomes an investment property because
its use has changed, any difference resulting between the
carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the date
of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income as a
revaluation of premises under HKAS 16 “Property, Plant and
Equipment”
revaluation loss or impairment loss, the gain is recognised in
the income statement up to the amount previously debited.

. However, if a fair value gain reverses a previous

2.18 Properties, plant and equipment

Properties are mainly branches and office premises. Premises
are shown at fair value based on periodic, at least annual,
valuations by external independent valuers less subsequent
accumulated depreciation. Any accumulated depreciation
at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated
to the revalued amount of the asset. In the intervening
periods, the directors review the carrying amount of
premises, by reference to the open market value of similar
properties, and adjustments are made when there has been
a material change.

All plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition
and installation of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in an asset’s carrying amount
or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. The item is stated at cost
until it begins to generate economic benefits, then the item
is subsequently measured according to the measurement
basis of its respective assets class. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are charged to the income statement
during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.18 Properties, plant and equipment (Cont'd)

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of
premises are credited to the premises revaluation reserve
through other comprehensive income. Decreases that
offset previous increases of the same individual asset are
charged against premises revaluation reserve through other
comprehensive income; all other decreases are expensed in
the income statement. Any subsequent increases are credited
to the income statement up to the amount previously
debited, and then to the premises revaluation reserve. Upon
disposal of premises, the relevant portion of the premises
revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations
is released and transferred from the premises revaluation
reserve to retained earnings.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to
write down the cost or revalued amount of such assets over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

3 Properties Over the life of government
land leases
o Plant and equipment 2 to 15 years

The useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, as at the end of each reporting period.

At the end of each reporting period, both internal and
external sources of information are considered to determine
whether there is any indication that properties, plant and
equipment, are impaired. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and where
relevant, an impairment loss is recognised to reduce the
asset to its recoverable amount. Such an impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement except where the asset
is carried at valuation and the impairment loss does not
exceed the revaluation surplus for that same asset, in which
case it is treated as a revaluation decrease. The recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. Impairment loss is reversed through
the premises revaluation reserve or the income statement
as appropriate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.18 Properties, plant and equipment (Cont'd)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount, relevant taxes and expenses.
These are recognised in the income statement.

Properties, plant and equipment classified as held for sale
is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations”.

2.19 Leases
(1) Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. The total payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease
period has expired, any payment required to be made to
the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in
the period in which termination takes place. Rental income
from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

(2) Finance leases

Leases of assets where lessee have obtained substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Government land leases in Hong Kong are classified
as finance leases as the present value of the minimum lease
payments (i.e. transaction price) of the land amounted to
substantially all of the fair value of the land as if it were
freehold.

79



80

#17% %% 4645 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2015 ANNUAL REPORT i

www.ncb.com.hk

BRI AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

2. FESHEE @)

2.19 HE (&)
2) HEHE (&)

HEHESEHEMKBE RHEAEEEZ A FEEESZEMR
HNFHREIREETUEEL - SHESHEOERA
BERMBER NEE—ERESETNBRESREL - HEN
HEEE EHRMBERR ST ARMLARE - ZREHE
EEBANKREYNEARFEIR

YAERBARERE - Ao 0N ES RER SRR -
BERARNREFEFERNASHARR - URRE TS
GRS

220 RERFERALSEAE

MEARERERME REREFRBASHBERERIH
B REABSERH=EARINPZEH  BERS - R]RIT
MEMSBBBZEH  BRHIRBERROBARERS °

2.21 #4E

EAKERRERAZEMMAARERESHEREZRE
Bff MEKZETREBAIERARENGE 2 ER  HE
BEESBEEATEMELHEZBRT - RERAFHEEM
B

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.19 Leases (Cont'd)
(2) Finance leases (Cont’d)

Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement
at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance
charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance
balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations,
net of finance charges, are included in other liabilities.
Investment properties acquired under finance leases are
carried at their fair value.

When assets are leased out under a finance lease, the
present value of the lease payments is recognised as a
receivable. Lease income is recognised over the term of the
lease using net investment method, which reflects a constant
periodic rate of return.

2.20 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement,
cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with original
maturity less than three months from the date of acquisition,
including cash, balances with banks and other financial
institutions, short-term bills and notes classified as
investment securities.

2.21 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.22 Employee benefits
(1) Retirement benefit costs

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes under either recognised ORSO schemes or MPF
schemes that are available to the Group’s employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and employees
are calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries
for the ORSO schemes and in accordance with the MPF
rules for MPF schemes. The retirement benefit scheme
costs are charged to the income statement as incurred
and represent contributions payable by the Group to the
schemes. Contributions made by the Group that are forfeited
by those employees who leave the ORSO scheme prior to the
full vesting of their entitlement to the contributions are used
by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions
or to meet its expenses under the trust deed of the ORSO
schemes.

The assets of the schemes are held in independently-
administered funds separate from those of the Group.

(2) Leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and sick leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for unused annual leave and
the amount of sick leave expected to be paid as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Compensated absences other than sick leave and special
approved annual leaves are non-accumulating; they lapse if
the current period'’s entitlement is not used in full. Except for
unexpired annual leaves, they do not entitle employees to a
cash payment for unused entitlement on leaving the Group.

(3) Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments are recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and
a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. Liabilities
for bonus plans that are expected to be settled longer
than twelve months will be discounted if the amounts are
significant.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.22 Employee benefits (Cont'd)
(4) Defined benefit plan

The Group operates a defined benefit plan which is
unfunded. The cost of providing benefits under the defined
benefit plan is determined using the projected unit credit
actuarial valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from actuarial gains and losses
of the defined benefit plan, is recognised immediately in
the consolidated balance sheet with a corresponding debit
or credit to retained profits through other comprehensive
income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements
are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the

earlier of:
o the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and
o the date that the Group recognises restructuring-

related costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the
net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises
the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation
interest expenses” and “operating expenses” in the
consolidated income statement by function:

under “

o service costs comprising current service costs, past
service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and
non-routine settlements

. net interest expense or income
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.23 Current and deferred income taxes

Tax expenses for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in
other comprehensive income. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Income tax payable on profits, based on the applicable
tax law enacted or substantially enacted at the end of the
reporting period in each jurisdiction where the Bank and
the subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income, is
recognised as a current income tax expense in the period in
which profits arise.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the balance
sheet liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

The principal temporary differences arise from asset
impairment provisions, depreciation of premises and
equipment, and revaluation of certain assets including
available-for-sale securities and premises. However, the
deferred income tax is not recognised if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided in full on all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred income tax assets
are recognised on all deductible temporary differences,
the carry forward of any unused tax credits and unused
tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised.
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2.25

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.23 Current and deferred income taxes (Cont’d)

Deferred income tax is charged or credited in the income
statement except for deferred income tax relating to fair
value re-measurement of available-for-sale securities and
revaluation of premises which are charged or credited
to other comprehensive income,
deferred income tax is also credited or charged to other
comprehensive income and is subsequently recognised in

in which case the

the income statement together with the realisation of the
deferred gain and loss.

Deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset arising from
investment property is determined based on the presumption
that the revaluation amount of such investment property will
be recovered through sale with the relevant tax rate applied.

2.24 Repossessed assets

Repossessed assets are initially recognised at the lower of
their fair value less costs to sell and the amortised cost of
the related outstanding loans on the date of repossession,
and the related loans and advances together with the related
impairment allowances are derecognised from the balance
sheet. Subsequently, repossessed assets are measured at the
lower of their cost and fair values less costs to sell and are
reported as “non-current assets held for sale” included in
"Other assets”.

2.25 Fiduciary activities

The Group commonly acts as a trustee, or in other fiduciary
capacities, that result in its holding or managing assets on
behalf of individuals, trusts and other institutions. These
assets and any gains or losses arising thereon are excluded
from these financial statements, as they are not assets of
the Group.



www.ncb.com.hk

#17% %% 4645 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2015 ANNUAL REPORT i

2. FESHHEE®)
2.26 RABEBRBAREE

FRBERERBECEENEHSIENTREFTFRETNE
T EFERA - FRRERAEEM T2 H R RED
MEEMHHRETKHER - ARBBERAERANBED %
EEMmaIBNREEE - BEMEF TS EBEENRD
MEKETEA EABEEESRE - BURB IR °

KRB ETERERSERS - BSERMBHRERME P INAR
B mBERBEAERE  EEENENRLEFRA AR
Al & s HL R e o

FREERERABECEENEHSIENARELZEE
EEAERER - RRERTAEEM T T 2E 6 R B THEE
EMHBR R IRER ©

KREBEETERER - BMEARKREEENZRN - SEH
BHEAMETRE - AR EWE QBN A K E DT
o BERKEE -

2.27 FHEERE

WEIFRBEENREEN T ELHEZE - ATERR T H
HERHENAREEER  MEeRE/AFHEERE - FHE
Rz ERBEENREREM RS LERNESSE [FEH
ERRZIRPEERKRIELLERR ] HEEERRFE
BEREHERAE  UMESH ZBEFEAE -

228 BEEAL

MU EMHBRERME - & AL()aeEs - HEEHIARSE
CRHAKRBEAEATEN  (NEAXKERE —MBR
SERENKE - fl: BT HEAR  REMEBAR
(IS AEBHERBEEFNBEERRHA/ELE : (VA
AEBERBRARNIESEAS  (VEAREEX I HARE
B+ (i) R AR B (V)R A LA B ¢ R(vi)AAE
B AEBEZEAREREIEETEABRYE - RIZEALH
BRABEAL - BAEALAIRBEASREE -

BAFE R AR MY RE

Notes to the Financial Statements

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.26 Contingent liabilities and contingent
assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events that
is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised as a provision but
is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When
a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When the inflow is virtually
certain, it will be recognised as an asset.

2.27 Assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale when their
carrying amounts will be recovered principally through sale,
they are available for sale in their present condition and their
sale is highly probable. Non-current assets held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell, in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

2.28 Related parties

For the purposes of these financial statements, a party
is considered to be related to the Group if that party (i)
controls, jointly controls or has significant influence over
the Group; (ii) is a member of the same financial reporting
group, such as parents, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries;
(iii) is an associate or a joint venture of the Group or parent
reporting group; (iv) is a key management personnel of the
Group or parents; (v) is subject to common control with
the Group; (vi) is an entity in which a person identified in
(iv) controls; and (vii) provides key management personnel
services to the Group or its parent. Related parties may be
individuals or entities.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Areas susceptible to changes in essential estimates and
judgements, which affect the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities, are set out below. The effect of changes to either
the key assumptions or other estimation uncertainties will be
presented below if it is practicable to determine. It is possible
that actual results may require material adjustments to the
estimates referred to below.

3.1 Impairment allowances on loans and
advances

The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment
at least on a quarterly basis. In determining whether
an impairment loss should be recorded in the income
statement, the Group makes judgements as to whether there
is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio
of loans and advances before the decrease can be identified
with an individual loan in that portfolio. This evidence may
include observable data indicating that there has been an
adverse change in the payment status of borrowers in a
group (e.g. payment delinquency or default), or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults on assets in the
group. The Management uses estimates based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics and
objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the
portfolio when estimating expected future cash flows. The
methodology and assumptions used for estimating both
the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed
regularly.

Carrying amounts of loans and advances as at 31 December
2015 are shown in Note 22.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

3.2 Impairment of held-to-maturity and
available-for-sale securities

The Group reviews its held-to-maturity and available-for-
sale investment portfolios to assess impairment at least
on a quarterly basis. In determining whether any of these
investments is impaired, risk characteristics and performance
such as external credit rating and market price will be
assessed. The Group makes estimates on the default rate
and loss severity of each investment with reference to market
performance of the portfolios, current payment status of
the issuers or performance of the underlying assets, or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the
collateralised assets. The methodology and assumptions used
for impairment assessments are reviewed regularly.

Carrying amounts of financial investments as at 31 December
2015 are shown in Note 24.

3.3 Fair values of derivative financial
instruments

The fair values of derivative financial instruments that are not
quoted in active markets are determined by using valuation
techniques. Valuation techniques used include discounted
cash flows analysis and models with built-in functions
available in externally acquired financial analysis or risk
management systems widely used by the industry such as
option pricing models. To the extent practical, the models
use observable data. In addition, valuation adjustments may
be adopted if factors such as credit risk are not considered in
the valuation models. Management judgement and estimates
are required for the selection of appropriate valuation
parameters, assumptions and modeling techniques. Further
details will be discussed in Note 5.

Carrying amounts of derivative financial instruments as at
31 December 2015 are shown in Note 21.

87



88

#17% %% 4645 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2015 ANNUAL REPORT i

www.ncb.com.hk

BRI AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

3. ERSIBERBZERShEtRAE

(%8)

34 KEERIHBARS

AEBEREREGFEAFE3R 25 - BRGEENEE
NRERESRBNE THITESREEN BAKAERIHA
E o W BB ERENHE - NMEAZHER - AEES
ERERBCBARERAZEERRMAZED - [REE
SEFERFEISRAI LM EBRIN (PIMEEZSBIE
R REBEOZHBEHE  AIREEREEEMHE) 54
SEREFARSREZZHA - MZRBEERIFREFR DR
RAMFHER S - MRREGARFEE - Mg A#ER
RAGHE -

HE2015F12A3 1AM AR BHEBESFEFEAEBEZD TR
BMisE24 °

3.5 EEBREE

BAEANREBEMER ZBEERBEE - JHABER A H
ERFENZSEBERZERNENSE/R - BEELTHIA
BEMNERSHE FREEEBFHERHE - 8FERKRK
RAARELRRTUENNRRERESHE -

AR BB E L RRBEREEE - EMERRRZE
EHBEEENSEN  BREAYTERNHBERELY HER
Wl % B R BB B A E N T A T EA R
11 -

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

3.4 Held-to-maturity securities

The Group follows the guidance of HKAS 39 in classifying
certain non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments and fixed maturity as held-to-
maturity securities. This classification requires significant
management judgement to evaluate the Group's intention
and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the Group
fails to hold these investments to maturity other than for
specific circumstances defined in HKAS 39, such as selling
an insignificant amount, selling close to maturity or due to
significant credit deterioration of such investments, it will be
required to reclassify the entire portfolio of financial assets
as available-for-sale securities. The investments would then
be measured at fair value and not amortised cost.

Carrying amounts of held-to-maturity securities as at 31
December 2015 are shown in Note 24.

3.5 Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets on unused tax losses are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets on unused tax credits are recognised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the estimation of available tax credits and the
possibility to recover such deferred tax assets recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks as a result of
engaging in a variety of business activities. The principal
financial risks are credit risk, market risk (including currency
risk and interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. This note
summarises the Group's exposures to these risks, as well
as its objectives, risk management governance structure,
policies and processes for managing and the methods used
to measure these risks.

Financial risk management framework

The Group’s risk management governance structure
is designed to cover all business processes and ensures
various risks are properly managed and controlled in the
course of conducting business. The Group has a robust risk
management organisational structure with a comprehensive
set of policies and procedures to identify, measure,
monitor and control various risks that may arise. These
risk management policies and procedures are regularly
reviewed and updated to reflect changes in markets and
business strategies. Various groups of risk takers assume
their respective responsibilities for risk management.

The Board of Directors, representing the interests of
shareholders, is the highest decision-making authority of
the Group and has the ultimate responsibility for risk
management. The Board, with the assistance of its
committees, has the primary responsibility for the formulation
of risk management strategies and ensuring that the Group
has an effective risk management system to implement these
strategies.

The Risk Management Committee, a standing committee
established by the Board of Directors, is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s various types of risks, approving
high-level risk management policies and monitoring their
implementation, approving significant or high risk exposures
or transactions.The Risk Management Committee would
refer any specific transaction to the Board if it is deemed
so significant that Board approval is desirable. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its role in overseeing
the internal control system.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

Financial risk management framework (Cont'd)

The Chief Executive is responsible for organizing and
implementing the risk management strategies and objectives
established by the Board of Directors, managing various
risks and approving significant risk exposures or transactions
within the authorization granted by the Board of Directors.

Various units of the Group have their respective risk
management responsibilities. Business units act as the first
line of defence while risk management units, which are
independent from the business units, are responsible for
the day-to-day management of different kinds of risks.
Risk management units have the primary responsibilities for
drafting, reviewing and updating various risk management
policies and procedures.

The Group has put in place appropriate internal control
systems, including establishment of an organisation structure
that sets clear lines of authority and responsibility for
monitoring compliance with policies, procedures and limits.
Proper reporting lines also provide sufficient independence
of the control functions from the business areas, as well as
adequate segregation of duties throughout the organisation
which helps to promote an appropriate internal control
environment.

Product development and risk monitoring

To ensure the effectiveness of risk assessment and
monitoring, the Group has a comprehensive product
development and risk monitoring system where roles and
responsibilities of all related units are clearly defined and
proper due diligence processes on product development
are in place.

In accordance with the strategic objectives set by the Board
and the Management, respective product management
units are responsible for formulating business and product
development plans, and proceeding to specific product
development activities. The strategic development unit shall
ensure the plans are aligned with the Group’s overall
strategies. Units that are responsible for risk management,
legal, compliance and finance, etc. are accountable for risk
assessment and review.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

Product development and risk monitoring
(Cont'd)

Apart from product development, respective product
management units shall work closely with relevant risk
evaluating units to identify and assess the risks of new
products. Risk evaluating units shall conduct independent
review on the risk assessment results and the corresponding
risk management measures. Products can only be launched
upon completion of the product due diligence process to the

satisfaction of all risk evaluating units.

A prudent approach is adopted in offering treasury products
to our clients. All new treasury products require approval
from a special committee before launching.

4.1 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that a customer or counterparty
is unable to or unwilling to meet its contractual obligations.
Credit risk exists in the trading book and banking book, as
well as from on- and off-balance sheet transactions of the
Group. It arises principally from lending, trade finance and
treasury businesses.

Credit risk management framework

The Group has formulated a comprehensive set of credit
risk management policies and procedures, and appropriate
credit risk limits to manage and control credit risk that may
arise. These policies, procedures and credit risk limits are
regularly reviewed and updated to cope with changes in
market conditions and business strategies.

The Group's organisation structure establishes a clear set of
authority and responsibility for monitoring compliance with
policies, procedures and limits.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
Credit risk management framework (Cont’d)

The Credit and Loans Management Committee, a
management committee authorised by the Chief Executive,
is responsible for the implementation of the credit risk
management strategies as well as the approval of credit
policies. It also monitors the Group’s loan portfolio, quality
of credit asset and risk concentration level. Different units
of the Group have their respective credit risk management
responsibilities.
defence. The risk management units, which are independent

Business units act as the first line of

from the business units, are responsible for the day-to-
day management of credit risks and have the primary
responsibilities for providing an independent due diligence
through identifying, measuring, monitoring and controlling
credit risk to ensure an effective checks and balances, as well
as drafting, reviewing and updating credit risk management
policies and procedures. They report directly to the Credit
and Loans Management Committee, Chief Executive and Risk
Management Committee.

NCB (China) sets up independent risk monitoring teams to
monitor credit risk, and submits management information
and reports to the Bank on a regular basis.

The Board of Directors is the ultimate source of credit
authority. The Board of Directors delegates credit approval
authority to the Chief Executive. Based on management
needs, the Chief Executive can further delegate to the
credit-related subordinates within the limit authorised by
the Board of Directors. The Group sets the limits of credit
approval authority according to the credit business nature,
rating, the level of transaction risk, and the extent of the
credit exposure.

Credit risk measurement and control

In view of the rapidly changing market conditions, the Group
has been continuously revising its credit strategies and
conducting rigorous reviews on the concerned portfolios.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
Credit risk measurement and control (Cont’d)
Advances

Different credit approval and control procedures are adopted
according to the level of risk associated with the customer,
counterparty or transaction. All credit applications are
subject to thorough risk assessment and proper approval. In
general, most of the credit applications will be reviewed and
assessed by independent officer(s) of risk management unit(s)
before approval, with exceptions given to certain designated
advances which satisfy certain conditions. After funding
being drawn, these designated advances will be (randomly)
reviewed by designated unit(s) which is(are) independent
from the front line business units. Obligor ratings (in terms
of probability of default) and facility ratings (in terms of loss
given default) are assigned to credit applications for non-
retail exposures to support credit approval. Retail internal
rating systems are deployed in the risk assessment of retail
credit transactions, including small business retail exposures,
residential mortgage loans, personal loans, etc. Loan grades,
obligor and facility ratings as well as loss estimates (if
applicable) are used to support credit approval.

The Group also uses loan grades, obligor ratings and loss
estimates (if applicable) to support monitoring, reporting
and analysis of credit risk. For non-retail exposures, more
frequent rating review and closer monitoring are required
for higher-risk customers. For retail exposures, monthly
updated internal ratings and loss estimates are used for
credit monitoring on a portfolio basis. More comprehensive
review is required for obligors being identified under high-
risk pools.

The Group employs an internal master rating scale that can
be mapped to Standard & Poor’s external credit ratings. The
structure of internal master rating scale is in compliance with
the requirement of the Banking (Capital) Rules under the
Hong Kong Banking Ordinance.

Regular or ad hoc credit risk management information
reports are provided to the Management, Risk Management
Committee and the Board of Directors to facilitate their
continuous monitoring of credit risk.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
Credit risk measurement and control (Cont’d)
Advances (Cont’d)

In addition, the Group identifies credit concentration risk by
industry, geography, customer and counterparty. The Group
monitors changes in counterparty credit risk, quality of the
credit portfolio and credit risk concentrations, and reports
regularly to the Group’s Management.

The Group adopts loan grading criteria which divides credit
assets into five categories with reference to the HKMA's
guidelines, as below:

"Pass” represents loans where the borrower is current in
meeting its repayment obligations and full repayment of
interest and principal is not in doubt.

“Special Mention” represents loans where the borrower is
experiencing difficulties which may threaten the Group’s
position. Ultimate loss is not expected at this stage but could
occur if adverse conditions persist.

“Substandard” represents loans where the borrower displays
a definable weakness that is likely to jeopardise repayment.

“Doubtful” represents loans where collection in full is
improbable and the Group expects to sustain a loss of
principal and/or interest, taking into account the net
realisable value of the collateral.

“Loss” represents loans which are considered uncollectible
after all collection options (such as the realisation of
collateral or the institution of legal proceedings) have been
exhausted.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
Credit risk measurement and control (Cont’d)
Debt securities and derivatives

For investments in debt securities and securitisation assets,
the obligor ratings or external credit ratings, assessment of
the underlying assets and credit limits setting on customer/
security issuer basis are used for managing credit risk
associated with the investment. For derivatives, the Group
sets customer limits to manage the credit risk involved and
follows the same approval and control processes as applied
for advances. On-going monitoring and stop-loss procedures
are established.

Settlement risk arises mainly from foreign exchange
transactions with counterparties and also from derivatives
transactions in any situation where a payment in cash,
securities or equities is made in the expectation of a
corresponding receipt in cash, securities or equities. Daily
settlement limits are established for each counterparty or
customer to cover all settlement risk arising from the Group's
market transactions on any single day.

Collateral held as security and other credit
enhancements

The valuation and management of collateral have been
documented in the credit risk management policies and
procedures which cover acceptance criteria, validity of
collateral, loan-to-value ratio, haircut ratio, valuation and
insurance, etc. The collateral is revalued on a regular basis,
though the frequency and the method used varies with the
type of collateral involved and the nature and the risk of the
underlying credit. The Group has established a mechanism
to update the value of its main type of collateral, real estate
properties, with the use of public indices on a portfolio basis.
Collateral is insured with the Group as the beneficiary.

For loans guaranteed by a third party, the Group will assess
the guarantor’s financial condition, credit history and ability
to meet obligations.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not hold any
collateral that it was permitted to sell or re-pledge in the
absence of default by the borrower (2014: Nil).
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(A) Credit exposures

The maximum credit exposure is the worst case scenario
of exposure to the Group without taking into account any
collateral held or other credit enhancements. For on-balance
sheet assets, the maximum exposure to credit risk equals
their carrying amount. For letters of guarantee issued, the
maximum exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount
that the Group could be required to pay if the guarantees
are called upon. For loan commitment and other credit
related liabilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the
full amount of the committed facilities.

The nature of the collateral held and other credit
enhancements and their financial effect to the different
classes of the Group’s financial assets are as follows.

Balances and placements with banks and other financial
institutions

These exposures are generally considered to be low risk due
to the nature of the counterparties. Collateral is generally
not sought on these assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
financial investments

Collateral is generally not sought on debt securities.

Derivative financial instruments

The Master Agreement published by the International Swaps
and Derivatives Association, Inc. (“ISDA Master Agreement”)
is the preferred agreement for documenting derivatives
activities of the Group. It provides the contractual framework
under which dealing activities of over-the-counter (“OTC")
transactions are conducted, and sets out close-out netting
provisions upon termination following the occurrence of
an event of default or a termination event. In addition, if
deemed necessary, Credit Support Annex (“CSA") will be
included to form part of the Schedule to the ISDA Master
Agreement. Under a CSA, collateral is passed from one
counterparty to another, as appropriate, to mitigate the
exposures.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(A) Credit exposures (Cont’d)

Advances and other accounts, contingent liabilities and
commitments

The general types of collateral are disclosed on page 95.
Advances and other accounts, contingent liabilities and
commitments are collateralised to the extent considered
appropriate by the Group taking account of the risk
assessment of individual exposures. The collateral coverage
of advances to customers is analysed on pages 107 to
108. The components and nature of contingent liabilities
and commitments are disclosed in Note 35. Regarding the
commitments that are unconditionally cancellable without
prior notice, the Group would assess the necessity to
withdraw the credit line in case where the credit quality
of a borrower deteriorates. For contingent liabilities and
commitments, 15.74% (2014: 12.62%) was covered by
collateral as at 31 December 2015.

(B) Gross advances and other accounts

Gross advances and other accounts before impairment
allowances are summarised by product type as follows:

2015 2014
BET T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
EFER Advances to customers
& A Personal
— &5 - Mortgages 23,956,056 | 21,137,660
— R+ — Credit cards 732,148 1,058,032
— Hfh — Others 9,827,384 9,260,192
NC Corporate
—RBEER — Commercial loans 115,579,409 | 110,404,053
—EF5mE — Trade finance 6,141,777 7,642,319
156,236,774 | 149,502,256
E58% Trade bills 14,072,143 | 16,371,563
170,308,917 | 165,873,819
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

Advances with a specific repayment date are classified as
overdue when the principal or interest is past due and
remains unpaid. Advances repayable by regular instalments
are classified as overdue when an instalment payment is past
due and remains unpaid. Advances repayable on demand are
classified as overdue either when a demand for repayment
has been served on the borrower but repayment has not
been made in accordance with the instruction or when the
advances have continuously exceeded the approved limit that
was advised to the borrower.

Advances are impaired and impairment losses are incurred
if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as
a result of one or more events that occurred and that loss
event(s) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the advances that can be reliably estimated.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on
advances has been incurred, the amount of loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows generated by
the advances. Objective evidence that advances are impaired
includes observable data that comes to the attention of the
Group about the loss events.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is
objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

- Significant financial difficulty incurred by the
borrower;

- A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in principal or interest payment;

- For economic or legal reasons related to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, the Group has granted
to the borrower a concession that it would not
otherwise consider;

- Probable that the borrower will become bankrupt or
undergo other financial reorganisation; or

- Other observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows from such advances.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(a) Advances neither overdue nor impaired

Advances that were neither overdue nor impaired are
analysed by internal credit grade as follows:

2015
FEREE XAIUT
=i Special Substandard st
Pass mention or below Total
BET T BET T BET T BET T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEEXR Advances to customers
A Personal
— R — Mortgages 23,676,398 23,002 1,265 23,700,665
—EAR — Credit cards 653,134 87 = 653,221
— Hfth — Others 9,740,662 17,864 72 9,758,598
NE] Corporate
—BEEX — Commercial loans 113,588,886 1,407,580 285 114,996,751
—EFmE — Trade finance 5,959,307 99,892 = 6,059,199
153,618,387 1,548,425 1,622 155,168,434
BE5EE Trade bills 14,072,143 - - 14,072,143
167,690,530 1,548,425 1,622 169,240,577
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Cont'd)
4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(a) Advances neither overdue nor impaired (Cont’d)

2014
HEHE RS AT
=i Special  Substandard st
Pass mention or below Total
BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEEER Advances to customers
BA Personal
— &8 - Mortgages 20,837,952 19,811 1,729 20,859,492
—ERF — Credit cards 988,572 = 99 988,671
— EA — Others 9,187,486 3,660 1,363 9,192,509
NG Corporate
—HEER — Commercial loans 107,368,945 1,492,590 29,394 108,890,929
—B5pE — Trade finance 7,368,171 163,793 = 7,531,964
145,751,126 1,679,854 32,585 147,463,565
B 5 ER Trade bills 16,371,563 = - 16,371,563
162,122,689 1,679,854 32,585 163,835,128

o

EERX2HEMER - EZREBRREH RS ERRE
8% BUERERBEAS R
EHR ERPIIR °

Al AR - TRAI R A IR E

The occurrence of loss event(s) may not necessarily result in
impairment loss where the advances are fully collateralised.
While such advances are of “substandard” or lower grades,
they are regarded as not being impaired and have been

included in the above tables.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Cont'd)

Credit risk (Cont'd)

Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

Advances overdue but not impaired

The gross amount of advances overdue but not impaired is
analysed as follows:

2015
3EAE 618A{E
AE3EA TEB6MEA TRBIF
T Overdue for Overdue for g
Overdue  six months one year HEB1F
for three  orless but orless but Overdue for
months or  over three over six over one @st
less months months year Total
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEEH Advances to customers
fEA Personal
— %15 - Mortgages 191,087 20 1,635 292 193,034
—ERF ~ Credit cards 51,944 - - - 51,944
— Hfth - Others 56,076 3,983 - 2,892 62,951
NG| Corporate
—BEEX — Commercial loans 77,734 - = 17,384 95,118
- ZB5mE - Trade finance 18,863 6,201 - 1,207 26,271
395,704 10,204 1,635 21,775 429,318
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4. ERERER (&) 4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)
4.1 FERKE (&) 4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) HEHRAMIEKSE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)
(b)  BEARBEER (E) (b)  Advances overdue but not impaired (Cont’d)
2014
BHRR ki)
3(EAME 68 A 18
BE3EA  TEBEeEA THB1F
sk AT Overdue for  Overdue for B H
Overdue for six months or  one year or BEF
three months  less but over less but over ~ Overdue for st
or less three months six months over one year Total
BETT BEFT BETT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFER Advances to customers
fEA Personal
— %15 - Mortgages 246,890 4,993 - 7,087 258,970
—EAR ~ Credit cards 31,892 - = = 31,892
—Hf - Others 47,856 2,441 - 6,014 56,311
NG| Corporate
- BEEX - Commercial loans 523,957 18,936 1,160 1,090 545,143
- BHmE - Trade finance 7,488 24 = = 7.512
858,083 26,394 1,160 14,191 899,828
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(c) Impaired advances

Advances individually identified to be impaired are analysed

by product type as follows:

2015 2014
BEHmTE R mTE
HWER Market BE R Market
Gross value of Gross value of
advances collateral advances collateral
BT T BET T BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EFEX Advances to customers
& A Personal
— &8 - Mortgages 62,357 77,392 19,198 12,425
—EAF — Credit cards 26,983 = 37,469 =
— HAith — Others 5,835 1,147 11,372 10,027
NG Corporate
—AEEX — Commercial loans 487,540 231,164 967,981 883,162
—E5mE — Trade finance 56,307 1,071 102,843 45,703
639,022 310,774 1,138,863 951,317
o EMEREL 2 Impairment allowances made in
NERER respect of such advances 434,377 732,356
2015 2014
BET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
B EEIRREENEFER Y Current market value of collateral held against
R (E the covered portion of such advances to customers 310,774 951,317
FEERREEC EEER Covered portion of such advances to customers 230,073 637,382
LS BRI R EBECREER Uncovered portion of such advances to customers 408,949 501,481

MEEHEER LMER 2 ERREE -

M2015%E12 8318

ORBREZESERE (20145 &) o

The impairment allowances were made after taking into

account the value of collateral in respect of such advances.

As at 31 December 2015, there were no impaired trade bills

(2014: Nil).
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4, EEMERE

41 ER (8)

(&)

(B) HEMREMKE (&)

(c)  BEEN (&)

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(c) Impaired advances (Cont’d)

BESBEIRECEFERITET ¢ Classified or impaired advances to customers are analysed
as follows:

2015 2014

BET T BT

HK$'000 HK$'000

BEDENRECRFEERARE Gross classified or impaired advances to customers 684,698 1,254,636
BHESESRELRFERET Gross classified or impaired advances to customers as

HEFPERBREL X a percentage of gross advances to customers 0.44% 0.84%
Bt EFAE@E B AE 2 RE%ER  Individually assessed impairment allowances made in

respect of such advances 433,567 731,598

BFEDHIRELEFERSERAESEEREE D HN Classified or impaired advances to customers represent

[RER) -~ [R5 [ EE ] BERs @R h ARENER - advances which are either classified as “substandard”,

“doubtful” or “loss” under the Group’s classification of loan
quality, or individually assessed to be impaired.
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4.1 FERE (&)

(B) HBEHMRAMERE (&)
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B R AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)
(d) Advances overdue for more than three months

The gross amount of advances overdue for more than three
months is analysed as follows:

2015 2014
EEFER HEFER
METAL MEBEDL

% of gross

% of gross

£% advances to €%  advances to
Amount customers Amount customers
BT T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
XEERMEE  O@Hl : Gross advances to customers which
have been overdue for:
— BA3ME AR - six months or less but over
TiEBA6fE A three months 102,053 0.06% 261,805 0.17%
— HBiA61E A — one year or less but over
BEEF six months 320,702 0.21% 153,074 0.10%
— BiE1F — over one year 203,026 0.13% 173,289 0.12%
B ARERA3EA 2 BN Advances overdue for over
three months 625,781 0.40% 588,168 0.39%
st EFEERIF E 2 Individually assessed impairment
B LR allowances made in respect of
such advances 412,534 505,549
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4. EREKRERE &)

FERR (&)
(B) HEMREMKE (&)
(d)  BHEBE3NEHZEH (&)

4.1

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(d) Advances overdue for more than three months

(Cont’d)

2015 2014
BT T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000

MEMAEEARBEENE P ER 2 Current market value of collateral held against
R (E the covered portion of such advances to customers 313,983 430,468
FEERREEC REER Covered portion of such advances to customers 228,914 284,182
LB BRI RBECREER Uncovered portion of such advances to customers 396,867 303,986

BHESYREREFRNERRIEERARREFATHRE
REENBEREEET  EAARGEFETHNEERED
o,

M2015F 128318 - RABAHEBIEAZE S EE (2014
& 4E) o

(e) IEEMEN

Collateral held against overdue or impaired loans is
principally represented by charges over business assets such
as commercial and residential premises for corporate loans
and mortgages over residential properties for personal loans.

As at 31 December 2015, there were no trade bills overdue
for more than three months (2014: Nil).

(e) Rescheduled advances
2015 2014
HEFER HREFER
HWHEEHDL wWEHDL

% of gross % of gross

&% advances to £%  advances to
Amount customers Amount customers
BT T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
KEARFPERFRE Rescheduled advances to
(BHREER [#EH customers net of amounts
#BiB3EA 2 E®] &5 ) included in “Advances overdue
for more than three months” 1,329 0.00% 9,803 0.01%

IREME TR ERA BRI ERR 2 B ) i HE SR AL
EHREERERESEIZER - BAIEFG R ZKE
AEFMDEREE3EA - MedE alfEe3EAzE
A e

Rescheduled advances are those advances that have been
restructured or renegotiated because of deterioration in
the financial position of the borrower or of the inability
of the borrower to meet the original repayment schedule.
Rescheduled advances, which have been overdue for more
than three months under the revised repayment terms,
are included in “Advances overdue for more than three

months”.
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4.1 FERE (&)

(B) HBEHMRAMERE (&)

(7) EEEAERE

(i) RITEN B EPEREHE
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B R AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont'd)
(f) Concentration of advances to customers

(i) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers

The following analysis of the gross advances to customers
by industry sector is based on the categories with reference
to the completion instructions for the HKMA return of loans
and advances.

2015
BERRZ
HitEREE BRIz Aeilfiz
EF ZEAY HEERE HEEMR
BHEE % covered RESE Individually ~ Collectively
Gross by collateral HHE assessed assessed
advances to orother  Classified @ impairment impairment
customers security or impaired Overdue allowances allowances
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EBBERZER Loans for use in Hong Kong
IRcmE Industrial, commercial and financial
b EXE — Property development 5,448,761 15.36% - - - 14,435
- NERE — Property investment 10,849,282 92.84% 29,794 24,466 - 110,979
o - Financial concerns 4,497,199 9.53% - - - 9,638
- RERLL ~ Stockbrokers 480 100.00% - - - 4
-RELRTEE - Wholesale and retail trade 9,251,574 30.74% 87,956 103,927 65,156 69,887
— Qg% - Manufacturing 8,523,132 23.30% 30,691 34,384 19,210 36,657
- BRREGRE - Transport and transport equipment 4,316,243 7.66% - 360 - 13,381
— KEEE — Recreational activities 141,637 0.76% - - = 294
— &R - Information technology 741,295 2.40% 2,634 4,839 1,309 1,803
- Hip - Others 14,315,090 42.23% 19,729 25,474 16,498 71,945
fAA Individuals
—-BEEEFHEE - - Loans for the purchase of flats in
IABELEER Home Ownership Scheme, Private
R MEEEEE Sector Participation Scheme and
BFZEN Tenants Purchase Scheme 364,199 99.88% 1,501 8,736 - 241
-BEEMEENEL - Loans for purchase of other residential
BN properties 12,304,337 99.86% 648 53,917 - 5,401
—Hft - Others 7,338,950 56.81% 2,461 27,195 1,410 4,712
ERBERERER Total loans for use in Hong Kong 78,092,179 50.43% 175,414 283,298 103,583 339,377
BHRE Trade finance 6,141,777 33.44% 68,558 78,781 49,162 46,830
ERERIMER 2 ER Loans for use outside Hong Kong 72,002,818 39.30% 440,726 667,966 280,822 565,129
REEREE Gross advances to customers 156,236,774 44.63% 684,698 1,030,045 433,567 951,336
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. ERERER (&) 4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)
4.1 FERKE (&) 4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) HEHRAMIEKSE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)
(f) EEENEHRE () (f) Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)
(i) BROTED BB ERBE (&) (i) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers
(Cont'd)
2014
BB
HinHEz EplEFEz AT
BE ZAN HEER HEER
B85 % covered RENE Individually  Collectively
Gross by collateral FHE assessed assessed
advances to or other Classified @ impairment  impairment
customers security  or impaired Overdue  allowances  allowances
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEBERZER Loans for use in Hong Kong
TremE Industrial, commercial and financial
- MEER — Property development 3,109,845 30.32% - - - 10,877
- MERE — Property investment 12,223,689 86.15% 9,397 35,519 1,322 119,117
o - Financial concerns 2,001,248 21.711% - - - 5,040
- RELL ~ Stockbrokers 101,383 1.35% - - - 236
- BEREER - Wholesale and retail trade 11,956,256 26.82% 92,507 308,788 26,800 84,717
— Bl - Manufacturing 6,307,305 23.80% 38,178 41,590 26,344 33,372
- BHLEHIE - Transport and transport equipment 4,056,145 10.50% 30,386 6,486 12,159 14,822
— KBRS - Recreational activities 56,908 1.97% - - - 133
— BB - Information technology 1,728,779 1.80% 2,479 4,875 919 4,273
—Hip - Others 13,754,281 44.32% 9,630 15,346 6,830 81,038
(YN Individuals
-BEREBHENE . - Loans for the purchase of flats in
AREZREER Home Ownership Scheme, Private
R MEEHEE Sector Participation Scheme and
BF7ED Tenants Purchase Scheme 455,145 99.99% 2,006 12,250 = 226
- BEEMEENEL — Loans for purchase of other residential
B properties 10,333,678 99.51% 5,903 64,808 = 3,240
- ERRER ~ Credit card advances 20,012 - 609 - - 290
- Hip - Others 6,759,164 41.17% 5,411 38,361 782 5,835
GERBERERERE Total loans for use in Hong Kong 72,863,838 50.36% 196,506 528,023 75,156 363,216
B5mE Trade finance 7,642,319 27.90% 102,867 110,355 73,200 59,473
ERBNIMERZER Loans for use outside Hong Kong 68,996,099 41.47% 955,263 1,249,484 583,242 815,833
EEETEE Gross advances to customers 149,502,256 45.11% 1,254,636 1,887,862 731,598 1,238,522




www.ncb.com.hk ¥1i% @ -% 4545 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2015 ANNUAL REPORT £3% 109

B R AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SRIERER @ 4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 fFERR (&) 4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) HEHREMAE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont'd)

(f) EEENEHRE () () Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)

(i) RITEN B RPERRRE (B) (i) Sectoral analysis of gross advances to customers
(Cont'd)

M ERE G FIRBEERE - LB FMEREDEIRE The amounts of new impairment allowances charged to the

BT income statement, and classified or impaired loans written

off during the year are shown below:

2015 2014
FiE  MESTESE iR MERTESE
REERE RREER ELEE FREEN
New  Classified or New Classified or
impairment impaired loans impairment  impaired loans
allowances written off allowances written off
BETT BETT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEBERZER Loans for use in Hong Kong
ITHEermE Industrial, commercial and financial
- MEERE - Property development = - - _
—MERE ~ Property investment 1,201 2,279 2,484 3,237
o - Financial concerns 1,116 - = =
- RELL ~ Stockbrokers - - - -
~RBERTEE - Wholesale and retail trade 58,030 8,634 13,970 5,433
— Bl - Manufacturing 8,405 12,015 7,173 3,244
— B L EHRE — Transport and transport equipment = = 11,881 -
— KBEE — Recreational activities 55 - _ _
— BB — Information technology 415 - 270 _
— Hfh - Others 36,413 25,400 3,283 470
fEA Individuals
- BEREREEFZ - FLA - Loans for the purchase of flats in
BE2ERERTERAE Home Ownership Scheme, Private
BEHEEIBFZEX Sector Participation Scheme and
Tenants Purchase Scheme - = = =
—HEEEMEEMEZER - Loans for purchase of other
residential properties 223 - 2 =
—FRREX — Credit card advances = = 32 =
— Hfty - Others 14,413 16,002 18,262 17,193
TRBERZERERE Total loans for use in Hong Kong 120,271 64,330 57,357 29,577
LR L Trade finance 85,798 91,386 55,594 4,339
ERBLIMER ZER Loans for use outside Hong Kong 935,173 992,314 899,775 344,936
BPEREHE Gross advances to customers 1,141,242 1,148,030 1,012,726 378,852
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4. EREKRERE &)

41 ER (8)
(B) HBEHNRAMIRE (&)

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(f) EEENEHRE () () Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)
(i) B RSB REERERE (i) Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers

THEAREFERZHEREOTEREIZHF ZAE
o YEBKRBREBREER BEEPERZERAMENDR
BEPMEMTR - RIRBRASER ERZERAZAENL -

The following geographical analysis of advances to customers
is based on the locations of the counterparties, after taking
into account the transfer of risk. For an advance to customer

guaranteed by a party situated in a country different from
the customer, the risk will be transferred to the country of

the guarantor.

EFEREH Gross advances to customers
2015 2014
BETT BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
BB Hong Kong 88,083,058 73,959,116
AR A Mainland of China 61,013,223 69,650,228
Hth Others 7,140,493 5,892,912
156,236,774 | 149,502,256

REFERBAEELASTMEZ Collectively assessed impairment allowances in
BB respect of the gross advances to customers

B Hong Kong 426,019 412,140
B A 3 Mainland of China 452,571 730,437
HAh Others 72,746 95,945
951,336 1,238,522
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4. cRERERE &) 4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)
41 EERK (&) 4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(B) HEHREMESE (&) (B)  Gross advances and other accounts (Cont'd)
(f) EEENEHRE () () Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)
(i) R EESErEFERERE (8) (i) Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers
(Cont'd)
BHER Overdue advances
2015 2014
BT T BT
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BB Hong Kong 276,118 332,232
R A it Mainland of China 739,435 1,546,827
HAth Others 14,492 8,803

1,030,045 1,887,862

IR B AR B B R0 2 R E 2

Individually assessed impairment allowances in
respect of the overdue advances

BB Hong Kong 51,497 52,960

A Mainland of China 368,279 546,644

Hith Others 436 1,448
420,212 601,052

REAHEREAS TG ZREES Collectively assessed impairment allowances in

respect of the overdue advances

BB Hong Kong 3,741 6,660

B A Mainland of China 3,183 6,844

Hib Others 56 20

6,980 13,524
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4. EREKRERE &)

41 ER (8)

(B) HEMREMKE (&)

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(B) Gross advances and other accounts (Cont’d)

(f) EEENEHRE () () Concentration of advances to customers (Cont’d)
(i) R EESErEFERERE (8) (i) Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers
(Cont'd)
BEDEIREER Classified or impaired advances
2015 2014
BT T BT
HK$’'000 HK$'000
B Hong Kong 131,490 151,434
R A it Mainland of China 552,753 1,101,806
Hth Others 455 1,396
684,698 1,254,636
REEDERREERE Individually assessed impairment allowances in
{8 Bl FEfE 2 BB XS respect of the classified or impaired advances
B Hong Kong 59,480 55,235
A Mainland of China 373,651 674,915
Hith Others 436 1,448
433,567 731,598
BMFED ERREERE Collectively assessed impairment allowances in
AT 2 REERE respect of the classified or impaired advances
B Hong Kong 1,043 3,524
R E R Mainland of China 1,187 1,609
2,230 5,133
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(C) Repossessed assets

During the year, the Group obtained assets by taking
possession of collateral held as security. The nature and
carrying value of these assets held as at 31 December are
summarised as follows:

2015 2014

BT BT T

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BE3ZES Commercial properties 4,251 _
Ty Industrial properties 80,250 _
FEME Residential properties 13,968 -
Hth Other — 583
98,469 583

REBM2015F12A3MBFAENKBEE 2 HBEAREE
122,509,000 (20144 : % #4,906,0007T) ° EEIEANE
EiRR RS RE RGN E (RBEEREF K
¥TERRXEEREEARARE) MEBERANEBLETSE
ek EB D RBR o

BWEIEENZERE NI ZER -
TREE

AEEBIZBERATI

~ BRREESE

- BEREREE-HIHEER

- RHEHER

The estimated market value of repossessed assets held
by the Group as at 31 December 2015 amounted to
HK$122,509,000 (2014: HK$4,906,000). The repossessed
assets comprise properties in respect of which the Group has
acquired access or control (e.g. through court proceedings or
voluntary actions by the proprietors concerned) for release in
full or in part of the obligations of the borrowers.

When the repossessed assets are not readily convertible into
cash, the Group may consider the following alternatives:

- adjusting the selling prices

- selling the loans together with the assets

- arranging loan restructuring
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(D) Balances and placements with banks and other
financial institutions

The following tables present an analysis of balances and
placements with banks and other financial institutions that
are neither overdue nor impaired as at 31 December by
rating agency designation.

2015
A3BLT

AaaZA3 Lower BT F

Aaa to A3 than A3 Unrated Total

BT T BT T BT T BT T

HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000

R ERT Central banks 16,038,647 - - 16,038,647
SRIT M E A RS Banks and other financial

institutions 23,767,541 17,650,869 3,250,385 44,668,795

39,806,188 17,650,869 3,250,385 60,707,442

2014
A3LAT

AaaZ®A3 Lower AT AR Bt

Aaa to A3 than A3 Unrated Total

BT BT BT BT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R ERTT Central banks 18,694,761 = - 18,694,761
RITREM & mgE Banks and other financial

institutions 20,208,603 20,003,535 16,963,308 57,175,446

38,903,364 20,003,535 16,963,308 75,870,207

2015612 A318 » 2 E B IS RE 2 RIT R E & gtk
BEBRKTR (20145 - £) o

As at 31 December 2015, there were no overdue or impaired
balances and placements with banks and other financial
institutions (2014: Nil).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.1 Credit risk (Cont'd)
(E) Debt securities and certificates of deposit

The following tables present an analysis of the carrying
values of debt securities and certificates of deposit by issue
rating. In the absence of such issue ratings, the ratings
designated for the issuers are reported.

2015
AT

Aa1ZAa3 A1ZEA3 Lower BTN @t

Aaa Aaf to Aa3 A1to A3 than A3 Unrated Total

BETT BETT BETT BETT BETR BETR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

A HEERS Available-for-sale securities 3,814,391 27,409,836 16,575,057 1,781,530 2,298,167 51,878,981

REZRIHRES Held-to-maturity securities 208,732 2,257,798 - - - 2,466,530

ERRELH Loans and receivables - - 585,792 = = 585,792
NFEE(GIABEZ  Finandal assets at fair value

SREE through profit or loss - 6,714,292 249,280 - - 6,963,572

4,023,123 36,381,926 17,410,129 1,781,530 2,298,167 61,894,875

2014
AR

Aa1ZEAa3 A1EA3 Lower E et

Aaa  Aal to Aa3 Al to A3 than A3 Unrated Total

BT BT ok BT BETT BT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

A ER S Available-for-sale securities 579,077 20,657,187 11,750,008 448511 4,364,791 42,399,574

HEZHHRES Held-to-maturity securities 243,450 1,759,590 615,350 = - 2,618,390

BRIk WK Loans and receivables - = 62,421 - 2,012,173 2,074,594
NFEE(LF AR 2  Financial assets at fair value

SRMEE through profit or loss 4,589,985 1,309,309 255,919 = - 6,155,213

10,012,512 23,726,086 12,683,698 448,511 6,376,964 53,247,771

M2015%12A318 - RERESEH 2 EHES R FRE As at 31 December 2015, there were no impaired or overdue

(20144 : &) -

debt securities or certificates of deposit (2014: Nil).
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4. EREKRERE &)

4.2 WHEER

miZEREERSRMEER (BX  MX - BEER B
mEfR) KBV EHEBMNINE - FIX REMBRFEEL
RBMARAASETRNER - AEERIET TS
RwLT - BIREREK S FE -

mEREREERR  EREAKENARRBEMERRIHE

REE  KETENRREERNEMEBEEETR  BRE
BESERBHARELNMSAR  REESEBKREEE

=

AEERREREECEE ARIBEET SRR  EEE
REBTHEREEZE® REBTEABMMSRARBE
B REHB £8E5  -EREEENEAEHYNSE
EEABETHREEERE  BUBERASETSARMKR
AR ERBRMBRERATER - WHEREBMER TS
BRIgERIERE R KFEA - ABRFEBN - SRRBILEMN
BERBERENRBRRBETES  YERERBARE
ASEEREARRR  BRABERRRE FHRFRSE
EREAERE - AR (PE) REBILNEAREZELK @ B
EEHNTERRIREATERL  YERARNRTRERIE
BERMME -

AEBERENHZEREZERRE - BREH - 712 B8
MEFTHRER - TERBESNRBSFEETRRER
8~ L1858 - 08 - BB ARBRIEDH (REFEE)
% - TERBEEMBREREEFTE D ROERER - 25
HELEEZES® AEREEREZEEXSEEEASH
o BEUMAERZNTSRRIESMRESEARRE
& o

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.2 Market risk

Market risk refers to the risk of loss arising from movements
in the value of foreign exchange, interest rate, equity and
commodity positions held by the Group due to the volatility
of financial market price (foreign exchange rate, interest
rate, equity price, commodity price). The Group adopts a
moderate market risk appetite to achieve a balance between
risk and return.

The Group’s objective in managing market risk is to secure
healthy growth of the treasury business, by effective
management of potential market risk in the Group’s business,
according to the Group’s overall risk appetite and strategy
of treasury business on the basis of a well-established risk
management regime and related management measures.

In accordance with the Group’s corporate governance
principles in respect of risk management, the Board and
Risk Management Committee, Senior Management and
functional units perform their duties and responsibilities
to manage the Group's market risk. The risk management
units are responsible for assisting Senior Management to
perform their day-to-day duties, independently monitoring
the market risk profile and compliance of management
policies and limits of the Group to ensure that the aggregate
and individual market risks are within acceptable levels.
Independent units are assigned to monitor the risk exposure
against risk limits on a daily basis, together with profit and
loss reports submitted to Senior Management on a regular
basis, while limit excesses should be reported at once when
they occur. NCB (China) sets up independent risk monitoring
teams to monitor daily market risk and limit compliance, and
submit management information and reports to the Bank on
a regular basis.

The Group sets up market risk indicators and limits to
identify, measure, monitor and control market risk. Major risk
indicators and limits include but are not limited to VAR, Stop
Loss, Open Position, Stress Testing and Sensitivity Analysis
(Basis Point Value). To meet management requirements,
major risk indicators and limits are classified into four levels,
and are approved by the Risk Management Committee, Asset
and Liability Management Committee or Senior Management
respectively. Treasury business units are required to conduct
their business within approved market risk indicators and
limits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
(A) VAR

The Group uses the VAR to measure and report general
market risks to the Risk Management Committee and
Senior Management on a periodic basis. The Group adopts
a uniformed VAR calculation model, using a historical
simulation approach and two years of historical market data,
to calculate the VAR of the Group and the Bank over one-
day holding period with a 99% confidence level, and sets
up the VAR limit of the Group and the Bank.

The following table sets out the VAR for all general market
risk exposure! of the Group.

R12A31R 2FREHE 2555%E 2FTH8E

Fip At Minimum for ~ Maximum for Average for
Year 31 December the year the year the year
BB BB BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2EmiS AR Z ERE VAR for all market risk 2015 939 559 1,387 861
2014 635 635 1,901 1,181
I R Bk 2 R R E VAR for foreign exchange risk 2015 714 463 1,398 820
2014 544 544 1,975 1,145
FRER 2 RBRE VAR for interest rate risk 2015 225 53 301 176
2014 274 225 883 644
af - Note:

1. TEFEIMNEAB IR O NRRE

1. Structural FX positions have been excluded.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
(A) VAR (Cont’d)

Although VAR is a valuable guide to risk, it should always be
viewed in the context of its limitations. For example:

- the use of historical market data as a proxy for
estimating future events may not encompass all
potential events, particularly those which are extreme
in nature;

- the use of a one-day holding period assumes that
all positions can be liquidated or hedged in one day.
This may not fully reflect the market risk arising at
times of severe illiquidity, when a one-day holding
period may be insufficient to liquidate or hedge all
positions fully;

- the use of a 99% confidence level, by definition, does
not take into account losses that might occur beyond
this level of confidence; and

- VAR is calculated on the basis of exposures
outstanding at the close of business and therefore
does not necessarily reflect intra-day exposures.

The Group recognises these limitations by formulating stress
test indicators and limits to assess and manage the market
risk uncovered by VAR. The stress testing programme of
the market risk includes sensitivity testing on changes in
risk factors with various degrees of severity, as well as
scenario analysis on historical events including the 1997
Asian Financial Crisis and 2008 Financial Tsunami, etc.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
(B) Currency risk

The Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in major
currencies, particularly the HK dollar, the US dollar and
Renminbi. To ensure the currency risk exposure of the Group
is kept to an acceptable level, risk limits (e.g. Position and
VAR limit) are used to serve as a monitoring tool. Moreover,
the Group seeks to minimise the gap between assets and
liabilities in the same currency. Foreign exchange contracts
(e.g. FX swaps) are usually used to manage FX risk associated
with foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities.

The following is a summary of the Group’s major foreign
currency exposures arising from trading, non-trading and
structural positions and is prepared with reference to the
completion instructions for the HKMA return of foreign
currency position.

2015
BT TEE
Equivalent in thousand of HK$
H Aty ShE R
Other Total
E AR foreign foreign
US Dollars Renminbi currencies currencies
REEZE Spot assets 62,789,261 105,966,748 14,036,470 182,792,479
HE&E Spot liabilities (56,280,126) (96,346,613) (10,103,847) (162,730,586)
REIE A Forward purchases 23,762,419 7,770,358 2,767,918 34,300,695
REEH Forward sales (28,585,949) (17,344,597) (6,688,061) (52,618,607)
KBS Net long position 1,685,605 45,896 12,480 1,743,981
SR BIFEE Net structural position 293,056 8,431,220 - 8,724,276
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
(B) Currency risk (Cont’d)

2014
BB T TEE
Equivalent in thousand of HK$
HAb s HNEE EER

Other Total

ETT AR foreign foreign

US Dollars Renminbi currencies currencies

REEE Spot assets 50,714,856 129,625,777 10,170,515 190,511,148
HEAaE Spot liabilities (49,057,989) (113,019,787)  (9,087,139) (171,164,915)
mEIE A Forward purchases 23,258,343 8,581,087 2,839,602 34,679,032
REAEH Forward sales (24,806,626) (25,023,970) (3,877,531) (53,708,127)
REHFE Net long position 108,584 163,107 45,447 317,138
EEtEERFE Net structural position 277,715 8,414,836 = 8,692,551

Q)  FEmEE

NERBEEENEKE BERBHREBERZRELE
B Al s EHRTTR B RS MEBEBEARIER - XEER
NEEBAZIZRAEBUERR - BBUERENIENX
[\ B 5B A%

- MEBFIRE : EERABENIIHAKETERRR
FIRESRIC - EMBEFNBMA ¢

—  FEEREAR  FRRSNEEEETR  SEEN
U 55550 R O A A B 4E ) — 28 2T (B SRR AT
REERE R :

- Was K ARER - HRIRERMRIFFITABE MY
FENEMARKEEEELERTE &

~  RPBEAR: mREE - AESRSNELNRES
ST RS AE R R EORE R -

(C) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk means the risks to a bank’s earnings and
economic value arising from movements in interest rate and
term structures of the bank's asset and liability positions. The
Group'’s interest rate risk exposures are mainly structural. The
major types of interest rate risk from structural positions are:

= Repricing risk: mismatches in the maturity or repricing
periods of assets and liabilities that may affect net
interest income;

- Basis risk: different pricing basis for different
transactions resulting that the yield on assets and
cost of liabilities may change by different amounts
within the same repricing period;

- Yield curve risk: non-parallel shifts in the yield curve
that may have an adverse impact on net interest
income or economic value; and

- Option risk: exercise of the options embedded in
assets, liabilities or off-balance sheet items that
can cause a change in the cash flows of assets and
liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
(C) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

The Group's risk management framework applies also to
interest rate risk management. The Asset and Liability
Management Committee exercises its oversight of interest
rate risk in accordance with the “Banking Book Interest Rate
Risk Management Policy” approved by Risk Management
Committee. Financial Management Division is responsible for
interest rate risk management. With the cooperation of the
Treasury Division, Financial Management Division assists the
Asset and Liability Management Committee to perform day-
to-day interest rate risk management. Its roles include, but
are not limited to, the formulation of management policies,
selection of methodologies, setting of risk indicators and
limits, assessment of target balance sheet, monitoring of
the compliance with policies and limits, and submission of
interest rate risk management reports to the Management
and Risk Management Committee.

The Group sets out interest rate risk indicators and limits
to identify, measure, monitor and control interest rate risk.
The indicators and limits include, but are not limited to,
repricing gap limits, basis risk, duration, price value of a basis
point (“PVBP"), net interest income sensitivity ratio (“NII"),
economic value sensitivity ratio (“EV"). The indicators and
limits are classified into three levels, which are approved
by the Risk Management Committee, Asset and Liability
Management Committee and Deputy General Manager of
Middle-office respectively. Risk-taking business units are
required to conduct their business within the boundary of
the interest rate risk limits. Before launching a new product
or business in the banking book, the relevant departments
are required to go through a risk assessment process, which
includes the assessment of underlying interest rate risk and
consideration of the adequacy of current risk monitoring
mechanism. Any material impact on interest rate risk noted
during the risk assessment process will be submitted to Risk
Management Committee for approval.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.2 Market risk (Cont'd)

(C) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

NIl and EV assess the impact of interest rate movement on
the Group’s net interest income and capital base. They are
the Group’s key interest rate risk indicators. The former
assesses the impact of interest rate movement on net interest
income as a percentage to the projected net interest income
for the year. The latter assesses the impact of interest rate
movement on economic value (i.e. the net present value of
cash flows of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items
discounted using market interest rate) as a percentage to the
latest capital base. Limits are set by the Risk Management
Committee on these two indicators to monitor and control
the Group’s banking book interest rate risk.

The Group uses scenario analyses and stress tests to assess
the banking book interest rate risk that the Group would
face under adverse circumstances. Scenario analyses and
stress tests are also used to assess the impact on net interest
income arising from the optionality of savings deposits and
the prepayment of mortgage loans.

The Group is principally exposed to HK Dollar, US Dollar and

128318 » &HB T %E&/\EMWH&Z“rﬁﬁiﬁi% Renminbi in terms of interest rate risk. As at 31 December
1001E R - EMMARTEBERT - HEBERRI12E A 8F 2015, if HK Dollar, US Dollar and Renminbi market interest
FLEBA RS EEORZRENAT rates had a 100 basis point parallel upward shift of the yield
curve in relevant currency with other variables held constant,
the sensitivities on net interest income over a twelve-month
period and on reserves for the Group would have been as
follows:
MR12A31BHRK12{/8 A
FRSWANSE
Impact on net interest
income over the next M12A31 A RENTE
twelve months Impact on reserves
at 31 December at 31 December
2015 2014 2015 2014
BET T BT T BET T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT HK Dollar 298,266 256,299 (79,004) (46,786)
EViv UsS Dollar (74,762) (32,688) (114,872) (60,416)
AR #& Renminbi (39,332) (13,535) (301,279) (324,817)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
(C) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

The overall positive impact on net interest income of the
above currencies has decreased when compared with 2014
and is mainly because of the widened short term negative
gaps in US Dollar and Renminbi. Reserves would have been
reduced because of the expected reduction in valuation of
available-for-sale securities due to a parallel shift up of 100
basis points in the yield curve. The reduction of reserves is
increased compared with 2014 because the size of available-
for-sale securities in capital market is increased.

The sensitivities above are for illustration only and are based
on several assumptions, including but not limited to the
change in the correlation between interest rates of relevant
currencies, parallel movement of interest rates, the absence
of actions that would be taken to mitigate the impact of
interest rate risk, the effectiveness of hedge accounting,
all positions being assumed to run to maturity, behavioural
assumptions of products in which actual repricing date
differs from contractual repricing date or products without
contractual maturity. The above exposures form only a part
of the Group's overall interest rate risk exposures.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.2 Market risk (Cont'd)

(C) Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

The tables below summarise the Group’s on-balance sheet
exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 December. Included in
the tables are the assets and liabilities at carrying amounts,
categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing date and
maturity date.

2015
-fBAR -Z2=fR =EZt+=fiA -Z1f RENE iR
Up to 1t03 3to 12 1t05 Over Non-interest- &3t
1 month months months years 5 years bearing Total
BETT BT BRI BETT BT BRI BETR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EE Assets
EEREREMFIR Cash and balances with banks and
EfeBBENER other financial institutions 50,565,792 - - - - 3,679,013 54,244,805
ERTREMSEEE—-Z  Placements with banks and other financial
T-EAREIHMZERER  institutions maturing between one and
twelve months - 3,157,041 3,899,744 - - - 7,056,785
AEEZ( G ARRY Financial assets at fair value through
SHEE profit or loss 1,762,994 2,479,360 2,471,938 249,280 - - 6,963,572
ITESRTA Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 696,266 696,266
ENLAMEBR Advances and other accounts 107,765,185 28,446,478 27,748,294 4,792,519 171,538 - 168,924,014
SREE Financial investments
—AftHE - Available-for-sale 8,601,020 10,455,974 14,442,944 18,494,300 356,810 4,613 52,355,661
-HEZHHA - Held-to-maturity - - 298,771 2,167,759 - - 2,466,530
- ERRERR - Loans and receivables 182,257 48,142 355,393 - - - 585,792
REME Investment properties - - - - - 414,736 414,736
nE - ENRRE Properties, plant and equipment - - - - - 7,008,020 7,008,020
EEE (DERUR Other assets (including current and
EEHBEE) deferred tax assets) 31 - - - - 43475852 4,347,883
EHERE Assets held for sale - - - - - 132,729 132,729
BESE Total assets 168,877,279 44,586,995 49,217,084 25,703,858 528,348 16,283,229 305,196,793
g Liabilities
FIREMEREEL Deposits and balances from banks and
0 other financial institutions 19,054,571 2,501,295 6,689,467 - - 2715841 30,961,174
NTERG AR Financial liabilities at fair value through
SHAR profit or loss 1,084,486 1,907,861 1,583,009 - - - 4,575356
fTAESRIEA Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 302,944 302,944
ZEHEH Deposits from customers 135,919,721 34,269,925 30,101,149 5,512,157 - 12,459,031 218,261,983
EthEREREE (AEENKIE  Other accounts and provisions (including
LEEHEEE) current and deferred tax liabilities) 1,666,422 2,713,701 6,158,633 454,913 19,427 2,961,586 13,974,682
BHEBEZHBAE Liabilities associated with assets held for sale - - - - - 21,884 21,884
aE4E Total liabilities 157,725,200 41,392,782 44,532,258 5,967,070 19,427 18,461,286 268,098,023
IR GREHRD Interest sensitivity gap 11,152,079  3,194213 4,684,826 19,736,788 508,921  (2,178,057) 37,098,770
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4. SEIERER @ 4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)
4.2 TWHE (&) 4.2 Market risk (Cont'd)
Q)  FEmEE (&) (C) Interest rate risk (Cont'd)
2014
—fAn  —%E=ff =E+=fiA —Ehf RENE THE
Upto Tto3 3t0 12 Tt05 QOver  Non-interest- &
1 month months months years 5 years bearing Total

AT RETm AR ARTr  B¥Tn BETn AR
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

EE Assets
EEBLRERBITR Cash and balances with banks and
A eRBENER other financial institutions 54,183,243 - - - - 4,099,557  58282,800

EBAREMSEEE—Z  Placements with banks and other financial
T-ERNESEZESEENR  institutions maturing between one and

twelve months - 9477006 8,703,756 - - - 18,180,762

ATEE(EHARRLZ Financial assets at fair value through

TRAE profit or loss 470,000 2,671,893 2,757,401 255,919 - - 6155213
TESRIA Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 439,072 439,072
ERREER Advances and other accounts 108,282,638 31,356,774 20,553,491 3,451,440 259,356 - 163,903,699
SREE Financial investments

— e - Available-for-sale 2375913 10,487,111 12,504,107 16,466,480 565,963 75,766 42,475,340

- AZ5HA - Held-to-maturity - - - 1,998,756 619,634 - 2,618,390

- B RERR - Loans and receivables - 620,262 1454332 - - - 2,074,5%
RENE Investment properties - - - - - 1,80271 1,280,271
mE - ERR Properties, plant and equipment - - - - - 7328497 7328497
HEWEE (REETREZE)  Other assets (including deferred tax assets) 2,208 - - - - 1,163,407 1,165,615
EESE Total assets 165,314,002 54,613,046 45,973,087 22,172,595 1,444953 14,386,570 303,904,253
=l Liabilities
FOREEREL Deposits and balances from banks and

20 other financial institutions 18,391,118 9,332,830 8,050,874 - - 1,960,789 37,735,611
AEEZ{ G ARRY Financial liabilities at fair value through

THAR profit or loss 1,978,491 873,945 2,118,257 - - - 4,970,693
fESBIA Derivative financial instruments - - - - - 278,506 278,506
REER Deposits from customers 122,791,320 36,089,981 32,061,913 9,455,287 - 9,235,434 209,633,935
HEERER (BEEN Other accounts and provisions (including

HERELHELE) current and deferred tax liabilites) 5111203 2685535 4055058 194,043 736 4343999 16,390,664
aESE Total liabilities 148,272,222 48,982,291 46,286,102 9,649,330 736 15,818,728 269,009,409

MEGEEHRD Interest sensitivity gap 17,041,780 5,630,755 (313,015) 12,523,265  1,444217  (1,432,158) 34,894,844
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.3 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that banks fail to provide sufficient
funds to grow assets or pay due obligations, and need to
bear an unacceptable loss. The Group maintains sound
liquidity risk appetite to provide stable, reliable and adequate
sources of cash to meet liquidity needs under normal
circumstances or stressed scenarios; and to survive with net
positive cumulative cash flow in extreme scenarios, without
requesting the HKMA to act as the lender of last resort.

The Group’s liquidity risk management objective is to
effectively manage the liquidity of on- and off-balance sheet
items with reasonable cost based on the liquidity risk appetite
to achieve sound operation and sustainable profitability.
Deposits from customers are the Group's primary source of
funds. To ensure stable and sufficient source of funds are in
place, the Group actively attracts new deposits, keeps the
core deposit and obtains supplementary funding from the
interbank market. According to different term maturities
and the results of funding needs estimated from stressed
scenarios, the Group adjusts its asset structure (including
loans, bonds investment, interbank placement, etc.) to
maintain sufficient liquid assets which provides adequate
funds in support of normal business needs and ensure its
ability to raise funds at a reasonable cost to serve external
claims in case of emergency. The Group is committed
to diversify the source of funds and the use of funds to
avoid excessive concentration of assets and liabilities and
prevent triggering liquidity risk due to the break of funding
strand when problem occurred in one concentrated funding
source. The Group has established intra-group liquidity risk
management guideline to manage the liquidity funding
among different entities within the Group, and to restrict
their reliance of funding on each other. The Group also pays
attention to manage liquidity risk created by off-balance
sheet activities, such as loan commitments and derivatives.
The Group has an overall liquidity risk management strategy
to cover the liquidity management of foreign currency assets
and liabilities, collateral, intra-day liquidity, intra-group
liquidity, the liquidity risk arising from other risks, etc., and
has formulated corresponding contingency plan.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

Risk Management Committee (RMC) is the decision-making
authority of liquidity risk management, and assumes the
ultimate responsibility of liquidity risk management. As
authorised by RMC, the Asset and Liability Management
Committee (ALCO) exercises its oversight of liquidity risk and
ensures the daily operations of the Group are in accordance
with risk appetite and policies as set by RMC. Financial
Management Division is responsible for overseeing the
Group's liquidity risk. It cooperates with Treasury Division to
assist the ALCO to perform liquidity management functions
according to their specific responsibilities.

The Group established liquidity risk management indicators
and limits to identify, measure, monitor and control liquidity
risk on daily basis. These indicators and limits include, but
are not limited to liquidity coverage ratio (“LCR"), loan-to-
deposit ratio, Maximum Cumulative Cash Outflow (“MCQO")
and liquidity buffer asset portfolio. The Group applies cash
flow analysis to assess the Group'’s liquidity condition under
normal conditions and also performs a liquidity stress test
(including institution specific, general market crisis and
combined crisis) at least on monthly basis to assess the
Group’s capability to withstand various severe liquidity
crises. Also, the Assets and Liabilities Management System
is developed to provide data and the preparation for regular
management reports to facilitate liquidity risk management
duties.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

In accordance with the requirements of Supervisory Policy
Manual LM-2 “Sound Systems and controls for Liquidity
Risk Management” issued by the HKMA in 2011, the Group
has implemented behaviour model and assumptions of cash
flow analysis and stress test to enhance the Group’s cash
flow analysis under both normal and stressed conditions. In
cash flow analysis under normal circumstances, assumptions
have been made relating to on-balance sheet items (such as
deposits from customers) and off-balance sheet items (such
as loan commitments). According to various characteristics of
the assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items, the Group
forecasts the future cash flow based on contractual maturity
date and the assumptions of customer behaviour and
balance sheet changes. The Group establishes MCO indicator
which predicts the future 30 day maximum cumulative
net cash outflow in normal situations based on the above
assumptions, to assess if the Group has sufficient financing
capacity to meet the cash flow gap in order to achieve
the objective of continuing operation. As at 31 December
2015, before taking the cash inflow through the sale of
outstanding marketable securities into consideration, the
Bank’s 30 day cumulative cash flow was a net cash inflow
amounting to HK$9,723,236,000 (2014: HK$4,424,474,000)
and was in compliance with the internal limit requirements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

In the liquidity stress test, institution specific, general
market crisis and combined crisis scenario has been set
up, combined crisis scenario is a combination of institution
specific and general market crisis to assess the Group's
capability to withstand a more severe liquidity crisis, with
a more stringent set of assumptions being adopted. Stress
test assumptions include the run-off rate of retail, wholesale
and interbank deposits; drawdown rate of loan commitments
and trade-related contingent liabilities; delinquency ratio and
rollover rate of customer loans; and haircut of interbank
placement and marketable securities. As at 31 December
2015, the Group was able to maintain a positive cash flow
under the three stressed scenarios, indicating the Group
has the ability to meet financing needs under stressed
conditions. In addition, the Group has a policy in place to
maintain a liquidity cushion which includes high quality
or comparable quality marketable securities issued or
guaranteed by sovereigns, central banks, public sector
entities or multilateral development banks with 0% or 20%
risk weight or marketable securities issued or guaranteed by
non-financial corporate with a corresponding external credit
rating of A- or above to ensure funding needs even under
stressed scenarios. As at 31 December 2015, the Bank’s
liquidity cushion (before haircut) was HK$29,189,795,000
(2014: HK$20,399,765,000). A contingency plan is being
established which details the conditions to trigger the plan
based on stress test results and early warning indicators, the
action plans and relevant procedures and responsibility of
various departments.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

The LCR is calculated in accordance with the Banking
(Liquidity) Rules effective from 1 January 2015, the Group,
being classified as category 1 authorised institution by the
HKMA, is required to calculate LCR on consolidated basis.
During the year of 2015, the Group is required to maintain
a LCR not less than 60%.

In certain derivative contracts, the counterparties have right
to request from the Group additional collateral if they have
concerns about the Group’s creditworthiness.

The Group's liquidity risk management also covers new
products or business developments. Before launching a new
product or business, the relevant departments are required
to go through a risk assessment process, which includes the
assessment of underlying liquidity risk and consideration of
the adequacy of the current risk management mechanism.
Any material impact on liquidity risk noted during the risk
assessment process will be reported to Risk Management
Committee for approval.

The Group has established a set of uniform liquidity
risk management policies. On the basis of the Group’s
uniform policy, the principal banking subsidiary develops
its own liquidity management policies according to its
own characteristics, and assumes its own liquidity risk
responsibility, daily
management processes independently, and reports to the

management executes its risk

Group’s Management on a regular basis.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

(A) Liquidity coverage ratio/liquidity ratio

20155 FEHER
2015 quarter ended
12A31H 9H30H 6H30H 3H31H
December 30 September 30 June 31 March
BN E LR Average value of liquidity
FHE coverage ratio 120.02% 114.10% 163.68% 123.70%

MM BEL XN TITHERERNZETENSEATERRER
MBI EEELENEN T REBRBER A EER
HWRINANFTE T ERETE ©

MEMBELREUNGEERTE - YREERTE (RD
1) RAD ARRITREEREEZMBAREX °

EFRRDUBELEXRENMAERITRARTHEE

www.ncb.com.hkd [EEEHFE | —fIEE -

The average value of liquidity coverage ratio is calculated
based on the arithmetic mean of the liquidity coverage
ratio as at the end of each working day in the quarter and
the calculation methodology and instructions set out in the
HKMA return of liquidity position.

The liquidity coverage ratio is computed on the consolidated
basis which comprises the positions of the Bank and the
subsidiaries specified by the HKMA in accordance with the
Banking (Liquidity) Rules.

The additional information of liquidity coverage ratio
disclosures is available under section “Regulatory Disclosures”
on the Bank’s website at www.ncb.com.hk.

2014

TRBE S L&

Average liquidity ratio

51.99%

FHARBDESLXIUARTEAGATFORBES L TN
HifgFHEGE

MBE S XRERE CRITRED) AEFOMRORIASEE
HE (RBEEERER) 515 -

The average liquidity ratio is calculated as the arithmetical
mean of each calendar month’s average liquidity ratio of the
Bank for the year.

The liquidity ratio is computed on the solo basis (the Hong
Kong offices only) and is in accordance with the predecessor
Fourth Schedule to the Banking Ordinance.
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4.3
(B)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

Maturity analysis

The tables below analyse the Group’s assets and liabilities
as at 31 December into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity date.

2015
—fAR -Z=fA =E+-fif -ZEF EEHNL
L Upto 1t03  3to12 1t05 Over TREAH &3t
Ondemand 1 month months ~ months years 5years Indefinite Total
BT BETr BETn  B¥Tn  B%Tn  ABTn  B¥Tr  BETx
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
EE Assets
BFRERERBIR Cash and balances with banks and
it REENES other financial institutions 13,738,576 31,379,966 - - - - 9,126,263 54,244,805
ERTREMSEEE-Z  Placements with banks and other
TZERRAE ESER  financial institutions maturing
between one and twelve months - - 3,157,041 3,899,744 - - - 1,056,785
AFEZ( G ABRZEREE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
-Ro - Held for trading
~EES - Debt securities - 1,762,994 2,479,360 2,471,938 - - - 671429
- RERNATEE - Designated at fair value through
FAE profit or loss
- EES - Debt securities - - - 2,168 247,112 - - 249,280
TESRIA Derivative financial instruments 320,134 96,765 21,483 255,610 2,274 - - 696,266
EFRAMEE Advances and other accounts
-EFER - Advances to customers 5500045 7,436,513 14,184,098 36,000,440 61,815,074 29,138,201 777,500 154,851,871
-E525 - Trade bills 7 3372536 4,090,506 6,609,094 - - - 14,072,143
SREE Financial investments
—WftHE - Available-for-sale
- BHES - Debt securities - 7295867 6,428,028 8,657,828 18,096,760 356,810 - 40,835,293
- - Certificates of deposit - 216318 1,404,198 6,404,497 3,018,675 - - 11,043,688
- Hff - Others - 472,067 - - - - - 472,067
-#EZ3HA - Held-to-maturity
- EES - Debt securities - - 1237 299330 2,165,963 - - 2,466,530
- EXRER - Loans and receivables
- EES - Debt securities - 182257 48142 355393 - - - 585792
- s — Equity securities - - - - - - 4,613 4,613
REME Investment properties - - - - - - 414736 414,736
NE  SMER Properties, plant and equipment - - - - - - 7,008,020 7,008,020
EfEE (DERKER Other assets (including current and
BERBEE) deferred tax assets) 164,183 3,936,533 13518 134,702 (7,648) - 106,595 4,347,883
BLEAE Assets held for sale - 132,729 - - - - - 132,729
EESE Total assets 19,722,945 56,284,545 31,827,611 65,090,744 85,338,210 29,495,011 17,437,727 305,196,793
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(Cont'd)
43 REBELSER (&) 4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)
(B)  FEABH (&) (B)  Maturity analysis (Cont’d)
2015
-fRk -2=fA =ZZt-fA -Z1f EENE
Ik Upto 1t03  3to12 1t05 Over TEERH @t
Ondemand 1 month months months years 5years Indefinite Total
BT BT AT BT BT B¥Tn B¥Tn B%Tn
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
8 Liabilities
BOREMERERE L Deposits and balances from banks and
ERR&EH other financial institutions 3,648,010 18,122,402 2,501,295 6,689,467 - - - 30,961,174
AFEZ{ G ABRY Financial liabilities at fair value through
SLRAR profit or loss - 1,084,486 1,907,861 1,583,009 - - - 4,575,356
fAEERIA Derivative financial instruments 103,804 76,539 29,472 73,219 19,910 - - 302,944
ERREH Deposits from customers 90,852,158 55,539,932 34,371,019 31,798,000 5,700,874 - - 218,261,983
HBEREE (B Other accounts and provisions (including
EARERELHERE)  current and deferred tax liabilities) 1,998,248 1,315,194 2,943,651 6,315,257 1,376,345 25,987 - 13,974,682
BHEEEZRBAR Liabilities associated with assets held
for sale - 21,884 - - - - - 21,884
aE4E Total liabilities 96,602,220 76,160,437 41,753,298 46,458,952 7,097,129 25,987 - 268,098,023
REEEH0 Net liquidity gap (76,879,275) (19,875,892) (9,925,687) 18,631,792 78,241,081 29,469,024 17,437,727 37,098,770
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(Cont'd)
43 REBELSER (&) 4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)
(B)  FEABH (&) (B)  Maturity analysis (Cont’d)
2014
—fAR —-Z=ff =2t-fif -ZRF EFNL
Ik Upto 1103 31012 1105 Over THEEAH &
Ondemand 1 month months months years 5years  Indefinite Total
BETL  EETT A%t A%Trn  AETr AT BT BETn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EE Assets
ERRE RERETRE Cash and balances with banks and
ik Tk other financial institutions 25,068,696 21,881,782 - - - - 11,332,322 58,282,800
ERTREMSBARE-Z  Placements with banks and other
T-EARESZESFR  financial institutions maturing
between one and twelve months - - 9,477,006 8,703,756 - - - 18,180,762
AFEE( I ANERZEREE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
-5 - Held for trading
- EhES - Debt securities - 470,000 2,671,893 2,757,401 - - - 5,899,294
- RERARTEE - Designated at fair value through
SR profit or loss
- EhES - Debt securities - - - 2,170 253,749 - - 255919
TESRIA Derivative financial instruments 352,831 18,163 18,247 46,452 3,379 - - 439,072
EFREMER Advances and other accounts
-REEH - Advances to customers 5,600,078 9,742,952 16,597,492 36,208,391 52,393,120 26,179,173 810,930 147,532,136
855k - Trade bills 32,219 4,961,240 7,500,572 3,877,532 = = - 16,371,563
LRRE Financial investments
- AftE - Available-for-sale
- EKES - Debt securities - 71,704 1,121,059 5,071,150 1,633,772 = - 7,897,685
-FaE - Certificates of deposit - 1,282,624 6,181,988 8,984,351 17,486,963 565,963 - 34,501,889
-EZHHA - Held-to-maturity
- ERES - Debt securities - - 1,415 644 1,996,697 619,634 - 2,618,390
- R REN - Loans and receivables
- ERES - Debt securities - - 620262 1454332 - - - 2,074,5%
- &S - Equity securities - - - - - - 75,766 75,766
N EVES Investment properties - - - - - - 1,280271 1,280,271
mE - B RRE Properties, plant and equipment - - - - - - 7328497 7328497
AR (REEEREESE)  Other assets (including deferred tax assets) 185,402 779,942 3,202 47394 139,094 46 10,535 1,165,615
EESE Total assets 31,239,226 39,208,407 44,193,136 67,153,573 73,906,774 27,364,816 20,838,321 303,904,253
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4. SRIERER @ 4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)
43 REBELSER (&) 4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)
(B)  FEABH (&) (B)  Maturity analysis (Cont’d)
2015
-AR -Z2=ff =Zt-fif -Zif EENL
Ik Up to 1to3 3to 12 1to5 Over TRERH @t
Ondemand 1 month months ~ months years 5years Indefinite Total
BT BETn  BMTn  B¥Tn  B%Tn  A¥Tn  A¥Tn  BMTx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
8f Liabilities
BOREMERERE L Deposits and balances from banks and
Y other financial institutions 2,649,041 17,702,866 9,332,830 8,050,874 - - - 37,735,611
NEERGABRLZ Financial liabilities at fair value through
SRAR profit or loss - 1,978,491 873,945 2,118,257 - - - 4,970,693
TEERIA Derivative financial instruments 98,057 86,204 30,223 32,269 31,753 - - 278,506
RPER Deposits from customers 75,443,820 54,407,895 35,397,115 34,231,783 10,153,322 - - 209,633,935
HBEREE (B Other accounts and provisions (including
ENREREERERE) current and deferred tax liabilities) 4,834,848 3,156,033 2,893,494 4333573 1,171,922 7% - 16,390,664
aEuE Total liabilities 83,025,766 77,331,489 48,527,607 48,766,756 11,356,997 7% - 269,009,409
RBELHD Net liquidity gap 51,786,540) (38,123,082) (4,334,471) 18,386,817 62,549,777 27,364,022 20,838,321 34,804,844

ERBBESBETIIRRERTE (WE) AR 2HBKX
MwEE - AEEHEHIEEEAZEE  fIMERKE
BEFINRAM]EE - HRETARBEROHREEZE
E REZEETERBHRZBORGFERG - HitRE]H
ZRDNEBEREBERGARDIE  BERELZXEEZEER
BRE - RIRZETRIIA [THERS] - BlFIRZEE
EREMARRERE (F) -

RS AHEBE R 2 O RERE (RITE (WE) R
A) 2 HBEGEXMED - AERBETITRRESESHHE
E b

The above maturity classifications have been prepared in
accordance with relevant provisions under the Banking
(Disclosure) Rules. The Group has reported assets such as
advances and debt securities which have been overdue
for not more than one month as “On demand”. In the
case of an asset that is repayable by different payments or
instalments, only that portion of the asset that is actually
overdue is reported as overdue. Any part of the asset that
is not due is reported according to the residual maturity
unless the repayment of the asset is in doubt in which case
the amount is reported as “Indefinite”. The above assets are
stated after deduction of provisions, if any.

The analysis of debt securities by remaining period to
maturity is disclosed in order to comply with relevant
provisions under the Banking (Disclosure) Rules. The
disclosure does not imply that the securities will be held to
maturity.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

(C)  Analysis of undiscounted cash flows by
contractual maturities

(a) Non-derivative cash flows

The tables below summarise the cash flows of the Group
as at 31 December for non-derivative financial liabilities by
remaining contractual maturity.

2015
= =2
—fEAR =fEA +=8R —ZhHf AFENE
Up to 1t03 3to 12 1t05 Over @zt
1 month months months years 5 years Total
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
SRBE Financial liabilities
PIREMERME  Deposits and balances from banks
TRkt and other financial institutions 21,779,006 2,508,618 6,731,882 = - 31,019,506
NEEE LRI AER Financial liabilities at fair value
SRAR through profit or loss 1,084,500 1,908,000 1,583,500 = - 4,576,000
BPER Deposits from customers 146,416,843 34,462,462 32,206,656 6,056,730 - 219,142,691
HinemaE Other financial liabilities 3,151,954 2,732,681 6,292,647 506,860 26,038 12,710,180
SRARAE Total financial liabilities 172,432,303 41,611,761 46,814,685 6,563,590 26,038 267,448,377
2014
-z =z
—EAR =f@A +=f@A —ZhE BERE
Up to 1103 3o 12 1t05 Over et
1 month months months years 5 years Total
BETT BT BT BT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
LRERE Financial liabilities
PIIREMSREE L,  Deposits and balances from banks
R RS and other financial institutions 20,388,137 9,396,895 8,182,134 - - 37,967,166
ANTEEE A B2z Financial liabilities at fair value
Ea )=l through profit or loss 1,978,500 874,000 2,119,000 = - 4,971,500
RPN Deposits from customers 129,885,722 35,519,941 34,833,788 11,008,039 - 211,247,490
HibSRAkE Other financial liabilities 7,636,441 2,688,501 4,078,030 194,912 794 14,598,678
tRABAE Total financial liabilities 159,888,800 48,479,337 49,212,952 11,202,951 794 268,784,834
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Cont'd)

4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

(C)  Analysis of undiscounted cash flows by
contractual maturities (Cont’d)

(b) Derivative cash flows

The tables below summarise the cash flows of the Group
by remaining contractual maturity as at 31 December for
derivative financial liabilities that will be settled on a net
basis, together with all derivative financial instruments that
will be settled on a gross basis regardless of whether the
contract is in an asset or liability position. The amounts
disclosed in the tables are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows, except for certain derivatives which are disclosed at
fair value.

The Group’s derivative financial instruments that will be
settled on a net basis mainly include interest rate swaps

R HY o whereas derivative financial instruments that will be settled
on a gross basis mainly include currency forwards and
currency swaps.

2015
=2 =z
—BAR =f@A +=8R —-ZhE AFENE
Up to 1t03 3to 12 1t05 Over @zt
1 month months months years 5 years Total
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETR BET T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RFEEEEE Derivative financial liabilities
TEERAR settled on a net basis (104,510) (2,043) (17,962) (8,160) - (132,675)
RmEE Y Derivative financial instruments
fTESRMIA settled on a gross basis
BRA Total inflow 22,039,048 7,838,682 13,446,442 75,357 - 43,399,529
Fe: bl Total outflow (22,024,752)  (7,850,203) (13,357,472) (75,249) - (43,307,676)
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4. SRIEBERE (@) 4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)
43 REBELSER (&) 4.3 Liquidity risk (Cont'd)
(C) HEEXNIEH AR ZARTHEE R (&) (C)  Analysis of undiscounted cash flows by
contractual maturities (Cont’d)
(b) PTAETRZHEE 7w (& (b)  Derivative cash flows (Cont'd)
2014
-z =%
—fEAR =fEA +=f@A —Z8F AFUE
Up to 1103 30 12 1105 Over Bt
1 month months months years 5 years Total

ARTT  BRTT  AETn BBt ARt BBTR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

REFERERLE Y Derivative financial liabilities
TESRAE settled on a net basis (100,241) (9,011) (25,332) (15,614) = (150,198)
R Derivative financial instruments
fTEEMIA settled on a gross basis
BRA Total inflow 20,417,338 6,924,041 11,252,454 834,845 - 39,428,678
oot Total outflow (20,719,023)  (6,952,942) (11,370,225) (834,202) - (39,876,392)
(c) BEEEEIIEE (© Off-balance sheet items
B HRIE Loan commitments

HBAEER20155 12831 BHEE AL TEE T RE M The contractual amounts of the Group's off-balance sheet
MEYEINGTTE - HA 4S5 AES6 38051900070 financial instruments as at 31 December 2015 that the Group

(20144 : ¥ #74 498 453,0007T) + I B AL TR — commits to extend credit to customers and other facilities
4 RIZER o totalled HK$86,380,519,000 (2014: HK$74,498,453,000).

Those loan commitments can be drawn within one year.

B IER R B SR E Financial guarantees and other financial facilities

RE@MN2015F12 8318 2 M BEERR M ERE S Financial guarantees and other financial facilities of the

5T)  HE|EIE DR —E o (2014: HK$38,415,882,000) are maturing no later than one

year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.4 Capital management

The major objective of the Group's capital management is
to maximise total shareholders’ return while maintaining a
capital adequacy position in relation to the Group’s overall
risk profile. The ALCO periodically reviews the Group’s capital
structure and adjusts the capital mix where appropriate to
maintain an optimal balance among risk, return and capital
adequacy.

The Group has developed and maintained a sound framework
of policies and controls on capital management to support
the development of the Group’s business and to meet the
statutory capital adequacy ratio. The ALCO monitors the
Group’s capital adequacy. The Group has complied with
all the statutory capital requirements of the HKMA for the
reported periods in respect of banking operation as further
elaborated below.

The Group has adopted the foundation internal ratings-
based (“FIRB”) approach to calculate the credit risk capital
charge for the majority of its non-securitisation exposures
and the internal ratings-based (securitisation) approach to
calculate the credit risk capital charge for its securitisation
exposures. A small residual credit exposures are remained
under the standardised (credit risk) (“STC") approach.
The Group has adopted the standardised credit valuation
adjustment (“CVA") method to calculate the capital charge
for the CVA risk of the counterparty.

The Group continues to adopt the internal models (“IMM")
approach to calculate the general market risk capital charge
for foreign exchange and interest rate exposures and, with
the approval from the HKMA, exclude its structural FX
positions arising from overseas branches and NCB(China) in
the calculation of the market risk capital charge. The Group
continues to adopt the standardised (market risk) (“STM")
approach to calculate the market risk capital charge for the
remaining exposures.

The Group continues to adopt standardised (operational risk)
("STO") approach to calculate the operational risk capital
charge.
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4. EREKRERE &)

4.4 EBXREE ()

AEBR0ISFEBEHXANTEARATEHHEFTUFTE R
EREEHRTM EEEEREF] ANEX - REERY
FE-TEMIED  AHEAT BT ERFEZAUTEES
—SHTRERERTD RENEARRTEOEIINER -
RMBEAEBRELBRE-—BREALE  HE—RER
R EREBERLLR - FE - AEBIR AT E AR R
**T@ﬁ@ﬁ NS HEBERTEREEERNEGBE

c AEBRAEBARBEARRTHREFE—ERENELE
ﬁthI HESSNEERBALNEHERRIZEE
AEEEARLERE -

’*’*/\/\

oy AEBESFERIEFEERRE  HEEAEETEZS
CERREZEFTOME - ERARBINLEMRE - BRREEK

RRimELs - ERFR EREREZEEFHHEATRG
MEE  KMBARKRERFTREREARR - REEERE
HHREFNERATREMERERNEAHEE  REEBERE R
FER  DREEARTEENREFE -

AERETIRE (R1TX (BAR) RAI) BAERTT
> EREEZHB AR - e EETE - Al
%ﬁ%/%ﬁé%% B HAREBEHRN [k —

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.4 Capital management (Cont'd)

The Group has continued to adopt an internal capital
adequacy assessment process (“ICAAP”) to comply with
the HKMA's requirements in the Supervisory Policy Manual
“Supervisory Review Process” in 2015. Based on the HKMA's
guidelines on Pillar I, ICAAP has been initiated to assess
the extra capital needed to cover the material risks not
captured or not adequately captured under Pillar I, and
therefore minimum Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio,
minimum Tier 1 capital ratio and minimum Total capital
ratio are determined. Meanwhile, operating ranges for the
aforementioned capital ratios have also been established
which enable the flexibility for future business growth and
efficiency of capital utilisation. The Group considers this
ICAAP as an on-going process for capital management and
periodically reviews and adjusts its capital structure where
appropriate in relation to the overall risk profile.

In addition, the capital plan of the Group is drawn up
annually and then submitted to the Board for approval after
endorsement of the ALCO. The plan is built up by assessing
the implications of various factors upon capital adequacy
such as the business strategies,
appetite, credit rating, as well as regulatory requirements.

return on equity, risk

Hence, the future capital requirement is determined and
capital sources are identified also. The plan is to ensure the
Group maintains adequate capital and appropriate capital
structure which align with its business development needs,
thereby achieving an optimal balance among risk, return and
capital adequacy.

(A)

Basis of regulatory consolidation

The consolidation basis for regulatory purposes comprises
the positions of the Bank and certain subsidiaries specified
by the HKMA in accordance with the Banking (Capital) Rules.
For accounting purposes, subsidiaries are consolidated in
accordance with HKFRSs and the list of subsidiaries is set
out in “Appendix — Subsidiaries of the Bank"”.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.4 Capital management (Cont'd)
(A) Basis of regulatory consolidation (Cont’d)

The particulars of subsidiaries which are included within the
accounting scope of consolidation but not included within
the regulatory scope of consolidation are as follows:

2015 2014
EERR EXAE BEE B
Total assets Total equity  Total assets  Total equity

BT BT BETT BETT

£z Name HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MF R ERITER Nanyang Commercial Bank Trustee
BIRAF] Limited 16,355 16,246 16,295 16,186
BEFEREERAR AT Kwong Li Nam Investment Agency
Limited 4,248 4,026 4,481 4,027
R ERIT (KEA) Nanyang Commercial Bank
BRAF] (Nominees) Limited 1,472 1,472 1,477 1,477

AEMBABMEREBER (M — ARITZMBRF] -

M2015F12A31H * TEITAHBAR R BREEEERT
RAEE - MABEREESTEGEHEE (2014F « ) -

R2015%12 8318 » MEEMHBARRKESEESE
AIMEE R EAR A BEMERNEE&ZE A (20145F : &) -

The principal activities of the above subsidiaries are set out
in “Appendix — Subsidiaries of the Bank”.

There were no subsidiaries which are included within the
regulatory scope of consolidation but not included within
the accounting scope of consolidation as at 31 December
2015 (2014: Nil).

Neither were there any subsidiaries which are included
within both the accounting scope of consolidation and the
regulatory scope of consolidation where the methods of
consolidation differ as at 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).
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4. THEREE (@) 4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.4 EBXEE () 4.4 Capital management (Cont'd)
(B) EEHE (B) Capital ratio

2015 2014
R REARL R CET1 capital ratio 16.20% 14.17%
—RERL X Tier 1 capital ratio 16.20% 14.17%
BE AR E Total capital ratio 18.41% 16.53%
FRETE A FERE R MFHENGESERERDITOT ¢ The consolidated capital base after deductions used in the

calculation of the above capital ratios is analysed as follows:

2015 2014
BT T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
TRBRE—RERN  EREMEE CET1 capital: instruments and reserves
HEEBITHNA AR T BIRE Directly issued qualifying CET1 capital
—RENER instruments 3,144,517 3,144,517
1REE i A Retained earnings 25,495,966 | 22,764,425
EIRENEE Disclosed reserves 8,451,135 8,978,910
BEE IR 2 AT H) R AR E — &N CET1 capital before regulatory deductions 37,091,618 | 34,887,852
TRRE—RER | EEHR CET1 capital: regulatory deductions
HERAE Valuation adjustments (8,617) (3,465)
BHIBIEERIE & ERIRIERIEERE Deferred tax assets net of deferred tax liabilities (5,962) (152,171)
RATEEGHENEAERRSH Gains and losses due to changes in own credit
ERRREBTEEMEZ risk on fair valued liabilities (537) (877)
At R EEY) (BEBARIEERR) Cumulative fair value gains arising from the
EITEAEEMELER revaluation of land and buildings (own-use and
ERAFEERKRE investment properties) (6,190,605)| (6,919,824)
—RRIBTTEE R R EEE G Regulatory reserve for general banking risks (2,255,673)| (2,173,590)
ST AR — A B AN R BS B 1R 4258 Total regulatory deductions to CET1 capital (8,461,394) | (9,249,927)
LTBRE—RER CET1 capital 28,630,224 25,637,925
—RE A Tier 1 capital 28,630,224 25,637,925
ZRER  EEREES Tier 2 capital: instruments and provisions
BERTA_RERE Collective impairment allowances and regulatory
SRRERBER reserve for general banking risks eligible for
—RRIRIT RS LB R inclusion in Tier 2 capital 1,109,458 1,153,326
EEMR 2 AT —RE AR Tier 2 capital before regulatory deductions 1,109,458 1,153,326
ZRER  EEEHR Tier 2 capital: regulatory deductions
nEE &R AZRERE Add back of cumulative fair value gains arising
A+ REEY (BEAR from the revaluation of land and buildings
LERR) EITEBEEMM (own-use and investment properties) eligible for
EXNREAFEARKE inclusion in Tier 2 capital 2,785,772 3,113,921
oG ERNE SR AR Total regulatory deductions to Tier 2 capital 2,785,772 3,113,921
BN Tier 2 capital 3,895,230 4,267,247
HERKR Total capital 32,525,454 | 29,905,172
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Cont'd)

4.4 Capital management (Cont'd)

(B) Capital ratio (Cont’d)

The capital conservation buffer ratio, higher loss absorbency
ratio, countercyclical capital buffer ratio (“CCyB ratio”) and
the applicable JCCyB ratios for Hong Kong and non-Hong
Kong jurisdictions for 2015 are 0% in accordance with the
Banking (Capital) Rules.

The additional information of capital disclosures is available
under section “Regulatory Disclosures” on the Bank's

website at www.ncb.com.hk.

(C) Leverage ratio

2015

BET T

HK$000

—RE NN Tier 1 capital 28,630,224
TEAS b R R B A R Leverage ratio exposure 339,678,093
AR b & Leverage ratio 8.43%

A RIER L R E R 7T AR AT R AR IRT TAY BEwww.ncb.com.hk
BB —ERIE -

The additional information of leverage ratio disclosures is
available under section “Regulatory Disclosures” on the
Bank’s website at www.ncb.com.hk.
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5. BEENEENAFTE
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5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, “Fair value
measurement”. The categorisation are determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation methods and based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole:

- Level 1: based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This
category includes debt instruments issued by certain
governments and certain exchange-traded derivative
contracts.

- Level 2: based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly. This category includes majority of the OTC
derivative contracts, debt securities and certificates
of deposit with quote from pricing services vendors.
It also includes precious metals and properties with
insignificant adjustments made to observable market
inputs.

- Level 3: based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable. This category
includes equity investment and debt instruments
with significant unobservable components. It also
includes properties with significant adjustments made
to observable market inputs.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.



www.ncb.com.hk

#17% %% 4645 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2015 ANNUAL REPORT i

5. BEMBEEBHNLATRE ®
51 LAFENENSEBIA

REBEEY T RENRFEERREFHRE - A FEBEA
BYRAARNZEGIEVEEIRE - SEHNELARBIX
BERRER < HEGRREARTFEEER - Rt EZEFITE
FERZEABENMGHEZH ERAEZEFREEREE
e

B EOA N DB TS IR (BN - A B — L (A A
R/ RS2 HERET SRIANATE -

HRAEEMSENSRTA  HEERNEANEZ2H
BREEFER M EX - BSRERES - KB X5
HFEENZEREME - TERAREARTISE R MERY

2 -

RUABEATERT AR FENBEDENAT

BT AR F#7E

HETANAFEARSZHN - XIAEINEB L AERSH
RIS RERCEABRBSRER I IRE © B
RS REEE—EANBRARKRRER - A— B RBRT
5 ERBURBO TAMBEESEZ 2 MR XL HEZHT
EMARENBERN - EL2HEMS LATBELHA#H
KR TABENTSBIEEE -

BAFE R AR MY RE

Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair
value

The Group has an established governance structure and
controls framework to ensure that fair values are either
determined or validated by control units independent of
the front offices. Control units have overall responsibility for
independent verification of valuation results from front line
businesses and all other significant fair value measurements.
Specific controls include verification of observable pricing
inputs. Significant valuation issues are reported to the
Management.

The Group uses valuation techniques or broker/dealer
guotations to determine the fair value of financial instruments
when unable to obtain the open market quotation in active
markets.

The main parameters used in valuation techniques for
financial instruments held by the Group include bond prices,
interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity and stock
prices, volatilities, counterparty credit spreads and others,
which are mostly observable and obtainable from open
market.

The technique used to calculate the fair value of the
following financial instruments is as below:

Debt instruments and certificates of deposit

The fair value of these instruments is determined by
obtaining quoted market prices from exchange, dealer or
independent pricing service vendors or using discounted
cash flow technique. Discounted cash flow model is a
valuation technique that measures present value using
estimated expected future cash flows from the instruments
and then discounts these flows using a discount rate or
discount margin that reflects the credit spreads required by
the market for instruments with similar risk. These inputs
are observable or can be corroborated by observable or
unobservable market data.
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5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair
value (Cont'd)

Derivatives

OTC derivative contracts include forward, swap and option
contracts on foreign exchange, interest rate, equity or
commodity. The fair values of these contracts are mainly
measured using valuation techniques such as discounted
cash flow models and option pricing models. The inputs
can be observable or unobservable market data. Observable
inputs include interest rate, foreign exchange rates, equity
and stock prices, commodity prices and volatilities.

Credit valuation adjustments (“CVA”) and debit valuation
adjustments (“DVA”) are applied to the Group’s OTC
derivatives. These adjustments reflect market factors
movement, expectations of counterparty creditworthiness
and the Group’s own credit spread respectively. They are
mainly determined for each counterparty and are dependent
on expected future values of exposures, default probabilities
and recovery rates.
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5. BEMBEEBHNLATRE ® 5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

51 UAFEFENSEIA (B) 5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair

(A)  RFEAZ

value (Cont'd)

(A)  Fair value hierarchy

2015
F-EBR EER E=BH @gt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

BT BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

SREE

A EZ T ABREZ
cREE (Mizk20)

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 20)

—RHMEE - Trading assets
— B HE S — Debt securities - 6,714,292 - 6,714,292
— RERUATER - Financial assets designated at
ABRCZEREE fair value through profit or loss
— BIEES — Debt securities - 249,280 - 249,280
$THES BT E (Ff5E21)  Derivative financial instruments (Note 21) 320,134 376,132 - 696,266
AL EcmEE Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 24)
(PfsE24)
— EBESREFRE — Debt securities and certificates of deposit| 2,814,257 49,064,724 - 51,878,981
— RrESH — Equity securities - - 4,613 4,613
— Hfh — Others - = 472,067 472,067
EA =R Financial liabilities

A EZ(CFFABRZ
SR8 E (KiFE28)
—RBHEEE

PTESRTE (FsE21)

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (Note 28)
— Trading liabilities - 4,575,356 - 4,575,356
Derivative financial instruments (Note 21) 103,804 199,140 - 302,944
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5. EBEEMNEENATE W 5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)
51 WUAFEFENSETIE (&) 5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair
value (Cont'd)
(A)  RFEER (F) (A)  Fair value hierarchy (Cont'd)
2014
E—ER E_BR FZBH FERY
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BETT BT BT BEFT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
SHEE Financial assets
NEERABREZ Financial assets at fair value through
cEEE (Mz20) profit or loss (Note 20)
—RHGHEE — Trading assets
— B 5 — Debt securities - 5,899,294 - 5899,294
— REAUATFERL - Financial assets designated at fair value
SFABTZZEemEE through profit or loss
— (BT E 2 — Debt securities - 255,919 - 255,919
$THES BT A (Mf3521)  Derivative financial instruments (Note 21) 352,831 86,237 4 439,072
AIHHESREE Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 24)
(FFzE24)
— B EF RIFRE — Debt securities and certificates of deposit - 42,399,574 - 42,399,574
— B FESH — Equity securities - - 75,766 75,766
tEEs Financial liabilities
AFEZ (L ABZ 2 Financial liabilities at fair value through
i aE (MzE28) profit or loss (Note 28)
- RSHaE — Trading liabilities - 4,970,693 - 4,970,693
TSI A ([3E21)  Derivative financial instruments (Note 21) 98,057 180,421 28 278,506

AEBZeREERBBEBNFRNELEE —ERARE_ER There were no financial asset and liability transfers between

2 EMER (20144 : &) -

level 1 and level 2 for the Group during the year (2014: Nil).
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5. EENEENATYE @ 5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)
51 UAFEFENSEIA (B) 5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair
value (Cont'd)
(B) FE=[EHKEELZE (B)  Reconciliation of level 3 items
2015
tREE

Financial assets
TEEMIA AHHESHEE
(F5) Available-for-sale

Derivative financial assets
Financial B %
Instruments Equity Hity
(net) securities Others

BT T BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

720151 /81H At 1 January 2015 4 75,766 -
& Gains

— Hih 2 mE I — Other comprehensive income

—AHEERFZ AT EZ L — Change in fair value of available-for-sale securities = 11,679 =

B A Purchases - - 472,067
] Sales - (82,832) -
@wE Settlements (4 = =
R2015412A318 At 31 December 2015 - 4613 472,067
20154128318 AM4ER  Total unrealised gains for the year included

EERFRET AlzE=RA in income statement for financial assets

RER W= B5E held as at 31 December 2015 = = =
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5. EENEEBNAYE @
51 UAFEENERMIAE (B

(B) FE=/[ERAEEZE (&)

5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair
value (Cont'd)

(B) Reconciliation of level 3 items (Cont’d)

2014
Financial assets
fTESRMIA AHNESHEE
(%) Available-for-sale
Derivative financial assets
Financial FHE B EH
Instruments  Certificates Equity
(net) of deposit securities
BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
K2014F1 818 At 1 January 2014 - 2,136,848 63,965
& Gains
— SR — Income statement 4 = =
— H 2 mEas — Other comprehensive income
— A ERF 2 ATEE L — Change in fair value of available-for-sale
securities - 660 11,801
B Sales - (2,057,390) =
#HHEZER Transfer out of level 3 = (80,118) =
R2014%F12H31H At 31 December 2014 4 - 75,766
M20144%12 831 B AME R Total unrealised gains for the year included
EERFANFTARZ KA in income statement for financial assets
BERKEREE held as at 31 December 2014 4 _ _

M2015F12 A31H K2014F12 8318 D BEAFE=EHHN
SMTEFBAEHRTE  FTREMIELTIRKE -

BN BAFE=EENEXERBETEEERZN20145F
EFEHE-ER HRXLERPUEBEB TR  ARERX
SHFRAE  ERAFENFETRRATHEEELESAN
TENTHUBE2Y ARAEERELERTAENES
ZEf - ARECREYAAREARENEFEREES I ES
BT AMMO

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, financial instruments
categorised as level 3 are mainly comprised of debt
instruments, certificates of deposit and unlisted equity
shares.

Certificates of deposit were transferred out of level 3 in the
year of 2014 due to improvement of valuation observability.
For certain illiquid debt instruments, the Group obtains
valuation quotations from counterparties which may be
based on unobservable inputs with significant impact on the
valuation. Therefore, these instruments have been classified
by the Group as level 3. The Group has established internal
control procedures to control the Group’s exposure to such
financial instruments.
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(B) FE=/[ERAEEZE (&)

ELETAEHERENAFEDSEAHEBEN EHARZ
FHHE AR EE  ERAAEAHERANAR - AR
HEEFEET ATERBARAZAILREHLERE
EFEGELERABR SRELENCEEEFEER R
D5% - AIARSEE M2 AEIG I, 5B #231,000
JC (20144F : &#3,788,0007T) °

52 FULXFEFENEMIA

AFERAE-RBERHREAMSEN R TRERTAZ
BRIRFRE o LT 2 TERBRRERERBERERARES
BEMTIAZAFE-

I RIRITREM 2 BB ZHRE 5 E5

Ao zeMEERABRNEERR —FARE - EikmE

BEAFERE

EFEH

REH 2 EFEHRTBHF =
HERATFERE -

RIS EERGFENE - AR

BAFE R AR MY RE

Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair
value (Cont'd)

(B) Reconciliation of level 3 items (Cont’d)

The fair values of unlisted available-for-sale equity shares are
determined with reference to multiples of comparable listed
companies, such as average of the price/earning ratios of
comparables, or net asset value, if appropriate comparables
are not available. The fair value is positively correlated to
the price/earning ratios of appropriate comparables or net
asset values. Had the net asset value of the underlying equity
investments increased/decreased by 5%, the Group’s other
comprehensive income would have increased/decreased by
HK$231,000 (2014: HK$3,788,000).

5.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair
value

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time
based on relevant market information and information
about various financial instruments. The following methods
and assumptions have been used to estimate the fair value
of each class of financial instrument as far as practicable.

Balances with/from banks and other financial
institutions and trade bills

Substantially all the financial assets and liabilities mature
within one year from the balance sheet date and their
carrying value approximates fair value.

Advances to customers

Substantially all the advances to customers are on floating
rate terms, bear interest at prevailing market interest rates
and their carrying value approximates fair value.
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5. EENEEBNAYE @

52 FULAFEFENERMIA

(&)
FEEEH A #ES

REZIBERFZRAFEEEREMES 1ARRFHEFE
EVERS T A RIFRERA ZIEER -

ERREWR 2 A FEEE LN ESARARFEAENE
BILARGRERAZTEMER -

BEEH

AR EPERABREERR —FAIE - HEREESRR
FEEE -

5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

5.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair
value (Cont'd)

Held-to-maturity securities

The fair value of held-to-maturity securities is determined
by using the same approach as those debt instruments and
certificates of deposit measured at fair value as described
in Note 5.1.

Loans and receivables

The fair value of loans and receivables is determined by using
the same approach as those debt instruments and certificates
of deposit measured at fair value as described in Note 5.1.

Deposits from customers

Substantially all the deposits from customers mature within
one year from the balance sheet date and their carrying
value approximates fair value.
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(&)
BRA EEREEREAFEREN SR T AN
FEFENERTAZKREENATE -

NRBIEAR

B R AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

5.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair
value (Cont'd)

The following tables set out the carrying values and fair
values of the financial instruments not measured at fair
value, except for the above with their carrying values being
approximation of fair values.

2015 2014
REE BREE
Carrying AFE Carrying NE
value Fair value value Fair value
BT T BT T BT BT
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
EWMEE Financial assets
BEZRIEARS Held-to-maturity securities
(F$3E24) (Note 24) 2,466,530 2,557,828 2,618,390 2,668,585
B R EYGR (HfFE24)  Loans and receivables (Note 24) 585,792 586,376 | 2,074,594 2,072,809

TRINFERBEERFENER TR Z RFESR -

The following tables show the fair value hierarchy for
financial instruments with fair values disclosed.

2015
E-ER EZER BB @st
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BETR BETR BETR BETR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
cTREE Financial assets
BFEEEHRAES Held-to-maturity securities - 2,557,828 = 2,557,828
B E MR Loans and receivables - 586,376 - 586,376
2014
F—ER FER E=ER fEr
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
CREE Financial assets
BEZEIHAES Held-to-maturity securities = 2,668,585 = 2,668,585
B R ERGK Loans and receivables = 2,072,809 = 2,072,809
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5. BEMBEEBNLAFE®
53 LUATFEFENESEIA

AREBE G ER TR RS REREEHEBIA
AT -

AEEZMFRADREENKERFE - IBAKEZEREY
ERFEECNFEETEMN - AEABIFIIEMME —X
FEHAHNGEREXRBERARQRET  HEFEBEER
BMBEEEREXGENEXERERZAR  YHEMKEY
ErRitR kBB LRERR - ERERBFFRRFERE
76 AEBEEEEERAEMWREEDE  BERR
HEER - METENFRLBANRE -

FE_EBRAFEFEFRANGELARAE

WABRE_BRZMENATE  NHR2EALBRYE R
HHERRE (MSLBE) (2 EMBHERERNME (K
ABAE) BHALEBEMER BRI EDE 2HANZREL
EERE - W EHERRBLEERTEY TEREATE

AEBZMEDURBRERAM 2 TBHRT - KRR RE R
FMBERNYETS - AILBYEZHER  THESRER
LR —RBAELFMH EREEKFERERFE -

5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

5.3 Non-financial instruments measured at
fair value

The Group uses valuation techniques or quoted market prices
in active market to determine the fair value of non-financial
instruments.

Investment properties and premises

The Group’s properties can be divided into investment
properties and premises. All of the Group’s investment
properties and premises were revalued as at year end.
The valuations were carried out by an independent firm
of chartered surveyors, Savills Valuation and Professional
Services Limited, who have among their staff Fellow and
Members of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent
experience in the locations and categories of properties
being valued. The Group’s Management had discussions
with the surveyors on the valuation methods, valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is
performed at each interim and annual reporting date. There
has been no change in valuation methods during the year.

Valuation methods and inputs used in Level 2 fair value
measurements

The fair value of properties classified as Level 2 is determined
using either the market comparison approach by reference
to recent sales price of comparable properties or the income
capitalisation approach by reference to market rent and
capitalisation rate, with appropriate adjustments to reflect
the differences between the comparable properties and the
subject properties. These adjustments are considered as
insignificant to the entire measurement.

The Group’s properties are located in Hong Kong and
major cities in the PRC where the property markets are
considered active and transparent. Sales price, market rent
and capitalisation rate of comparable properties are generally
observable either directly or indirectly in these markets.
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REWYFEREE (&)
BHE=ER L TFEFEHEF

BOERE=ZEBRNAKEMRZ A FEHRATSLBOX
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

5.3 Non-financial instruments measured at
fair value (Cont'd)

Investment properties and premises (Cont’d)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of all of the Group’s properties classified as
Level 3 is determined using either the market comparison
approach or the income capitalisation approach, adjusted
for a premium or a discount specific to the features of the
Group's properties compared to the comparable properties.

The valuation methods and significant unobservable inputs
used in the fair value measurement of the Group’s properties
classified as Level 3 are as follows:

TUBEREZAAFENEE
BERFABEERZR MEES Relationship of
HEA % Significant Weighted unobservable inputs
Valuation method unobservable inputs average to fair value
Hitn 5 L BUASK WMERE A LB -8% wEMS  AFEES -
WAERZE W& E2wE/(F7E) (2014: -12%) EYS  AEERE -

Market comparison
approach or income
capitalisation approach

Other properties

MERBALRYEEEE E2REGE) H2ERRA
HEMEETRARENEZR - fIMRREBRZTHEE -
g EEN BRKR R BB EE - HREMETE -

BELE

BB A TERRERTSHRERBE TRHENTSHRE

Premium/(discount) on features
of the property compared to
comparable properties

The higher the premium,
the higher the fair value.

The higher the discount,
the lower the fair value.

Premium/(discount) on features of a property is determined
after taken into account various factors, such as time for
market movement, location, accessibility, building age/
condition, floor level, size, layout, with reference to the
differences in features with comparable properties.

Precious metals

The fair values of precious metals are determined by
obtaining quoted market prices in active market or market
quote with certain adjustments.
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5. EENEEBNAYE @

53 LAVEFENFERTIA (&)

(A)  RFEAZ

5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND

LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

5.3 Non-financial instruments measured at
fair value (Cont'd)

(A)  Fair value hierarchy

2015
E—BR E_EBR E=EBR @gt
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BETT BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
*ERMEE Non-financial assets
wEME (KizE25) Investment properties (Note 25) = - 414,736 414,736
Y - =2 M RIE Properties, plant and equipment
(Mi7E26) (Note 26)
—BE — Premises - 310,266 6,462,986 6,773,252
HiEE (FMzE27) Other assets (Note 27)
—E%8 — Precious metals - 53,393 - 53,393
2014
F—ER F_ER FZER FoE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
*ERMEE Non-financial assets
wEME (KizE25) Investment properties (Note 25) - = 1,280,271 1,280,271
Y - =2 M RIE Properties, plant and equipment
(Mi7E26) (Note 26)
—BE — Premises - 213,970 6,821,340 7,035,310
HiEE (MzE27) Other assets (Note 27)
—BEeB — Precious metals = 11,691 = 11,691

REBZIFEREERFRNRAFE - ERRE_BRZHEDN

w5 (20144 : |) o

There were no non-financial asset transfers between level 1
and level 2 for the Group during the year (2014: Nil).
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5. EEMAGENLQFE @ 5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)
53 MUATEFENEEEMIA (8) 5.3 Non-financial instruments measured at
fair value (Cont'd)
(B) HE=ERAEEZE (B)  Reconciliation of level 3 items
2015
FERMEE
Non-financial assets
Y~ /M
kEE
Properties,
plant and
equipment
Investment BE
properties Premises
BET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
720151 H51H At 1 January 2015 1,280,271 6,821,340
& Gains
— & — Income statement
—REMEATERAE — Net gain from fair value adjustments on
F S investment properties 35,446 -
— BEHEEZF R — Net gain from revaluation of premises = 2,321
— Hi 2 EEs — Other comprehensive income
—REEMG — Revaluation of premises - 353,940
e Depreciation - (123,176)
HE Additions 2,903 26,099
e Sales (901,200) (376,178)
BHE =R Transfer out of level 3 = (217,000)
EX ] Reclassification (1,498) 1,498
PE =58 Exchange difference (1,186) (25,858)
R2015412A318 At 31 December 2015 414,736 6,462,986
2015512831 B# A0 ES R Total unrealised gains for the year included in
BERFANTFTARERORER income statement for non-financial assets held
Wastagm as at 31 December 2015
—REVEATEARZ FNE - Net gain from fair value adjustments on
investment properties 35,446 -
— BEFEZFRE — Net gain from revaluation of premises = 2,321
35,446 2,321
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5. EEMAGENQFE @ 5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)
53 LUATEENFESHMIE (8) 5.3 Non-financial instruments measured at
fair value (Cont'd)
(B) FE=ERHIEEZEE (&) (B)  Reconciliation of level 3 items (Cont'd)
2014
FERMEE
Non-financial assets
M - 2B’
Nkt
Properties,
plant and
equipment
B
Investment BE
properties Premises
BT TT BT TT
HK$'000 HK$’000
20141818 At 1 January 2014 1,147,938 4,677,510
& Gains
— R — Income statement
—REMEATERARZ — Net gain from fair value adjustments on
U AR investment properties 126,896 =
—EEYE  SMEREZ - Net gain from revaluation of properties,
R AR plant and equipment = 2,033
— Hi 2 E — Other comprehensive income
— EBEE — Revaluation of premises - 336,325
e Depreciation = (65,649)
HE Additions 821 28,906
BAE=ER Transfer into level 3 30,000 1,830,099
EFHHR Reclassification (24,085) 24,085
VE X =58 Exchange difference (1,299) (11,969)
R2014%F12H31H At 31 December 2014 1,280,271 6,821,340
R2014F12 A31BHEARIEEEL  Total unrealised gains for the year included in
BEERFANFTARZRKA income statement for non-financial assets held
BRI A5 as at 31 December 2014
—REMENTEFAL 2 F WK — Net gain from fair value adjustments on
investment properties 126,896 -
— EEFEEFWE — Net gain from revaluation of premises = 2,033

126,896 2,033
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BAMBHE=BANMEDRZSREEMEAEEAT L
BMEEEE L2 EE (B RERNHRZLMEIR -
MEEZHE/FE) DEURARBEHENE LR
ALBMEEMELNER - IRBFREEPTHERZ
ALEYERETRAR - REEVERTHLRYEELEE
LB/ GE) HESFEMEL  KmEUTHRRN
MSRARMETZHABZEANETNERE 2R - 5IBWERK
BARBHE=E& -

B R AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

5.3 Non-financial instruments measured at
fair value (Cont'd)

(B) Reconciliation of level 3 items (Cont’d)

The transfer of properties into and out of level 3 is due
to change in the premium/(discount) on features applied
between the subject and comparable properties during the
year. Premium/(discount) on features is determined with
reference to differences in features between the subject
properties and the comparable properties recently transacted
in the market. As comparable properties that come from
recent market transactions may be different in each year, the
premium/(discount) on features applied between the subject
and comparable properties would change from year to year
accordingly. As a result, the significance of adjustments
made to observable market inputs may vary and lead to the
transfer of properties into and out of level 3.
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6. FHNEUWA

6. NET INTEREST INCOME

2015 2014
BET T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FIE WA Interest income
THARXREMS EERNZIE  Due from banks and other financial institutions 1,956,071 2,961,173
EFEXR Advances to customers 5,343,647 5,630,733
FHERENRAFEE (LT AEBZEZ  Investment in securities and financial assets
TREE at fair value through profit or loss 1,429,710 1,410,300
Hh Others 17,056 35,034
8,746,484 10,037,240
FMEEZH Interest expense
B 2 & E & R TT A 5R0E Due to banks and other financial institutions (711,066)| (1,027,085)
BEER Deposits from customers (3,024,093)| (3,527,257)
HAth Others (291,175) (292,849)
(4,026,334) (4,847,191)
FEREWA Net interest income 4,720,150 5,190,049

HZE2015F12A31B EFEZ2F BRABEH R E B
EE A ESF B U A %1,150,0000T (20144 : B
211,0007T) °

FUAFEE ARG 2 CREERSRABEBEMEL
BAMBERARFMESZE (RFTEHHREE) DRl ABE
8,730,926,0007T (20144 : & #10,014,009,0007T) K& &
#4,024,530,0007T (20144 : #¥4,842,420,0007T) °

Included within interest income is HK$1,150,000 (2014:
HK$211,000) of interest with respect to income accrued
on advances classified as impaired for the year ended 31
December 2015.

Included within interest income and interest expense
are HK$8,730,926,000 (2014: HK$10,014,009,000) and
HK$4,024,530,000 (2014: HK$4,842,420,000), before
hedging effect, for financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not recognised at fair value through profit or loss
respectively.
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7. FERBEBERASWA 7. NET FEE AND COMMISSION
INCOME
2015 2014
BET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BREERASKRA Fee and commission income
B Securities brokerage 298,548 213,931
ExfAe Loan commissions 288,530 298,396
=4 Bills commissions 198,530 235,620
HE D Funds distribution 162,948 159,240
1R B Insurance 145,102 117,692
ZRARER Credit card business 109,915 64,026
AR Payment services 65,442 69,222
REE Safe deposit box 26,005 23,218
Bt ML E RTS Trust and custody services 7,689 7,825
BEEEK Currency exchange 555 543
Hh Others 143,263 143,252
1,446,527 1,332,965
BREEBERAESSH Fee and commission expense
ERRES Credit card business (11,336) (3,743)
HAEEL Securities brokerage (40,636) (30,154)
SRR TS Payment services (22) (236)
{RE2 Insurance (144) (892)
Hih Others (37,439) (43,214)
(89,577) (78,239)
FREERASKRA Net fee and commission income 1,356,950 1,254,726
HEhRAE Of which arise from
— SEARTFEZ LG AtEs - financial assets or financial liabilities not
ZEMEENCRAR at fair value through profit or loss
— R ERASKWA — Fee and commission income 268,307 261,207
—REERASSH — Fee and commission expense (3,800) (7,317)
264,507 253,890
—EREREMZEES — trust and other fiduciary activities
— REERASWA — Fee and commission income 19,897 19,593
—RisEMMASS H — Fee and commission expense (1,208) (1,207)
18,689 18,386
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8. EFEXFMW

8. NET TRADING GAIN

2015 2014
BET T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
T (E51R) RE Net gain/(loss) from

— HNER B RIMNER FE @ — foreign exchange and foreign exchange products 37,696 (32,236)
—RMERTA — interest rate instruments 17,171 44,835
— B — commodities (666) (3,783)
— RiptEsm — equity (42) 42
54,159 8,858

9. Hitt&mMEEZZENE 9. NET GAIN ON OTHER FINANCIAL

ASSETS

2015 2014
BET T R IT
HK$'000 HK$'000
A EFE S 2 F Net gain on available-for-sale securities 256,051 93,642
ER M EWE 2 F RS Net gain on loans and receivables 839 =
Hth Others 79,531 28,888
336,421 122,530
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10. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2015 2014
BET T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000

BAHIEERSMA Dividend income from investment in securities
—ELEMBEHKRE — Unlisted investments 7,236 9,345
REYHE 2B BIA Gross rental income from investment properties 31,843 49,846
o BREREYE I Less: Outgoings in respect of investment properties (3,208) (3,063)
HAh, Others 6,537 14,680
42,408 70,808

[BERREMEZIL | BREERRHHERENE Z HERE
S BB #212,0007T (20144 - 5834,0007T) °

[REWE RSB BEFARARELE%446,0007T
(20144 : B#454,0007T) °

11. BEEETRE

Included in the “Outgoings in respect of investment
properties” is HK$212,000 (2014: HK$34,000) of direct
operating expenses related to investment properties that
were not let during the year.

Contingent rent included in the “Gross rental income from
investment properties” amounted to HK$446,000 (2014:
HK$454,000).

11. NET CHARGE OF IMPAIRMENT

ALLOWANCES
2015 2014
BET T BT T
HK$’000 HK$000
EFEX Advances to customers
(ERIRRES Individually assessed
— IR ERE — New allowances (1,050,285) (848,826)
— B m — Releases 256,042 23,909
— Y e B s AR TR — Recoveries 19,453 5,984
R AE B ET (4 B RO B 2 EF B Net charge of individually assessed loan
impairment allowances (774,790) (818,933)
HE T Collectively assessed
— HTIRERE — New allowances (90,957) (163,900)
— B — Releases 231,987 78,348
— Y [E B s ER TR — Recoveries 785 191
BAS T EERREESF Net reversal/(charge) of collectively assessed loan
Bm () impairment allowances 141,815 (85,361)
B IURE SR RS Net charge of loan impairment allowances (632,975) (904,294)
Hith Others (349) =
HEEEFRE Net charge of impairment allowances (633,324) (904,294)
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12. &KB&EXH

12. OPERATING EXPENSES

2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
ASZER (BEESEH:) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
— S REMER — Salaries and other costs 1,151,425 1,092,159
— R — Pension cost 255,149 143,334
1,406,574 1,235,493
EERZHESH (TEENE) Premises and equipment expenses
(excluding depreciation)
—FEHS - Rental of premises 256,906 253,337
— BB — Information technology 169,431 172,342
— HAh — Others 57,699 53,176
484,036 478,855
e Depreciation 222,817 224,768
% EREM BN & Auditor’s remuneration
— B ARTS — Audit services 6,195 6,044
— FEBF RS — Non-audit services 219 294
Hib & Other operating expenses 512,321 552,135
2,632,162 2,497,589
13. REVEHE LFEAEZFRE 13. NET GAIN FROM DISPOSAL OF/
FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS ON
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$’'000 HK$'000
HEREME 2 Filkes Net gain from disposal of investment properties 85,600 =
WEMFERNTEAR 2 F = Net gain from fair value adjustments on investment
properties 35,446 129,896
121,046 129,896
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BEMRREZFEWR 14. NET GAIN/(LOSS) FROM DISPOSAL/

=/ (F#8) REVALUATION OF PROPERTIES,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2015 2014
BT T T IT
HK$’000 HK$'000
HEREZFWRE Net gain from disposal of premises 17,468 _
HERE - BEREkER2 Net loss from disposal of equipment, fixtures and fittings
FIEE (543) (2,380)
EHEEZFWE Net gain from revaluation of premises 2,321 2,033
19,246 (347)
15. BIE 15. TAXATION
WEs R A2 FIBAR T Taxation in the income statement represents:
2015 2014
BT T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
AREATEIE Current tax
BBMEH Hong Kong profits tax
— FEREAFE — Current year taxation 446,508 435,114
— [ FEBEE R — Over-provision in prior years (5,168) (5,293)
441,340 429,821
NI IR Overseas taxation
— FREFAFIE — Current year taxation 59,758 230,721
— A (8%), /T REE — (Over)/under-provision in prior years (5,193) 3,747
495,905 664,289
EREFL IR Deferred tax
TR EE s EERER R Origination and reversal of temporary differences
REAFIEERR and unused tax credits (14,170) (49,109)
481,735 615,180
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15. BiE @)

15. TAXATION (Cont'd)

BN G TR BN F E Ah 5 E R B s R K E16.5% Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
(20144 : 16.5%) R # o B INGE T 2 B IRBAF (5t 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
ERTUR MR AL B L EEBAERR 2RITHEE - arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxation on overseas

profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable
profits for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

REBBRBA G EENERTIE - BREESNEH R The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation that

HOBEEZENT ¢ differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the taxation rate of Hong Kong is as follows:
2015 2014
BET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
R % AT V4 Profit before taxation 3,378,512 3,366,679
=K 16.5% (20144F : 16.5%)  Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5%

TEMNFIIR (2014: 16.5%) 557,454 555,502
HEMERHREENZE Effect of different taxation rates in other countries 28,680 23,610
ER R ZWA Income not subject to taxation (88,297) (55,470)
G LA 2 B Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 48,460 52,662
RIERN RIS EE Tax losses not recognised 1 1
FREFRERNTHIEEE Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (9) (14)
FFEBREEE Over-provision in prior years (10,361) (1,546)
BINEIRRL Foreign withholding tax (54,193) 40,435
st AFIE Taxation charge 481,735 615,180
BRI = Effective tax rate 14.26% 18.27%
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16. RE 16. DIVIDENDS
2015 2014
BR #zE % 4 EE
Per share Total Per share Total
B BET T NVotetd BT T
HK$ HK$'000 HK$ HK$'000
Fh EARR B Interim dividends 77.5 542,500 100 700,000

R2015F6 8118 ' EF2E KT BHRESRE AR B
77.57C © #2%8 A7 ¥542,500,0007T ¢ I 2 R201556 A30
BXfT e

17. BRIREFRIEAR
(a) BEMHE

AEEGETAKREETNRERFGE TR RE CREERIF
) #e 2 BEENRGFE RPREBE S RESFE - RE
BEREAGE  BEAABERKTE ZEARFASEER
He25% MEXZEARSRREREEARAAF Z5%E15%
T (BTREZREEH) - BEARNERNK - RATRARK
ERAHEKIEERBEEMIOFHIALFBR TEE100% 2
BEHRFK - REMIFEIFMBT - AEMRE MK ILER
Hi (BN EREFR AN - ATHER30% E90% Z B T - &
BWEmmMEEHK - AR CRVIMERTESF BRG] AR -

BEE (BB L 1551 M2000F 1281 BB NEBE IR A
FIRRBE SR ESFE - ZFTEZ XA AT RBEIREE
RBETERAT  REEERABRREABREERHEES
BEHERAR - WWREAREYANRITZBBEAL -

#HZE2015F 12318 - £k 4)7E%887,0007T (20144 :
#9745 %699,0007T) 2 R W 1E - B ERIRET & 2 H®HK
48 FE #) 578 #639,917,0007T (20144 : 4975 #38,204,000
) MASEEMABSHAE 2 ERBBNNBBE
8,184,0007T (20144 : #)7#%6,950,0007T) °

On 11 June 2015, the Board declared an interim dividend of
HK$77.5 per ordinary share amounting to HK$542,500,000,
which was paid on 30 June 2015.

17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS
(a) Defined contribution schemes

Defined contribution schemes for the Group’s employees are
ORSO schemes exempted under the MPF Schemes Ordinance
and the BOC-Prudential Easy Choice MPF Scheme. Under
the ORSO schemes, employees make monthly contributions
to the ORSO schemes equal to 5% of their basic salaries,
while the employer makes monthly contributions equal
to 5% to 15% of the employees’ monthly basic salaries,
depending on years of service. The employees are entitled
to receive 100% of the employer’s contributions upon
retirement, early retirement or termination of employment
after completing 10 years of service. Employees with 3 to
9 years of service are entitled to receive the employer’s
contributions at a scale ranging from 30% to 90% upon
termination of employment for other reasons other than
summary dismissal. All employer’s contributions received by
employee are subject to MPF Schemes Ordinance.

With the implementation of the MPF Schemes Ordinance on
1 December 2000, the Group also participates in the BOC-
Prudential Easy Choice MPF Scheme, of which the trustee
is BOCI-Prudential Trustee and the investment manager is
BOCI-Prudential Manager, which are related parties of the
Bank.

The Group's total contributions made to the ORSO schemes
for the year ended 31 December 2015 amounting to
approximately HK$39,917,000 (2014: approximately
HK$38,204,000), after a deduction of forfeited contributions
of approximately HK$887,000 (2014: approximately
HK$699,000). For the MPF Scheme, the Group contributed
approximately HK$8,184,000 (2014: approximately
HK$6,950,000) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

167



168

#17% %% 4645 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2015 ANNUAL REPORT i

www.ncb.com.hk

BRI AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

17. EBHERERIKE @)
(b) BREFZHE

AEBRET - BEIFFEESHRENRBANFETAEE
BRARET - E%+8 T EIEBZERABENEREREZE
B BERMREMERARER o

AEFEIHME T X ER MRS T 2 st A e R ZRR -

REMN@EBMAEREZ&H— RBERENR2015F12A

3NANTRE R RN EMEEGEEE -

EABERRMERZ TZRERKMOT ¢

17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Cont'd)
(b) Defined benefit schemes

The Group operates an unfunded defined benefit plan for
all its retired employees. Under the plan, the employees are
entitled to retirement benefits which included fully redeemed
medical care, housing allowance and other retirement
benefits.

The plan is exposed to interest rate risk and the risk of
changes in the life expectancy for pensioners.

The most recent actuarial valuations of the present value
of the defined benefit obligations were carried out at 31
December 2015 by using the projected unit credit actuarial
valuation method.

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

2015

Pri R Discount rate (%) 2
FEHREE B (R B IR R (%) Expected rate of medical insurance cost increases (%) 6
FEERE G R SR B ISR R (%) Expected rate of social entertainment cost increases (%) 0
TEERRAE S A S IE R % (%) Expected rate of retirement souvenir cost increases (%) 0
BRI R R (%) Expected rate of rental increases (%) 3
T8 HABEBE R (%) Expected rate of withdrawal (%) 3-18
TEEASE T X Expected death rate EBAOLESGE
Hong Kong

Life Tables 2012
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(b) BEFZEHE (8
EARRE KRG T BREHET REESTOT -

B R AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

17.
(b)

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions
as at the end of the reporting period is shown below:

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Cont'd)

Defined benefit schemes (Cont'd)

HREF =R FE Rz &

F e 2 18 AAEZEm

/G OB

Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) (decrease)

Lt =3 AN in defined L= A in defined

Increase benefit Decrease benefit

in rate obligations in rate obligations

BT T BT T

% HK$'000 % HK$'000

Prig = Discount rate 0.1 (2,010) 0.1 2,070
TR ERM AL IERE Expected rate of medical

insurance cost 0.5 10,540 0.5 (9,140)

ERgRESTRBREBEARIZRR A EEHHEITHRE
Mz RFAE 2 -

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based
on a method that extrapolates the impact on defined
benefit obligations as a result of reasonable changes in key
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period.

EEAWEE AR ZIMERTIT The total expenses recognised in the consolidated income
statement in respect of the plan is as follows:

2015

BT T

HK$'000

Hl) AR R AN Recognised in pension cost 102,330

BHaE Benefit liability 102,330
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17. BAEREBEFRAE @)
(b) BEFZHE (2
REE R EAE BIER R BHRE LT -

17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Cont'd)
(b) Defined benefit schemes (Cont’d)

Expected payment to the defined benefit plan in future years
are as follows:

2015

BETT

HK$’'000

RER121E A LAR Within the next 12 months 2,550
2 FE55 Between 2 and 5 years 10,620
SEZE 106 Between 5 and 10 years 15,230
10 A L Over 10 years 216,660
TEH AR Total expected payments 245,060

FUEM @M AREERS MR FIHAR20F -

18. EE - SEEBEAEBRTEAEME

(a) E=HE

RERFASBRARTEERARTREEMBRRRMEZ
R e RERUCRK 2 MEFIBMT

The average duration of the defined benefit obligations at
the end of the reporting period is 20 years.

18. DIRECTORS’, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S AND KEY
PERSONNEL’'S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

Details of the emoluments paid to or receivable by the
directors of the Bank in respect of their services rendered for
the Bank and managing the subsidiaries within the Group
during the year are as follows:

2015 2014

BT T BT T

HK$'000 HK$'000

e Fees 1,184 2,674
HE < Other emoluments 9,119 8,516
10,303 11,190
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(b)

BeERBEHZCG-5 (RENFMIEIES)  AEELE

(&)

CGHSTEREBAERTEAERNTN
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18.

(b)

DIRECTORS’, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT'S AND KEY
PERSONNEL’'S EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd)

Remuneration for Senior Management
and Key Personnel under CG-5

Pursuant to CG-5 Guideline on a Sound Remuneration

System issued by the HKMA, details of the remuneration for
Senior Management and Key Personnel of the Group during

the year are as follows:

(i) RE R T HIE N (i) Remuneration awarded during the year
2015
BREEAR TEAE
Senior Management Key Personnel
FFIRTE FFRE
Non- EE Mgt Non- EE @st
deferred  Deferred Total deferred Deferred Total
BT BETT EETr #BE¥ETrz BBtz BETx
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
(& 7E 7 A Fixed remuneration
e Cash 10,688 - 10,688 6,107 - 6,107
TFENET B Variable remuneration
Be Cash 4,391 838 5,229 2,171 - 2,171
15,079 838 15,917 8,278 - 8,278
2014
SMEBAER FEAB
Senior Management Key Personnel
JEEAE JERTE
Non- BT et Non- BT FeE
deferred Deferred Total deferred Deferred Total
BETT  A%Tr BT A%t A%Tr A%t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
[&] & 357 B Fixed remuneration
Re Cash 10,336 - 10,336 6,766 - 6,766
% B 7 B Variable remuneration
Rne Cash 4,147 542 4,689 2,142 - 2,142
14,483 542 15,025 8,908 - 8,908

A £ %M 845 (20145 : 4%) B R EE A B K545

(20144 : 58%) EE A8 -

The remuneration above includes 4 (2014: 4) members

of Senior Management and 5 (2014: 5) members of Key

Personnel.
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18. EEX -EEEBEAEBRIEAEMSE 18. DIRECTORS’, SENIOR
(&) MANAGEMENT’'S AND KEY
PERSONNEL'S EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd)
(b) CGS5TEREEAERTEAENETMH (b) Remuneration for Senior Management
(&) and Key Personnel under CG-5 (Cont'd)
(i)  EAEFH (ii)  Deferred remuneration
2015 2014
BREEAE BHREEAS
Senior FEAE Senior FEAE
Management Key Personnel  Management Key Personnel
B¥TT B¥TT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT E A Deferred remuneration
EEE Vested 521 - 430 =
SE Unvested 1,377 = 1,060 =
1,898 - 1,490 -
»1A1H At 1 January 1,060 = 948 =
BEEF Awarded 838 - 542 =
BRIk Paid out (521) - (430) =
FEIRERTEMAEES  Reduced through performance
adjustments - - - -
MW12A31H At 31 December 1,377 - 1,060 -

?ﬁi&%ﬁﬁ%_ RO RENEREEABREIBZABTIRIE

B R (RENFHMFIEZIEDD) EX -

SREEAR  EEERENRMAEEAER ARA
BEBRABERT  BRETRERREGLE -
TEAR  AARKESP REARRAE - SRR
REFEAYE  JEABRBEHRAREEREFER E

TE FHBNEERYENAR  BEEKRFN
REBRANEMLTE BeRTIERRBRERIE
=

For the purpose of disclosure, Senior Management and Key
Personnel mentioned in this section are defined according
to the HKMA's Guideline on a Sound Remuneration System.

Senior Management: The senior executives designated
by the Board who are responsible for oversight of
the firm-wide strategy or material business lines,
including Chief Executive and Deputy General
Managers.

Key Personnel:
business activities involve the assumption of material
risk which may have significant impact on risk
exposure, or whose individual responsibilities are
directly and materially linked to the risk management,
or those who have direct influence to the profit,
including heads of material business lines, Head

The employees whose individual

of Treasury, as well as Head of Risk Management
Department.
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19. EFRERFHEBETREMESHMEEN 19. CASH AND BALANCES WITH

o3 BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
INSTITUTIONS

2015 2014

BET T BT TT

HK$’000 HK$'000

EFES Cash 594,148 593,355

FIRP RERTTR A5 65 Balances with central banks 16,038,647 | 18,694,761

TFIERTT R B fth & BUAR R AY 45 6R Balances with banks and other financial institutions 6,232,044 | 17,112,902
ERITREMESRHEE—EAA Placements with banks and other financial institutions

E|H 2 7E HRTF AR maturing within one month 31,379,966 | 21,881,782

54,244,805 58,282,800

20. AFESLITABRZERMEE 20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
RERUAFERL
STABRZERMEE
Financial assets
REUEE designated at fair value Fo
Trading assets through profit or loss Total
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

BETT AERTT EB%Tx  B¥%TT  B¥Tr  BETx
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

BAYETIR
B%
HERES

At fair value
Treasury bills 6,714,292 | 5,899,294 - - | 6,714,292 | 5,899,294
Other debt securities - - 249,280 255,919 249,280 255,919

6,714,292 | 5,899,294 249,280 255,919 | 6,963,572 | 6,155,213
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20. AEERLFTABRZZEHMEE ®)

BB Tz S|

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Cont'd)

Total securities are analysed by place of listing as follows:

RERADFHERL
FTABBZEREE
Financial assets
RIMEE designated at fair value
Trading assets through profit or loss
2015 2014 2015 2014
BETT BT BET T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RBES Debt securities

—REE LT — Listed in Hong Kong - - 249,280 255,919
— 3k kT — Unlisted 6,714,292 5,899,294 - -
BHLREE Total securities 6,714,292 5,899,294 249,280 255,919

BRRBRRBETHBZORNT

Total securities are analysed by type of issuer as follows:

REAUATESRL
FTABBZEREE
Financial assets
RIMEE designated at fair value
Trading assets through profit or loss

2015 2014 2015 2014
BET T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEhERE Sovereigns 6,714,292 5,899,294 - =
NEIE Corporate entities - - 249,280 255,919
BHLRTE Total securities 6,714,292 5,899,294 249,280 255,919
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AREBTZLTIEER MX  makkOESHBNITES
BMTASNIEFEENRERERZM

ERERRENARE - AREREINEHEGE -

B NMEREBRHMREZGTRRS R KD R
e EHNAERERB ARG - FX (MEE N X EBE F)
M) RELE (MAREY) AU EWAEAS (WRXE
BHhxie) - BRALEERREOIN  ZEXHEFIM

HNE - AIE - BB RN ESHIERESENET (HE
) REH (FAET) REERRE—RFEBPRRRR—ER
HAZOENEREE (RESE) EBEL (Ra8E) — ¢
BENSH T ANERN (MEEARE) O—=iHH - ZEDI
BEAMMEE R - BENE S EBET R —ENHEE - K
SEMEANERYEF T ESIMNREKTE R FTET
(WRRBFETREE 2 Hi) -

BAFE R AR MY RE

Notes to the Financial Statements

21. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group enters into the following exchange rate, interest
rate, commodity and equity related derivative financial
instrument contracts for trading and risk management
purposes:

Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase and
sell foreign currency on a future date.

Currency, interest rate and precious metal swaps are
commitments to exchange one set of cash flows or
commodity for another. Swaps result in an exchange of
currencies, interest rates (for example, fixed rate for floating
rate), or precious metals (for example, silver swaps) or a
combination of all these (for example, cross-currency interest
rate swaps). Except for certain currency swap contracts, no
exchange of principal takes place.

Foreign currency, interest rate, precious metal and equity
options are contractual agreements under which the seller
(writer) grants the purchaser (holder) the right, but not the
obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a put option)
at or by a set date or during a set period, a specific amount
of the financial instrument at a predetermined price. In
consideration for the assumption of foreign exchange and
interest rate risk, the seller receives a premium from the
purchaser. Options are negotiated over-the-counter between
the Group and its counterparty or traded through the stock
exchange (for example, exchange-traded stock option).
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21. {TEE€®MIHE %

AEEZTESRTIAAYN BREEREATEFINT

ARTKZR58 METeMIAZAN LHREED
RET - AREERBRAMBERNATFEEEXRENY
LEERE - (B2 - EXWPRERPATS RAARKRIR SR E AT
DFHE - At EE R RS B P E R A S BERR TSR
%o BEEETESHM T AR OGFEMRNES - mHH=X -
BEeBERIBNERERNKE  TEERTANMGER
RELEN (BE) A (BB WFE  BUPERE
TRHEABRANKE

AEBETHIMEERRINTIEANERREFER -
SEEFTFPRRAEMSRBVITEERR ZHFERELAR
SESERRREERRERE

TEEMMVERNERRITHRNNXER  RAEEEIEZ
EntGELHENTEERDTETRS  c ANTEEMR S
EENRERAEREBEARBES - LHFTRZH&EH
ReBRUTEEMRHURCENBRNELS - ETHE

# mHAE BEREE-

21. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

The contract/notional amounts and fair values of derivative
financial instruments held by the Group are set out in the
following tables. The contract/notional amounts of these
instruments indicate the volume of transactions outstanding
at the balance sheet dates and certain of them provide a
basis for comparison with fair value instruments recognised
on the balance sheet. However, they do not necessarily
indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved or the
current fair values of the instruments and, therefore, do not
indicate the Group’s exposure to credit or market risks. The
derivative financial instruments become favourable (assets) or
unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in foreign
exchange rates, market interest rates, metal prices or equity
prices relative to their terms. The aggregate fair values of
derivative financial instruments can fluctuate significantly
from time to time.

The Group trades OTC derivative products mainly for
customer business. The Group strictly follows risk
management policies and requirement in providing derivative
products to our customers and in trading of derivative
products in the interbank market.

Derivatives are also used to manage the interest rate risk of
the banking book. A derivative instrument must be included
in the approved product list before any transactions for
that instrument can be made. There are limits to control
the notional amount of exposure arising from derivative
transactions, and the maximum tenor of the deal is set.
Every derivative transaction must be input into the relevant
system for settlement, mark-to-market revaluation, reporting
and control.
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INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

Notes to the Financial Statements

The following tables summarise the contract/notional

amounts of each class of derivative financial instrument as

at 31 December:

2015
AREHEH
Hweastt
Not qualified
EE for hedge ‘st
Trading accounting Total
BETR BETR BETR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EREH4 Exchange rate contracts
BIHA R B4R Spot and forwards 8,420,500 - 8,420,500
2 HA Swaps 37,601,988 - 37,601,988
HINGE 23 5 B A Foreign currency options
— B AHi#E — Options purchased 9,135 - 9,135
— B [ HAE — Options written 9,135 - 9,135
46,040,758 - 46,040,758
i ESSED) Interest rate contracts
2 HA Swaps 33,758,773 231,725 33,990,498
SEREE) Commodity contracts 26,438 = 26,438
79,825,969 231,725 80,057,694
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21.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

2014
THARA
HReHE
Not qualified
BE for hedge #at
Trading accounting Total
BT BETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EERL4) Exchange rate contracts
BIVHA }% 3= B Spot and forwards 13,828,777 - 13,828,777
=5 Swaps 28,700,798 - 28,700,798
HNEE 32 5 B Foreign currency options
— B AR — Options purchased 5,994 = 5,994
— B 1 HitE — Options written 5,994 - 5,994
42,541,563 - 42,541,563
FIEEL Interest rate contracts
= 8 Swaps 24,589,557 231,885 24,821,442
B H Commodity contracts 684,545 = 684,545
&0 HE e & 40 Equity contracts 260,297 = 260,297
68,075,962 231,885 68,307,847

THREAEHEAE e : . AEBCGRITE (BE) RA)E Not qualified for hedge accounting: derivative contracts

ko BBUBRBINARAENGIHEER  BEEEUR
FERESKRGRARNSRITA - HERNTETASL -

which do not qualify as hedges for accounting purposes but
are managed in conjunction with the financial instruments

designated at fair value through profit or loss are separately

disclosed in compliance with the requirements set out in the

Banking (Disclosure) Rules.
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21. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

The following tables summarise the fair values of each class
of derivative financial instrument as at 31 December:

2015
AVEEEE ATEERE
Fair value assets Fair value liabilities
REEHA REEHA
Hwartt et
Not Not
qualified qualified
EE for hedge @t EE for hedge Bt
Trading accounting Total Trading accounting Total
BT BETT EETr #BE¥ETrz BBtz BETx
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
[EREH Exchange rate contracts
BNHER K B Spot and forwards 373,801 - 373,801 (207,309) - (207,309)
12 5 Swaps 311,226 - 311,226  (65,690) - (65,690)
HNDE 32 5 B Foreign currency options
— B AR — Options purchased 15 - 15 = = =
— B — Options written = = - (15) - (15)
685,042 - 685,042 (273,014) - (273,014)
F=EH Interest rate contracts
= B Swaps 11,135 = 11,135 (12,296) (17,516) (29,812)
[SEREED) Commodity contracts 89 = 89 (118) = (118)
696,266 - 696,266 (285,428) (17,516) (302,944)
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21. PTEE®IA @) 21. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)
2014
NEEE NFEEE
Fair value assets Fair value liabilities
PREHA IMIEERA
Hhess Hhess
Not Not
qualified qualified
BE  for hedge FeE BE  for hedge FeE
Trading accounting Total Trading accounting Total
AETT AT BT A%Tr  A%Tr A%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
fERAH Exchange rate contracts
BN HEA K 2= B Spot and forwards 359,880 - 359,880 (115,016) - (115,016)
=5 Swaps 44,500 - 44,500 (102,497) ~ (102,497)
NEREZ - Foreign currency options
— B A — Options purchased 79 _ 79 _ _ _
— BB — Options written - - - (79) _ (79)
404,459 - 404,459 (217,592) - (217,592)
FEEH Interest rate contracts
2 HA Swaps 17,412 - 17,412 (26,445) (25,222) (51,667)
Ema 4 Commodity contracts 17,064 = 17,064 (9,152) = (9,152)
RS 4 Equity contracts 137 - 137 (95) - (95)
439,072 - 439,072 (253,284) (25,222) (278,506)
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21. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)

The table below gives the credit risk-weighted amounts of
the derivative financial instruments and is prepared with
reference to the completion instructions for the HKMA
return of capital adequacy ratio.

2015 2014
BET T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
PE =5 4 Exchange rate contracts
= HA Forwards 60,422 118,792
2 HA Swaps 190,122 74,363
HNE ZZ 5 B AE Foreign currency options
— B AH3#E — Options purchased 23 61
250,567 193,216
FEEH Interest rate contracts
2 HA Swaps 10,111 19,156
R ERE L Equity contracts = 8,273
260,678 220,645

EERBRMERBEERE (RITE (BX) RAD FTHE - 1H
BEARZZHFZ2BERARSEAN BRI -

AEEHENEEFHLEEMZEANTER SN T EERE
/478 #190,872,0007T (20144 : 7 #48,045,0007T) © A
MR R A E HiE AR A5 119,879,000 (20144
75116,832,0007T) °

The credit risk-weighted amounts are calculated in
accordance with the Banking (Capital) Rules. The amounts
are dependent upon the status of the counterparty and the
maturity characteristics of each type of contract.

The total fair values of derivatives subject to valid
bilateral netting agreements for the Group amounted
to HK$190,872,000 (2014: HK$48,045,000) and the
effect of valid bilateral netting agreements amounted to
HK$19,879,000 (2014: HK$16,832,000).
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22. EXRKRHEHMERE

22. ADVANCES AND OTHER

ACCOUNTS

2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BAAER Personal loans and advances 34,515,588 | 31,455,884
NEIE=X Corporate loans and advances 121,721,186 | 118,046,372
XEER Advances to customers 156,236,774 | 149,502,256

BEFOREZERE (K15E23) Loan impairment allowances (Note 23)
— R AR E — Individually assessed (433,567) (731,598)
— A EFHE — Collectively assessed (951,336)| (1,238,522)
154,851,871 | 147,532,136
BE5EE Trade bills 14,072,143 16,371,563
168,924,014 | 163,903,699

MR2015F12A31H REFEERBREF B B K
396,489,0007T (20144 : #%367,805,0007T) °

M2015F12A831H - REHEZEBELHERBREER

(20144 : 48) o

As at 31 December

HK$367,805,000).

2015, advances to customers

made in respect of trade bills (2014: Nil).

included accrued interest of HK$396,489,000 (2014:

As at 31 December 2015, no impairment allowance was
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23. LOAN IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES

2015
218 BTG
Individually assessed
fBA NG @t
Personal Corporate Total
BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
720151 H41H At 1 January 2015 17,298 714,300 731,598
R =R EE Charged to income statement 16,063 758,727 774,790
FAMH 2 R EIE K Loans written off during the year
as uncollectible (14,983) (1,015,305) (1,030,288)
e m 2 4 85 AR IR Recoveries 1,762 17,691 19,453
7 2R R (B 221 [ Unwind of discount on impairment
allowances - (1,150) (1,150)
[EH =% Exchange difference (1,973) (58,863) (60,836)
72015 12H31H At 31 December 2015 18,167 415,400 433,567
2015
BAS T
Collectively assessed
fBA N ‘st
Personal Corporate Total
BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
K2015F1 818 At 1 January 2015 98,864 1,139,658 1,238,522
RS R (BI#) Charged/(credited) to income statement 90,172 (231,987) (141,815)
FMEE 2 KU EI E R Loans written off during the year
as uncollectible (117,742) - (117,742)
g [8] 2 Hf £ BR 18 Recoveries 785 - 785
[EH =% Exchange difference (8,114) (20,300) (28,414)
201512 A31H At 31 December 2015 63,965 887,371 951,336
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23. EFUREXEE ») 23. LOAN IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES
(Cont'd)
2014
SR AR

Individually assessed

{EPN NG| fEr
Personal Corporate Total
BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
K2014%F1 818 At 1 January 2014 13,199 267,714 280,913
R ZR RBEE Charged to income statement 7,520 811,413 818,933
FNMEH < R @ E R Loans written off during the year
as uncollectible (4,234) (357,425) (361,659)
Wy [5] 2 $ift $5 BR 18 Recoveries 1,883 4,101 5,984
P BRI (B 2 1 [ 43 Unwind of discount on impairment
allowances - 211) (211)
[ 5 =%8 Exchange difference (1,070) (11,292) (12,362)
K2014%12H831H At 31 December 2014 17,298 714,300 731,598
2014
RIBATH
Collectively assessed
fEA NG| wt
Personal Corporate Total
BB BB BB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2014F1 818 At 1 January 2014 77,845 1,109,170 1,187,015
RUR SR B Charged to income statement 37,933 47,428 85,361
FAMEE 2 R B E R Loans written off during the year
as uncollectible (17,193) - (17,193)
L[5 B i1 85 AR 18 Recoveries 191 = 191
PEE W, Z= 58 Exchange difference 88 (16,940) (16,852)

MR2014512H318° At 31 December 2014 98,864 1,139,658 1,238,522
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24, ERIRE 24. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
2015
BAFESER R 8H R A B BR
At fair value At amortised cost
ATt &
SRMEE BHEZE
Available- BHBEES
for-sale Held-to- BERRER
financial maturity Loans and st
assets securities receivables Total
BT T BT T BT T BET T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B4 Treasury bills 18,118,392 2,257,798 - 20,376,190
HiEFE S Other debt securities 22,716,901 208,732 585,792 23,511,425
40,835,293 2,466,530 585,792 43,887,615
FRGE Certificates of deposit 11,043,688 - - 11,043,688
BEEHFK Total debt securities and
FREEE certificates of deposit 51,878,981 2,466,530 585,792 54,931,303
R% 17 5 & Equity securities 4,613 - - 4,613
Hih Others 472,067 - - 472,067
52,355,661 2,466,530 585,792 55,407,983
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24, SRIBE

24.

BFENIR

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont'd)

2014
T2 B S5 P AN B

At fair value At amortised cost
AIEHE
CRIEE REZE
Available- BH B &5
for-sale Held-to- B3 e R
financial maturity Loans and HEt
assets securities receivables Total
BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B Treasury bills 12,699,355 2,374,940 = 15,074,295
H A (E75 73 Other debt securities 21,802,534 243,450 2,074,594 24,120,578
34,501,889 2,618,390 2,074,594 39,194,873
FAE Certificates of deposit 7,897,685 - - 7,897,685
BERELER Total debt securities and
TR certificates of deposit 42,399,574 2,618,390 2,074,594 47,092,558
f% 15 55 5 Equity securities 75,766 - - 75,766
42,475,340 2,618,390 2,074,594 47,168,324
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24. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont'd)

Financial investments is analysed by place of listing as

follows:
2015
GRS
SMEE EEX oS
Available- BHAAES
for-sale Held-to- BR R EWR
financial maturity Loans and
assets securities receivables
BT T BT T BET T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B EF KT RE Debt securities and
certificates of deposit
—REBLET — Listed in Hong Kong 3,219,469 - =
— REBLASN BT — Listed outside Hong Kong 6,265,404 42,543 =
9,484,873 42,543 -
— LT — Unlisted 42,394,108 2,423,987 585,792
51,878,981 2,466,530 585,792
IR0 73 Equity securities
—JEEmm — Unlisted 4,613 = =
HAth Others
— 3L — Unlisted 472,067 = =
52,355,661 2,466,530 585,792
BEZRIHAZ Market value of listed
THEETE held-to-maturity securities 43,286
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24, ERRE @) 24. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Contd)
2014
Al
TREE BEE
Available- FHAH#E 5
for-sale Held-to- B & R
financial maturity Loans and
assets securities receivables
BT T BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB H KT RE Debt securities and
certificates of deposit
—REBLET — Listed in Hong Kong 2,118,557 = =
— BB ET — Listed outside Hong Kong 3,818,449 49,148 =
5,937,006 49,148 =
— kLT - Unlisted 36,462,568 2,569,242 2,074,594
42,399,574 2,618,390 2,074,594
&0 & % Equity securities
— 3L — Unlisted 75,766 = =
42,475,340 2,618,390 2,074,594
HAEZEEA 2 EmESME  Market value of listed
held-to-maturity securities 48,095
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24, ERRE @) 24. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Contd)
SRR EREITEE 2 BT Financial investments is analysed by type of issuer as follows:
2015
AHtHE
SREE BEZE
Available- BHEHSH
for-sale Held-to- BER R EWR
financial maturity Loans and
assets securities receivables
BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEHER Sovereigns 17,267,770 1,690,727 =
NEEE* Public sector entities* 1,397,813 111,195 -
FBITREM S REE Banks and other financial institutions 27,633,868 567,071 355,393
NI E Corporate entities 6,056,210 97,537 230,399
52,355,661 2,466,530 585,792
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24, ©RRE @) 24. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont'd)
2014
A&
CRIEE BEE
Available- EHf A E S
for-sale Held-to- B kR
financial maturity Loans and
assets securities receivables
BT BT T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEhERE Sovereigns 11,981,667 1,778,199 =
N VA Public sector entities* 233,982 130,399 =
RITREM S mgE Banks and other financial institutions 21,682,684 596,741 =
NCIM=E 3 Corporate entities 8,577,007 113,051 2,074,594
42,475,340 2,618,390 2,074,594
L BIEEGRTE (BX) A Ao B AR AEENMAHEE S8 * Included available-for-sale financial assets of HK$1,397,813,000
A ES11,397,813,0007T (20144 : ##233,982,0007T) RiFEE (2014: HK$233,982,000) and held-to-maturity securities of
F|HA A F#8%111,195,0007T (20144 : #¥130,399,0007T) ° HK$111,195,000 (2014: HK$130,399,000) which are eligible to be

classified as public sector entities under the Banking (Capital) Rules.
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24, ERRE @) 24. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Contd)
SRIEE S FBAMINT The movements in financial investments are summarised as
follows:
2015

HtHE BEZE

SMEE B EFES
Available- Held-to- B EWER
for-sale maturity Loans and
financial assets securities receivables
BT T BT T BET T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MR2015%F181H At 1 January 2015 42,475,340 2,618,390 2,074,594
1280 Additions 64,175,644 - 1,800,033
RE  EBOKEIH Disposals, redemptions and maturity (52,574,718) - (3,193,198)
BN Amortisation (80,925) 6,900 (46,354)
N EE Change in fair value 280,066 - -
[E 5 =%8 Exchange difference (1,919,746) (158,760) (49,283)
2015412 A31H At 31 December 2015 52,355,661 2,466,530 585,792




192

#17% %% 4645 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2015 ANNUAL REPORT i

www.ncb.com.hk

BRI AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

24. ERRE 9 24. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (Cont'd)
2014
A&
eRMEE BEE
Available- FHHE S
for-sale Held-to- B R EWR
financial maturity Loans and
assets securities receivables
BT T BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2014F1 818 At 1 January 2014 40,002,637 585,442 1,684,064
o Additions 53,708,654 2,317,602 2,664,630
BE - BE &I Disposals, redemptions and maturity (50,504,041) (561,214) (2,301,827)
3 Amortisation 1,053 47,288 42,432
NEEE Change in fair value 557,098 = =
BENOR Reclassification (263,152) 263,152 -
E N ZE5E Exchange difference (1,026,909) (33,880) (14,705)
R2014%F12H31H At 31 December 2014 42,475,340 2,618,390 2,074,594

AEBRERNIEEFTHBEMNERES - AR EHESHER There was no debt securities reclassified out of available-for-
EHOBRERERIE AR (20145 : #5%263,152,000 sale category into held-to-maturity category for the Group
JC) ° during the year (2014: HK$263,152,000).
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25. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2015 2014

BT T BT T

HK$°000 HK$'000

M1A1H At 1 January 1,280,271 1,174,938

e Additions 2,903 821

HeE Disposals (901,200) =

NSV g Fair value gains 35,446 129,896
EFNOEEEYE BME Reclassification to properties, plant and

= (FisE26) equipment (Note 26) (1,498) (24,085)

MEH =28 Exchange difference (1,186) (1,299)

M®12H31H At 31 December 414,736 1,280,271

BREWMFEZ REERBORBKHARDIMFTOT

The carrying value of investment properties is analysed based
on the remaining terms of the leases as follows:

2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
ERBRFE Held in Hong Kong

REATAA) (EBB504F) On long-term lease (over 50 years) 248,590 1,126,031
FRERFRA) (10F Z=504F) On medium-term lease (10 to 50 years) 145,820 132,090

FEBEAINEE Held outside Hong Kong
FEATEAY (10 E504) On medium-term lease (10 to 50 years) 20,326 22,150
414,736 1,280,271

M20155F12HA31H " JIREEBBERAZKEMSE © T
BB EME - ATFEETHEEREEXBRERAA
MR2015F12A31B A AFEAREEMBETZEEMEE - A
FEEEAEEEEEARFHNZMNIER NRAMS2HEE T
EE—HREMEEISHER

As at 31 December 2015, investment properties were
included in the balance sheet at valuation carried out at
31 December 2015 on the basis of their fair value by an
independent firm of chartered surveyors, Savills Valuation
and Professional Services Limited. The fair value represents
the price that would be received to sell each investment
property in an orderly transaction with market participants
at the measurement date.
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26. I - BMRRME 26. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT
®E - BERE
R#E
Equipment,
BE fixtures and @et
Premises fittings Total
BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
M20155F1 A1 8 2 REFE Net book value at 1 January 2015 7,035,310 293,187 7,328,497
®E Additions 27,237 47,003 74,240
HE Disposals (381,098) (650) (381,748)
G Revaluation 377,219 - 377,219
FEME Depreciation for the year (127,328) (95,489) (222,817)
ENOEEEREME Reclassification from
(Bt5E25) investment properties (Note 25) 1,498 = 1,498
M N =5 Exchange difference (26,857) (9,283) (36,140)
DEAFHEERE Classified as assets held for sale (132,729) = (132,729)
2015512 A31HZREVFME  Net book value
at 31 December 2015 6,773,252 234,768 7,008,020
2015412 A31H At 31 December 2015
IPENEEARYIE Cost or valuation 6,773,252 820,038 7,593,290
REtine Accumulated depreciation = (585,270) (585,270)
R2015F 12 A31B ZERE/FE  Net book value at 31 December 2015 6,773,252 234,768 7,008,020
B E 2 KA E K The analysis of cost or valuation
HEITET of the above assets is as follows:
72015412 A31H At 31 December 2015
LK AE At cost - 820,038 820,038
ZihE At valuation 6,773,252 - 6,773,252
6,773,252 820,038 7,593,290
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PROPERTIES, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

& BERNE

NMEEE
Equipment,
BE fixtures and 1A
Premises fittings Total
BEET T PEMET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2014%F1 A1 B ZEEFE Net book value at 1 January 2014 6,609,378 359,859 6,969,237
e Additions 29,233 55,763 84,996
& Disposals = (2,628) (2,628)
E G Revaluation 497,338 = 497,338
FEHE Depreciation for the year (111,813) (112,955) (224,768)
ENOEEEREME Reclassification from investment
(Fg5E25) properties (Note 25) 24,085 = 24,085
M 5 =5 Exchange difference (12,911) (6,852) (19,763)
MK2014F12A31H ZREVFE  Net book value at
31 December 2014 7,035,310 293,187 7,328,497
2014512 A31H At 31 December 2014
EAESHE Cost or valuation 7,035,310 836,325 7,871,635
2T E Accumulated depreciation - (543,138) (543,138)
R2014512 A31HZREVFME  Net book value
at 31 December 2014 7,035,310 293,187 7,328,497
B E 2 KA E K The analysis of cost or valuation of
HEITET the above assets is as follows:
2014412 A31H At 31 December 2014
R ANE At cost = 836,325 836,325
kA At valuation 7,035,310 = 7,035,310
7,035,310 836,325 7,871,635
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26. ¥ > SBMKRERE 5

FEZEEERBARBHRAFTNOT

26. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

The carrying value of premises is analysed based on the

remaining terms of the leases as follows:

2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000
EEBRHRE Held in Hong Kong

REIEA (EBB504F) On long-term lease (over 50 years) 4,602,693 4,928,200
FREATEAY (10 E5045) On medium-term lease (10 to 50 years) 1,666,127 1,589,216

EBBAINGE Held outside Hong Kong
FREAFE 4 (108E & 504F) On medium-term lease (10 to 50 years) 485,875 499,608
HHIA L (DRM05F) On short-term lease (less than 10 years) 18,557 18,286
6,773,252 7,035,310

MR2015%12A318 " IIREEBBRAZEE - HIKESE
VEFANEME —AFEBENEEREXERAERAFR
2015F 12 A3 ATFEAREEMETZEEBE A F
BEETEEEEEERFRZMBERATATSES2HELE
F—HEERISHER -

As at 31 December 2015, premises were included in the
balance sheet at valuation carried out at 31 December
2015 on the basis of their fair value by an independent firm
of chartered surveyors, Savills Valuation and Professional
Services Limited. The fair value represents the price that
would be received to sell each premises in an orderly

transaction with market participants at the measurement

date.
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26. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

As a result of the above-mentioned revaluations, changes
in value of the premises were recognised in the premises
revaluation reserve and the income statement as follows:

2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000

BErRFEEGFEECEMEE Increase in valuation credited to premises
revaluation reserve 374,898 495,305

ErlmR e EHEE Increase in valuation credited to income

statement 2,321 2,033
377,219 497,338

R2015F12A31H - BEFEEEKNAENR AT INE
R AEBZEERBBRAZEEREFERBBE
607,766,0007T (20144 : &#625,329,0007T) °

27. EMEE

As at 31 December 2015, the net book value of premises
that would have been included in the Group’s balance sheet
had the premises been carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation was HK$607,766,000 (2014: HK$625,329,000).

27. OTHER ASSETS

2015 2014

BT T BT T

HK$'000 HK$'000

U [a] & &= Repossessed assets 98,469 4,664
EeB Precious metals 53,393 11,691
FEUBRTE K FE & A Accounts receivable and prepayments 4,143,369 997,089
4,295,231 1,013,444
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28. AEEZ{LTTABRZEHERE 28. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000
RHHEEE Trading liabilities
—INEESEBEMEFER — Short positions in Exchange Fund Bills and Notes 4,575,356 4,970,693

M2015F12A31HREREANAFEELTABZZE
FiBfE (2014128318 : &) -

At 31 December 2015, there was no financial liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss (2014: Nil).

29. BEFEREEHET 29. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS AND
HEDGE ACCOUNTING
(@) EFEX (a) Deposits from customers
2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
BV ERTF 51 R 1 2R A7 3K Demand deposits and current accounts
/N — Corporate 26,763,884 17,677,460
— fEA — Personal 2,767,262 2,519,367
29,531,146 20,196,827
HEFK Savings deposits
NG — Corporate 19,930,314 16,662,177
— @A — Personal 39,071,432 34,635,346
59,001,746 51,297,523
EH - EERBATFR Time, call and notice deposits
— AH] - Corporate 81,285,911 74,389,992
—{EAA — Personal 48,443,180 | 63,749,593
129,729,091 | 138,139,585
218,261,983 | 209,633,935

(b) HHEF
BINEIEFRELT

M2015F12831H " REARBFENTEFHEREART
AR T A AN EINEEFERE (20144 © B
1,393,565,0007T) °

FRELAERBD 2 WEREBR R R AR (2014%F ¢
&) o

(b)

Hedge accounting

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

As at 31 December 2015, there was no RMB-denominated
deposits from customers designated as a hedging instrument
to hedge against the net investments in foreign operations
(2014: HK$1,393,565,000).

There were no gains or losses on ineffective portion
recognised in the income statement during the year (2014:
Nil).
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30. OTHER ACCOUNTS AND PROVISIONS

2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$°000 HK$'000
H i pETERIE Other accounts payable 12,901,186 15,101,242
A Provisions 73,614 80,724
12,974,800 15,181,966

31. EZEHE 31. DEFERRED TAXATION

BIEFIARBBEEB G ERFE12R [PAFHR]FE  $E
EABZRBERERENBRRABRMEMRE 2 ERHEE
BRARERHIRERIERE -

BEABRAZBENRR (BE) ABETEES  URE

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of the temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements and unused tax credits in accordance with HKAS
12 “Income Taxes".

The major components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities

TEEERNZEEFNOT ¢ recorded in the balance sheet, and the movements during
the year are as follows:
2015
MERE
SHE
Accelerated MESR HEERE
tax Property FE Impairment Htt @t
depreciation revaluation Losses allowances Others Total
BETT BETT BETT BETR BETR BETR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7201551818 At 1 January 2015 30,906 1,090,064 - (258,170) (28,498) 834,302
(&%) / fElkesR (Credited)/charged to income statement (12,750) (11) (34,976) 116,781 (83,214) (14,170)
(B2)/Edm2EksE  (Credited)/charged to other
comprehensive income - (10,657) - - 15,548 4,891
EHEE Exchange difference - (3,128) 1,367 4,748 264 3,251
NEAFHEBEZIEAAR  Clasified as liabilities associated
with assets held for sale - (21,884) - - - (21,884)
R2015F 128318 At 31 December 2015 18,156 1,054,384 (33,609)  (136,641) (95,900) 806,390
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31. EEBE @)

31. DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont'd)

2014
L&
SHE
Accelerated mESH REERE

tax Property BB Impairment Hith @it
depreciation  revaluation Losses allowances Others Total
BETT BB BB BB BB BB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R2014F1 /18 At 1 January 2014 26,417 1,020,816 (412) (218,279) (115,828) 712,714
fgie /(&) R Charged/(credited) to income statement 4,489 325 412 (43,489) (10,846) (49,109)
ETEM2ERE Charged to other comprehensive income - 70,286 - - 95,845 166,131
ERER Exchange difference - (1,363) - 3,598 2,331 4,566
M2014%F12A318 At 31 December 2014 30,906 1,090,064 - (258,170) (28,498) 834,302

EELAERMNABRAVREEARERBAREKE - ME
SRS MR — B RS - BRI ERDEAMEE R IR E E
HEEHBARBELREE - THEEERBRRAIEKZE
B ERAEERHE

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset on an individual
entity basis when there is a legal right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
taxation relates to the same authority. The following
amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown
in the balance sheet:

2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
EEFIEEE Deferred tax assets (5,962) (152,171)
BEHRIBEEE Deferred tax liabilities 812,352 986,473
806,390 834,302
2015 2014
BET T BT
HK$°000 HK$'000

EEIBEEE (BiB121E B4 mE) Deferred tax assets to be recovered
after more than twelve months - (120,745)

FEEFHBEEE GBB12EABIM) Deferred tax liabilities to be settled
after more than twelve months 914,145 977,010
914,145 856,265

M2015F12831H * AEBARERELHIEE E 2 HIGE
18 &7 #2,503,0007T (20144 : B #2,552,0007T) ° 1% E&
WITHA - BARBEERLBEEHRR -

As at 31 December 2015, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses amounting to
HK$2,503,000 (2014: HK$2,552,000). These tax losses do
not expire under the current tax legislation.
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BIE2015F 1M AINNBESS 2 EIRE -

TEETHRERS -

N

SHEEEMTHEEAEZHBABZIERMMT

B R AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

32. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

RRTRELESR According to the Board’s written resolution dated 11
November 2015, the Bank agreed to sell certain premises

to BOC

HK.

The major classes of assets held for sale and liabilities

associated with assets held for sale are as follows:

2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
VI - =M MR Properties, plant and equipment 132,729 -
aE LIABILITIES
RIEFIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 21,884 =
110,845 -
33. R 33. SHARE CAPITAL
2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
EETRAR Issued and fully paid:
7,000,000 % & i % 7,000,000 ordinary shares 3,144,517 3,144,517
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3. GLERERERMEE

34. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH
FLOW STATEMENT

(a) RERVNERBAKLERSZRAHER (a) Reconciliation of operating profit to
operating cash inflow before taxation

2015 2014
BT T BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
£ A Operating profit 3,238,220 3,237,130
e Depreciation 222,817 224,768
B SEE B Net charge of impairment allowances 633,324 904,294
YT IR R (B ZE 1 O] % Unwind of discount on impairment allowances (1,150) (211)
BEMEE 2 B (kIR B REE) Advances written off net of recoveries (1,127,792) (372,677)

E5IHA B 183831 A 2 7 IR R
E it RIS b

[REIH B BB31E A 2 FEIRTT R

Change in balances with banks and
other financial institutions with original
maturity over three months 2,430,211 1,769,870

Change in placements with banks and
other financial institutions with original

HEih & migE vz EEm 2z & maturity over three months 8,865,231 1,698,994
ANEERFTABRZ Change in financial assets at fair value

CREEEE through profit or loss 163,628 (1,902,773)
PTESRMT Az &) Change in derivative financial instruments (232,756) 4,731
ERMEMRE 28 Change in advances and other accounts (4,435,098)| (9,089,140)
SRR E B E Change in financial investments (3,798,709)| (5,076,011)
ﬁﬁﬁéZﬂ@ﬁ Change in other assets (3,282,136) 2,728,151

RITREMSBMEE 2 FRAR Change in deposits and balances from banks and

wERR 2 B E) other financial institutions (6,774,437) 8,889,582

AEEZ(EFTABRZ Change in financial liabilities at fair value

CRIBEZE through profit or loss (395,337) 536,957
BEFRZE Change in deposits from customers 8,628,048 | 11,473,518
HMERBERER 2 EH) Change in other accounts and provisions (2,207,166) (47,535)
EREH) v g & Effect of changes in exchange rates 1,152,459 695,114
BREBLATAE &I © 2 MA Operating cash inflow before taxation 3,079,357 15,674,762
REXB7HeRETBE Cash flows from operating activities included:

—BKFE — Interest received 9,337,866 9,741,510

— BfFE — Interest paid (4,468,941)|  (4,664,043)

— A B — Dividend received 7.236 9,345
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3. ZREBRERERMTE ®) 34. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH
FLOW STATEMENT (Cont'd)
(b) BEREEABRESBEHEEDT (b) Analysis of the balances of cash and cash
equivalents
2015 2014
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
EFReRREPEEIBMARNZ Cash and balances with banks and
TFHERTT R E A & BB R A5 24 other financial institutions with original
maturity within three months 44,060,170 45,667,954
FRRHAREIEARNZERTR Placements with banks and other
Hith & g 18 2 T BRTF I financial institutions with original
maturity within three months 1,205,984 3,464,730
[RE|HA B E3ME A N2 E 5 Treasury bills with original maturity
within three months 8,556,255 3,168,387
53,822,409 52,301,071
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35. BHABEBERERE

FRBERAEN2REREARTRLERZSERBRNEA
WETAMRE  HEBRERRFIZAOBEREEERR N

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND

COMMITMENTS

The following is a summary of the contractual amounts of
each significant class of contingent liability and commitment

RSB and the aggregate credit risk-weighted amount and is
prepared with reference to the completion instructions for
the HKMA return of capital adequacy ratio.

2015 2014
BT T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000

HEEFEEBNRER Direct credit substitutes 21,262,146 23,145,228

B SEBZSAAE Transaction-related contingencies 1,830,203 2,571,980

HESHEBZABE Trade-related contingencies 7,801,271 7,957,417

BERENEELE Asset sales with recourse 5,419,397 4,741,257

TR 2 S 3B AN AR S 2 G Commitments that are unconditionally

cancellable without prior notice 75,313,331 68,666,899

HibaAdE - REABE R Other commitments with an original maturity of

—1FEHUAT — up to one year 1,983,255 1,158,435
— 1R E — over one year 9,083,933 4,673,119
122,693,536 | 112,914,335

EE R INESEE Credit risk-weighted amount 21,148,878 16,759,631

EERBINESERRE (RITE (BAX) RAD FHE - 1
BHARRRRZHFZERARBEAN BRI -

The credit risk-weighted amount is calculated in accordance
with the Banking (Capital) Rules. The amount is dependent

upon the status of the counterparty and the maturity
characteristics of each type of contract.
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36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group has the following outstanding capital
commitments not provided for in the financial statements:

2015 2014

BT T BT T

HK$’000 HK$'000

EHUE RELERBEE Authorised and contracted for but not provided for 8,571 20,086
BHLEBRELD Authorised but not contracted for 232 60
8,803 20,146

A EBERAZRILS RBBAZ BB RIS - ARAKE
B BTRIETIZZALE-

37. KREHERIE
(@) EBEBA

RETABEZLLEHEERLY  THAAEERREREE
AERMAXN 2 &EAS

The above capital commitments mainly relate to commitments
to purchase computer equipment and software, and to
renovate the Group’s premises.

37. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(a) As lessee

The Group has commitments to make the following future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases:

2015 2014
BETT BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000

T RAEF Land and buildings
— PEEB1F - Not later than one year 244,631 248,005
—1FLA EESFR — Later than one year but not later than five years 604,033 698,705
— 5% — Later than five years 92,977 225,768
941,641 1,172,478

Hfth A HE Other commitments
— NEiBE1F — Not later than one year 877 915
—1FUEESFER — Later than one year but not later than five years 96 250
942,614 1,173,643
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37. REHERIE @)

(b) EREAA

REFAREZLLEHEAD  TIA/AEEERER
HWZARREBHEZ REREAS -

7

ik
o)

37. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(Cont'd)

(b) As lessor

The Group has contracted with tenants for the following
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases:

2015 2014
BT T BT
HKS$’000 HK$'000

T RIETF Land and buildings
— BB 1F — Not later than one year 14,911 46,783
—1FUAEESFERA — Later than one year but not later than five years 17,315 25,986
32,226 72,769

AEENREHERABHERENE  HEFHBEHIF
E3F - BOBKRREBFBEFRIRER -

n
i
P

38.

AEBEEHZERBIATRENZEIRRE - HER
BERREEAKSENEZTHREZDHRH -

HREFRAANKE A HARAELA N TR RE L SR
EFMPEMBEIR  BEARHBEERERRREFHEX
B -

The Group leases its investment properties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases typically for a period from
one to three years. The terms of the leases generally require
the tenants to pay security deposits.

38. LITIGATION

The Group has been served a number of claims and
counterclaims by various independent parties. These claims
and counterclaims are in relation to the normal commercial
activities of the Group.

No material provision was made against these claims and
counterclaims because the directors believe that the Group
has meritorious defences against the claimants or the
amounts involved in these claims are not expected to be
material.



www.ncb.com.hk

#17% %% 4645 « NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK 2015 ANNUAL REPORT i

39. ZERE
(a) ®REEHE

AEEERBFO ROEEED
17 MEXRBRKE -

B 2RI REARIT BER

EARITHNEFRTEBRISREE2EAORITRS - BAA
RITEBRERBEARTS - MEFRTEBESREIEE
ABF ERMEEBRE RTEZEEIN  EEFEEER
SENER - RBESD - FIERMIMNEMB - B EZEKBPIE
BASENMEGHNER  REMEBKREEES - WE
W HE R SRAT AN 1b 3 ER1T TS AR 80 R U7 ROS B P ATERIS Y
B mEEBRIANESRZIEEREBENLESER
BREHIET EAMEZ2INTEEKIBERER  E8%F
FMEBEEANKRERS BEEEEREERTARRRE
BiEZEANEE 52 TAINEMEEBFRIERE B E
HEEGEERLER) -

REBRBRAKENFEMEMS IR EMMERNRE - HRME
AAKENYE  BEMEBRTEERREFHROMGER
AREXBRNER BmAKBEWNBERF —BE (FE)
ZEASMEERERERARERNERREZH 8
ERUEEBSEA

[Hfh | REREMLERTERRERASEEREEEK
M{EEBAREEAIRE

—(ARBRORALEZ L TEREREERBN
HE -EREERER  SRESEEERD -

NEETBARE

BAFE R AR MY RE

Notes to the Financial Statements

39. SEGMENTAL REPORTING
(a) By operating segment

The Group divides its business into four major segments,
Personal Banking, Corporate Banking, Treasury and
Investment.

Both Personal Banking and Corporate Banking provide
general banking services. Personal Banking serves individual
customers while Corporate Banking deals with non-individual
customers. The Treasury segment is responsible for managing
the capital, liquidity, and the interest rate and foreign
exchange positions of the Group in addition to proprietary
trades. It provides funds to other business segments and
receives funds from deposit taking activities of Personal
Banking and Corporate Banking. These inter-segment
funding is charged according to the internal funds transfer
pricing mechanism of the Group. The assets and liabilities
of Treasury have not been adjusted to reflect the effect of
inter-segment borrowing and lending (i.e. the profit and loss
information in relation to Treasury is not comparable to the
assets and liabilities information about Treasury).

Investment includes bank premises and equipment used by
supporting units. Charges are paid to this segment from
other business segments based on market rates per square
foot for their occupation of the Group’s premises. The
exchange difference arising from capital of our subsidiary,
NCB (China), which is recognised in its income statement, is
also included in this class.

“QOthers” refers to other group operations and mainly
comprises of items related to the Group as a whole and
totally independent of the other four business segments.

Revenues and expenses of any business segment mainly
include items directly attributable to the segment. For
management overheads, allocations are made on reasonable
bases.
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ay' -~ ’
39. ZE®E @) 39. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (Cont'd)
() REESE (&) (a) By operating segment (Cont'd)
BABTT  LERT
Personal  Corporate  BTE%% BE& Hit Mt AHHEH g
Banking Banking  Treasury Investment Others  Subtotal Eliminations Consolidated
BT  E%Tn  BMTR  E%Tn  B¥Tr  B%Tn A%Tx BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EHZ2015512A318 Year ended 31 December 2015
FRERA /() Net interest income /(expense)
=K - External (66,016) 2,397,178 2,388,988 - - 4,720,150 - 4,720,150
- BEE - Inter-segment 980,296 235,717 (1,216,013) = = = = =
914,280 2,632,895 1,172,975 - - 4,720,150 - 4,720,150
FREERELRA Net fee and commission income 695,053 596,096 67,101 65 (1,365) 1,356,950 - 1,356,950
FRAMENE / (BE) Net trading gain/(loss) 43,272 (31,466) 3,345 39,025 (17) 54,159 = 54,159
RERNATERHABRZ Net loss on financial instruments designated at
SRIAFER fair value through profit or loss - - (6,382) - - (6,382) - (6,382)
HihemEE 2 FhE Net gain on other financial assets - 79,531 184,998 - 71892 336,421 - 336,421
EEERA Other operating income 185 - - 149,052 6,278 155515 (113,107) 42,408
REAEERNZFEEUA Net operating income before
impairment allowances 1,652,790 3,277,056 1,422,037 188,142 76,788 6,616,813 (113,107) 6,503,706
REEEFRE Net charge of impairment allowances (106,584)  (526,740) - - - (633,324) - (633,324)
FRERA Net operating income 1,546,206 2,750,316 1,422,037 188,142 76,788 5,983,489 (113,107) 5,870,382
"ETH Operating expenses (953,955) (1,121,281)  (275,988)  (205,721) (188,324)  (2,745,269) 113,107 (2,632,162)
"ERR/(FR) Operating profit/(loss) 592,251 1,629,035 1,146,049 (17,579) (111,536) 3,238,220 - 3,238,220
REMELE / ATEEEL Net gain from disposal of/fair value
el 6 adjustments on investment properties - - - 121,046 - 121,046 - 121,046
e/ EENE  BHRREZ Net gain from disposallrevaluation
Bl of properties, plant and equipment - - - 19,246 - 19,246 = 19,246
BBAER /(1) Profit/(loss) before taxation 592,251 1,629,035 1,146,049 122,713 (111,536) 3,378,512 - 3,378,512
®2015%12A31A At 31 December 2015
BE ASSETS
PREE Segment assets 39,504,331 134,505,455 123,466,694 7,458,268 129,316 305,064,064 - 305,064,064
HHERE Assets held for sale - - - 132729 - 132729 - 132,729
BEGE Total assets 39,504,331 134,505,455 123,466,694 7,590,997 129,316 305,196,793 - 305,196,793
aff LIABILITIES
PBAR Segment liabilities 91,688,294 138,648,224 36,023,296 4,335 1,711,990 268,076,139 - 268,076,139
HNEEE ABBRE Liabilities associated with assets held for sale - - - - 21,884 21,884 - 21,884
REGE Total liabilities 91,688,294 138,648,224 36,023,296 4335 1,733,874 268,098,023 - 268,098,023
EHZ2015512A318 Year ended 31 December 2015
HitEH Other information
EAMTH Capital expenditure - - - 77,143 - 77,183 - 77,143
nE Depreciation 16,616 8,849 671 205,711 (9,030 222,817 - 222,817
Fog: i Amortisation of securities - - (120379 - - (120379 = (120,379)
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39. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (Cont'd)

(@) By operating segment (Cont'd)

BARIT  BXEG
Personal  Corporate  BTEER e Hih NGt RGHES Fa
Banking Banking Treasury  Investment Others Subtotal  Eliminations  Consolidated
AETT  EETr AT B%Tr AT BETrn AETr BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EZ20145128318 Year ended 31 December 2014
FHBMA/ (FH) Net interest income/(expense)
— 55k - External (418,490) 2,750,511 2,858,028 - - 5,190,049 = 5,190,049
-BEK - Inter-segment 1,307,961 (114,871)  (1,193,090) - - - - -
889,471  2,635640 1,664,938 - - 5,190,049 - 5,190,049
FREERESUA /(i) Net fee and commission income/(expenses) 538,300 623,126 94,697 95 (1,492) 1,254,726 - 1,254,726
FRoMhE/ (BR) Net trading gain/(loss) 50406 105572 (125113)  (22,424) 417 8,858 - 8,858
REANATERABRZ Net loss on financial instruments designated at
SRILFER fair value through profit or loss - - (7,958) - - (7,958) - (7,958)
EtheBEE L FIE Net gain on other financial assets = 28,888 93,642 = = 122,530 - 122,530
Eft g A Other operating income 140 174 - 174,357 13,780 188,451 (117,643) 70,808
REAEERNZFEERA Net operating income before
impairment allowances 1,478,317 3,393,400 1,720,206 152,028 12,705 6,756,656 (117,643) 6,639,013
HEEEFRE Net charge of impairment allowances (45,453)  (858,841) - - - (904,294) - (904,294)
FEERA Net operating income 1432864 2534559  1,720206 152,028 12705 5852362  (117,643) 5734719
mEx Operating expenses (763,907) (1,257493)  (301,253)  (204538)  (88,041) (2615230 117,643  (2,497,589)
"EUN /(F8) Operating profit/(loss) 668,957 1,277,066 1,418,953 (52,510) (75,336) 3,237,130 = 3,237,130
RENELATERE 2 FWa Net gain from fair value adjustments
on investment properties - - - 129,89 - 129,896 - 129,896
e /EENE  BHREEZIESE  Net loss from disposal/revaluation of
properties, plant and equipment - - - (347) - (347) - (347)
BREARR/ (B8) Profit/(loss) before taxation 668,957 1,277,066 1,418,953 77,039 (75.336) 3,366,679 = 3,366,679
®2014%12831A At 31 December 2014
EE ASSETS
AHEE Segment assets 33,101,750 132,582,987 129,285,776 8,717,158 216,582 303,904,253 - 303,904,253
& LIABILITIES
AHEE Segment liabilities 103,437,642 120,438,397 43,259,903 7,582 1,865,885 269,009,409 - 269,009,409
HZ20145128318 Year ended 31 December 2014
HibgH Other information
BRI Capital expenditure = - - 85,817 - 85,817 - 85,817
bl Depreciation 10,350 5,705 982 204,528 3,203 224,768 = 224,768
BB Amortisation of securities - - 90,773 - - 90,773 - 90,773
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39. 7EBE @
(b) BHBEEHBS

UTERZRENBARNEESEMBEDE - BART
ZER - AKBEAERRREANBEECRZ DTTMELD

39. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (Cont'd)
(b) By geographical area

The following information is presented based on the principal
places of operations of the subsidiaries, or in the case of

3 the Bank, on the locations of the branches responsible for
reporting the results or booking the assets:
2015 2014
REUR B REURE
EHER 2 EHERIZ
BB A pEF SN
Net operating Net operating
income before BrFLADER]  income before R 5 A A
impairment Profit before impairment Profit before
allowances taxation allowances taxation
BET T BT BT T BT
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B Hong Kong 4,054,030 2,823,205 4,059,329 3,149,295
SaE b Mainland of China 2,381,416 509,623 2,535,739 207,655
H A, Others 68,260 45,684 43,945 9,729
&5t Total 6,503,706 3,378,512 6,639,013 3,366,679
2015
RAEBEHRE
BmEE wmesE FERENEE Contingent
Total Total Non-current liabilities and
assets liabilities assets commitments
BET T BETT BT T BET T
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
B Hong Kong 188,707,746 165,544,765 6,733,035 39,662,023
RRETIANp: Mainland of China 114,108,360 102,324,412 786,367 82,596,097
HAh Others 2,380,687 228,846 2,034 435,416
&5t Total 305,196,793 268,098,023 7,521,436 122,693,536
2014
AN B BRI
BEE wEE ERBEE Contingent
Total Total Non-current  liabilities and
assets liabilities assets  commitments
BT T BT BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB Hong Kong 184,505,742 162,047,271 7,835,833 33,849,154
RREANp: Mainland of China 116,624,065 104,331,044 775,587 78,941,179
HAth Others 2,774,446 2,631,094 2,349 124,002
&t Total 303,904,253 269,009,409 8,613,769 112,914,335
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M2015%12A318 - A& B 2 & (5% %4,581,856,0007T
(20144 : % %6,532,608,0007T) R ATFHMAF RRE X
SGUANBRNEE 2 EEEERT - It AEEBBREREE
HEMEETFRERBRE 2 B E R E%478,835,0007T
(20144 : #%2,090,606,0007T) - NEBAERILEEE
MmE 2 EES 55 B%5,084,230,0007T (20144 : B
8,677,155,0007t)  WEER [RHUEEE]  [£@MIRE]
RIBSEE] NFIEK -

41. ¢RI HEZIES

TRIRAEBELSY - SRTIFELE R IHHAEL
SHRGS BT AR -

B R AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

40. ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY

As at 31 December 2015, the liabilities of the Group
amounting to HK$4,581,856,000 (2014: HK$6,532,608,000)
were secured by assets deposited with central depositories
to facilitate settlement operations. In addition, the liabilities
of the Group amounting to HK$478,835,000 (2014:
HK$2,090,606,000) were secured by debt securities and bills
related to sale and repurchase arrangements. The amount
of assets pledged by the Group to secure these liabilities
was HK$5,084,230,000 (2014: HK$8,677,155,000) mainly
included in “Trading assets”, “Financial investments” and
“Trade bills”.

41. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The following tables present details of the Group'’s financial
instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting
arrangements and similar agreements.

2015
REESRERT REESR
E#H2BRR RASIRE AEREERBERTEHZ
ERIERH SRMARAE SREETHE HHER

EEHE Gross amounts

Net amounts Related amounts not set off

Gross  of recognised of financial in the balance sheet
amounts of financial assets 2lEZ
recognised liabilities set  presented in SRMIA Refm B
financial off in the the balance Financial Cash collateral Net
assets  balance sheet sheet instruments received amount
BT T BT T BETT BBT T BET T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
TESBTE Derivative financial
instruments 338,260 - 338,260 (59,230) - 279,030
HEtEE Other assets 1,352,506 (986,109) 366,397 - - 366,397
1,690,766 (986,109) 704,657 (59,230) - 645,427
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41. TRIBRZES ® 41. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)
2015
REEREBERT REESRE
2 B R R AEREESERY
ERIALH LREEAE LSREERE EH 2 ERSHE
SfEH4% Gross amounts Net amounts Related amounts not set off in
Gross  of recognised of financial the balance sheet
amounts of financial liabilities BHEHZ
recognised assets set  presented in SMIA Re#m HE
financial off in the the balance Financial Cash collateral Net
liabilities balance sheet sheet instruments pledged amount
BT T BT T BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
=1 Liabilities
fTEEBIA Derivative financial
instruments 154,121 - 154,121 (59,230) - 94,891
HitBfE Other liabilities 994,352 (986,109) 8,243 = = 8,243
1,148,473 (986,109) 162,364 (59,230) - 103,134
2014
REEARRT REERR
B2 ERER RHFIRE AEREEBRERPHEEL
ERZoR cRAREE SREETE ek
BEHTE  Gross amounts Net amounts Related amounts not set off
Gross  of recognised of financial in the balance sheet
amounts of financial assets BREZ
recognised liabilities set ~ presented in SRTA Befm R
financial off in the the balance Financial ~ Cash collateral Net
assets  balance sheet sheet instruments received amount
BT BETT BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EE Assets
fTHESRIA Derivative financial
instruments 59,439 - 59,439 (26,746) - 32,693
Hih&E Other assets 1,389,548 (1,094,061) 295,487 - - 295,487
1,448,987 (1,094,061) 354,926 (26,746) - 328,180
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41. €I AZEKSE @) 41. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)
2014
REEBBRF NEEAR
HiH 2 B R FAHTIRE RENEEARRT
EHRATH CREELE SRARTE B EBSH
BEHE  Gross amounts Net amounts  Related amounts not set off in
Gross  of recognised of financial the balance sheet
amounts of financial liabilities BEEZ
recognised assets set presented in SRTA Refm T
financial off in the the balance Financial ~ Cash collateral Net
liabilities  balance sheet sheet instruments pledged amount
BT BT BRI BETT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
=0 Liabilities
fTHESRIA Derivative financial
instruments 174,708 - 174,708 (26,746) - 147,962
Hivafg Other liabilities 1,128,061 (1,094,061) 34,000 - - 34,000
1,302,769 (1,094,061) 208,708 (26,746) - 181,962

RAEBEEITAMSIMTETAMEREER SN FEEHE
BiE - HERLEENIEMEEARENEN  AIR—R5
HFZHBSBRARAFRER -

For master netting agreements of OTC derivative and sale
and repurchase transactions entered into by the Group,
related amounts with the same counterparty can be offset
if an event of default or other predetermined events occur.

42, TREEER 42. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

As at 31

R2015F K2014F 128318 » AEBRETHFA K ILTER
G ZEEBERMEE -

December 2015 and 2014, there were no
transferred financial assets of the Group that do not qualify
for derecognition.
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43. EEEX

RIBEE CRBED) F383GR(AE (KWEESMEER)
RO E=RBRRTE - MARTERRHZERFBWT

43. LOANS TO DIRECTORS

Particulars of loans made to directors of the Bank pursuant
to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 3 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

2015 2014
BET T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
RERHAEEZBBER H 4258 Aggregate amount of relevant transactions
outstanding at year end 707 -
REAREEEBR I 2 &R Maximum aggregate amount of relevant transactions
outstanding during the year 739 -

44, FECEBEEALIRS

FEARANBESEBBTREKREAREMEAR ([F
B -H2EWNBRARTRESREARAT AR ([[E
) EHEEHIEETRERTRPREE  HAKH

BITEEH -

ot

(a) HEBQAAKBAFEFZHEMATNETHNRS

FRAERER

AEE 7 BEEERARRFREE  MPREERX PR
TS - B2 RHBERITZERAR  TRHERNZENES
AE MARERFIEESREEEXTNEAERER
") °

EENRLENME R HEE EH R -

AEBEGEEEEBPRLEFEBETRITIERRS
R ERREREEMERS °

CBREE

44, SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

The Group is subject to the control of the State Council of
the PRC Government through China Investment Corporation
(“CIC"), its wholly-owned subsidiary Central Huijin
Investment Ltd. (“Central Huijin”), BOC and BOCHK in which
Central Huijin has controlling equity interests.

(@) Transactions with the parent companies
and the other companies controlled by
the parent companies

General information of the parent companies:

The Group’s immediate holding company is BOCHK, which
is in turn controlled by BOC. Central Huijin is the controlling
entity of BOC, and it is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CIC
which is a wholly state-owned company engaging in foreign
currency investment management.

Central Huijin has controlling equity interests in certain other
entities in the PRC.

The Group enters into banking transactions with these
entities in the normal course of business which include loans,
investment securities and money market transactions.
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44, FECEBREALIRS (B

1

%

(a) EBEBRAARFRFEFZEMITRETH

(&)

X 5

BREIRBRAER © (&)

REBD B BERITETHR ZRE BB MS/EE) - R20155F
128318  NEBE BRI E W R EMN P BIRTHRIELRE S A
7% 75 9 358,822,0007T (20144 : 7 #4,756,693,0007T)
X 7 ¥12,219,755,0007T (20144 : 7 #13,986,923,000
JC) ° B E2015F 128318 L FE - EAhBRITA ML EE
¥BBREPEENRARTZHREES B A H%90,422,000
70 (20144 : 7 #295,494,0007T) & 7 #141,518,0007T
(20144 : 7#%191,080,0007T) - AR FIRITIES| 2 A
BWEEANLS °

REBD EAPIREBETHRZREEEMS/EE) - R20155F
12A318 » NEBABEEY REMNPREBHIELES 5
7% 75 #1,106,735,0007T (20144 : # #1,840,662,0007T)
X /& ¥12,628,797,0007T (20144 : 7% #17,173,914,000
JC) ° HiE2015F12A31H L FE - EHARF S ML
XBBEPEENRARS HEBTES R AAB%3,037,0007T
(20144 : & %2,560,0007T) K& % %331,591,0007T (2014
 : #5#729,578,0007T) °

RERN - AEELEETREVEREETHRESE B E
B9 5l &7 #986,800,0007T & 7 #392,600,0007T + 48 78
HEREMEMEE 2 FWm D 5% A5 %85,600,0007T &
751£16,422,0007T + R HIRTHIG — M FEFETT

R EHFAAEH cEMARNZIRERRF
e M2015F12A31H  REBHBARBLEREBE
15,630,974,0007T (20144 : & #12,914,910,0007T) °
BE2015F12A31B IEFE - BE A RS 2 HM AR
ML EEBBREREEN ST LB A5 149,213,000
(20144 : ##83,057,0007T) °

BAFE R AR MY RE

Notes to the Financial Statements

44. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

(@) Transactions with the parent companies
and the other companies controlled by
the parent companies (Cont'd)

General information of the parent companies: (Cont’d)

The majority of transactions with BOC arise from money
market activities. As at 31 December 2015, the related
aggregate amounts due from and to BOC of the Group
were HK$9,358,822,000 (2014: HK$4,756,693,000)
and HK$12,219,755,000 (2014: HK$13,986,923,000)
respectively. The aggregate amounts of income and expenses
of the Group arising from these transactions with BOC for
the year ended 31 December 2015 were HK$90,422,000
(2014: HK$295,494,000) and HK$141,518,000 (2014:
HK$191,080,000) respectively. Transactions with other
companies controlled by BOC are not considered material.

The majority of transactions with BOCHK arises from
money market activities. As at 31 December 2015, the
related aggregate amounts due from and to BOCHK of the
Group were HK$1,106,735,000 (2014: HK$1,840,662,000)
and HK$12,628,797,000 (2014: HK$17,173,914,000)
respectively. The aggregate amounts of income and expenses
of the Group arising from these transactions with BOCHK
for the year ended 31 December 2015 were HK$3,037,000
(2014: HK$2,560,000) and HK$331,591,000 (2014:
HK$729,578,000) respectively.

During the year, the Group sold certain investment properties
and premises to BOCHK with selling price amounting to
HK$986,800,000 and HK$392,600,000 respectively. The
gain from disposal of investment properties and premises
were approximately HK$85,600,000 and HK$16,422,000
respectively. The transactions were entered on normal
commercial terms.

The majority of transactions with other companies controlled
by the parent companies arises from deposits from customers.
As at 31 December 2015, the related aggregate amount of
the Group was HK$15,630,974,000 (31 December 2014:
HK$12,914,910,000). The aggregate amount of expenses
of the Group arising from these transactions with other
companies controlled by the parent companies for the year
ended 31 December 2015 was HK$149,213,000 (2014:
HK$83,057,000).
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44, FECEBREALIRS (B

(a) EBEBQAARBLAFAEFZEMIATDETHRS
(%)

BREIRRAER © (&)

BLRRES  BEMSATRSAREHZEMA
MR BAETEX -

AT

(b) EREF#RE - KEHE HWEEERAGMES
ERBEENXS

FEARKNBEZRABTRRESHAREERITE
Mg AR AMBE B BB BB BAHE - RS - 18
BENMECEEZEFHNERERIFREIAZEEMER - X
KEZR - RAXREBTHE 1&@3%&% B B8 4 A K L
BB ERETERIRITREHR

BERZSEEERBRNTIIFE :

BE - RHEERERMEZER

- RITRIE 2 F RN A

- HE - BE
ZE%

- BB SRR GEE TG ERMET

- RESMNE - ERRAARIRE RS

— RMETER &

- BEAKEE BTA  BREIIBBURE -

44. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

(@) Transactions with the parent companies
and the other companies controlled by
the parent companies (Cont'd)

General information of the parent companies: (Cont’d)

Save as disclosed above, transactions with other parent
companies and the other companies controlled by the parent
companies are not considered material.

(b) Transactions with government
authorities, agencies, affiliates and other
state controlled entities

The Group is subject to the control of the State Council
of the PRC Government through CIC and Central Huijin,
which also directly or indirectly controls a significant number
of entities through its government authorities, agencies,
affiliates and other state controlled entities. The Group enters
into banking transactions with government authorities,
agencies, affiliates and other state controlled entities in the
normal course of business at commercial terms.

These transactions include, but are not limited to, the
following:

lending, provision of credits and guarantees, and
deposit taking;

- inter-bank balance taking and placing;

- sales, purchases, underwriting and redemption of
bonds issued by other state controlled entities;

- rendering of foreign exchange, remittance and

investment related services;

- provision of fiduciary activities; and

- purchase of utilities, transport, telecommunications
and postage services.
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() EESEAE

IZREAREERLEERAEREREN MEEKRE
2 EEREEEEEB AL BREFENSEEEA
B - ARBELEREBHTERITIERBABERRAELR
tERREERE - RAFERESF - AREWLE BARTT
HERARZIESEAEREBHEALETERR

o

Yo &R

FTESBAEBEHZ12ANBIEFEZHMAOT

B R AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

44. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

(c) Key management personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly,
including Directors and Senior Management. The Group
accepts deposits from and grants loans and credit facilities
to key management personnel in the ordinary course of
business. During both the current and prior years, no
material transaction was conducted with key management
personnel of the Bank and its holding companies, as well as
parties related to them.

The compensation of key management personnel for the
year ended 31 December is detailed as follows:

2015 2014

BT T BT T

HK$'000 HK$'000

R MG T Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 24,623 26,740
RIREA Post-employment benefits 1,642 1,694
26,265 28,434

(d) EEMEBLQAMEER

2015128318 * ARITHEBEESBREFIE —KREE
EFETTR HEENRIR R EMNHB AR ZIBRED B &S
#51,440,338,0007T (20144 : 7 %1,963,019,0007T) & &
#226,650,0007T (20144 : #%316,242,0007T) °

(d) Balances with subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2015, the aggregate sums of amounts
due from subsidiaries and amounts due to subsidiaries of
the Bank arising from transactions entered into during
the normal course of business at commercial terms are
HK$1,440,338,000 (2014: HK$1,963,019,00) and
HK$226,650,000 (2014: HK$316,242,000) respectively.
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45. ERRERE

AT Th2REBERRITERT 2 ERBRNEARE
RS - B ERRRI ST AL ARREBR A
RHHFzHEEABRAZNBES M RENMBEMBEES
ZEEER LA 2 IMNEERE - EERZERAMEER
SHFHEMTR - MRRGEBERRAZAEL - £F&
RERITZEINTT  ARRKEBBEZIRITIBITHE
Hh

AEENEFERREGED T RRARERE (BB EER
F10% A B2 EREmT -

45, INTERNATIONAL CLAIMS

The below analysis is prepared with reference to the
completion instructions for the HKMA return of international
banking statistics. International claims are exposures to
counterparties on which the ultimate risk lies based on the
locations of the counterparties after taking into account the
transfer of risk, and represent the sum of cross-border claims
in all currencies and local claims in foreign currencies. For a
claim guaranteed by a party situated in a country different
from the counterparty, the risk will be transferred to the
country of the guarantor. For a claim on an overseas branch
of a bank whose head office is located in another country,
the risk will be transferred to the country where its head
office is located.

Claims on individual countries or areas, after risk transfer,
amounting to 10% or more of the aggregate international
claims of the Group are shown as follows:

2015
FERATFAABAE
Non-bank private sector
FERIT
SEE & mE
ERKE Non-bank FAHE
$R1T Official financial Non-financial st
Banks sector institutions private sector Total
BET T BT T BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RRETANp: Mainland of China 34,617,405 859,966 286,850 25,347,925 61,112,146
& Hong Kong 1,581,719 25,114 2,392,489 32,771,230 36,770,552
(&%)
(Restated)
2014
FEERITRLA MRS
Non-bank private sector
FEERTT
DRI JE R
B Non-bank FLAMIE
RAT Official financial  Non-financial #ast
Banks sector institutions  private sector Total
BT BT BT T BT T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
A B At Mainland of China 36,252,631 942,469 660,677 34,282,844 72,138,621
BB Hong Kong 253,134 2,305,880 588,883 24,251,030 27,398,927

HERFEEFHIIR - UFERF 2R

The comparative amounts have been restated to conform
with the current year’s presentation.
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46. FESRITHY A Hb [E B AR e 46. NON-BANK MAINLAND EXPOSURES

HIFRTRHEFHNMABAR R REZ ST TI2RBEEA The analysis of non-bank Mainland exposures is based on the
R 2 & B RIMTRAERIE TN 2 M EER &k E Rk categories of non-bank counterparties and the types of direct
RO o WRKRETRARTRERERITES B exposures with reference to the completion instructions for

B2 R R R A o the HKMA return of Mainland activities, which includes the
Mainland exposures extended by the Bank and its banking
subsidiaries.

2015

BERERR BESERHD
HE AR W AR

SERRRER On-balance Off-balance BEBEE
ltems in the HKMA sheet sheet Total
return exposure exposure exposure
BRI T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RREAT - FREFFER  Central government, central government-
Wig - HINEARR owned entities and their subsidiaries and
REL¥ joint ventures 1 23,932,429 2,995,217 26,927,646
WHB - HFBRAEER  Local governments, local government-owned
g HNEARR entities and their subsidiaries and joint
RERE ventures 2 13,890,604 2,709,320 16,599,924
FEZESNERIEMAEEA  PRC nationals residing in Mainland or other
e - EFBAFK  entities incorporated in Mainland and
RERE their subsidiaries and joint ventures 3 47,421,978 27,853,433 75,275,411
AEEELDE—ERRHEFT  Other entities of central government not
e E reported in item 1 above 4 2,623,361 - 2,623,361
AEEELME =B BB Other entities of local governments not
MR E i reported in item 2 above 5 15,330 = 15,330
HEIEESEINE R R PRC nationals residing outside Mainland
A AR - EEARAR  or entities incorporated outside Mainland
=8 where the credit is granted for use in
Mainland 6 7,511,143 1,037,765 8,548,908
HRZEFMERMBAE  Other counterparties where the exposures
WIRBIRTHR MR are considered to be non-bank Mainland
AP exposures 7 5,245,489 - 5,245,489
Fobs Total 8 100,640,334 34,595,735 135,236,069
MRERSENEERSE Total assets after provision 9 313,731,968

BEABRANEREE On-balance sheet exposures as percentage
HEERERAL of total assets 10 32.08%
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46. FERITHAMEBRAIE (&)

NON-BANK MAINLAND EXPOSURES

(Cont'd)
2014
BEBEBERA BEABRI
oSS MR B
SERBMERIEE On-balance Off-balance BRRAE
ltems in the HKMA sheet sheet Total
return exposure exposure exposure
BETT BRI BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RREFT - FREFFER  Central government, central government-
Big - HNEARR owned entities and their subsidiaries and
RELE joint ventures 1 29,451,874 1,151,441 30,603,315
WHB - A BRAEER  Local governments, local government-owned
g HNEARR entities and their subsidiaries and joint
RERE ventures 2 11,599,566 1,810,301 13,409,867
FEESNERIEMAEEAR  PRC nationals residing in Mainland or other
A - EFBAFK  entities incorporated in Mainland and
RELE their subsidiaries and joint ventures 3 50,180,366 29,896,773 80,077,139
AEEELLE—ERRHEFT  Other entities of central government not
MR E reported in item 1 above 4 318,005 = 318,005
AEEELME =B BRI  Other entities of local governments not
WEE i reported in item 2 above 5 = = =
FEIEESEINE R R PRC nationals residing outside Mainland
A AR - EEABAA or entities incorporated outside Mainland
=& where the credit is granted for use in
Mainland 6 6,980,121 1,183,797 8,163,918
HiRHHFMERMBAE  Other counterparties where the exposures
WARBIERTHR MR are considered to be non-bank Mainland
AP exposures 7 5,177,267 - 5,177,267
B Total 8 103,707,199 34,042,312 137,749,511
MREESENEERE Total assets after provision 9 310,553,707
BEABRANEREE On-balance sheet exposures as percentage
FEELERNL of total assets 10 33.39%
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47. BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(a) EE&EEX (a) Balance sheet
M12A31H As at 31 December 2015 2014
BT T BT
HK$°000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
EFRE RFHIRTREMS sgkE Cash and balances with banks and other
A 45 84 financial institutions 15,843,529 30,391,541
FRTEEMEREE =T _@ANR Placements with banks and other financial
FI 88 2 TE HATF AR institutions maturing between one and
twelve months 145,331 145,422
NEEEFABRZEREE Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 6,963,572 6,155,213
PTESRT A Derivative financial instruments 512,683 402,764
ER N EAMERIE Advances and other accounts 112,246,377 | 106,365,558
ST E Financial investments 45,967,421 37,162,481
N NET Interests in subsidiaries 8,171,067 8,171,067
KEWE Investment properties 394,410 1,258,121
MEE - B3 KRR E Properties, plant and equipment 6,329,838 6,579,145
Hibh&E Other assets 3,990,025 782,548
FHEEE Assets held for sale 132,729 -
BEMATE Total assets 200,696,982 | 197,413,860
afE LIABILITIES
R1T N E A B R 2 T A g Deposits and balances from banks and other
financial institutions 5,588,738 10,369,369
AFEE LG ABRZSRAE Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss 4,575,356 4,970,693
PTESRIT A Derivative financial instruments 205,753 167,394
EEEM Deposits from customers 152,979,068 | 145,870,627
H{th BRIE & 245 Other accounts and provisions 1,619,871 2,425,678
ENFHIEAE Current tax liabilities 187,530 182,031
EEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 803,862 977,874
BFHEEEZIEBaRE Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 21,884 =
BfEER Total liabilities 165,982,062 | 164,963,666
=N EQUITY
AR Share capital 3,144,517 3,144,517
(A Reserves 31,570,403 | 29,305,677
BRERR Total equity 34,714,920 | 32,450,194
BEREABEE Total liabilities and equity 200,696,982 | 197,413,860

LEESN2016F3F 18 BBRETHATALTRESE

Approved by the Board of Directors on 18 March 2016 and

Fang Hongguang

£ signed on behalf of the Board by:
ER Yue Yi T
BZ Director =

Director
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47. EEEBREREREEHR @)

47. BALANCE SHEET AND STATEMENT

OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Cont'd)

(b) HEZEHX (b) Statement of changes in equity
1
Reserves
TREERS
ATEZBRE
EEE{iffE Reserve for fair
BAx BRAEE Premises  value changes EERE BERE BERAR ERE
Share Share revaluation  of available-for- Regulatory Translation Retained Total
capital premium reserve  sale securities reserve* reserve earnings equity
BETT BETT BRI BT BETT BETR BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
120141718 At 1 January 2014 700,000 2,444,517 5,326,283 (58,705) 590,889 (5,127) 20,936,348 29,934,205
EREEF Profit for the year - - - - - - 2,609,558 2,609,558
Hin2EM Other comprehensive income:
-3 Premises - - 399,460 - - - - 399,460
ARNERS Available-for-sale securities - - - 207,506 - - = 207,506
EHBEER Currency translation difference - - - 276 - (811) - (535)
2EkREE Total comprehensive income - - 399,460 207,782 - (811) 2,609,558 3,215,989
BARK Transfer to share capital 2,444,517 (2,444,517) - - - - = =
BREBEET Transfer from retained earnings - - - - 172,276 - (172,276) -
[ie:] Dividends = = = = - - (700,000) (700,000
20145128318 At 31 December 2014 3,144,517 = 5,725,743 149,077 763,165 (5,938) 22,673,630 32,450,194
R2015F1A18 At 1 January 2015 3,144,517 - 5,725,743 149,077 763,165 (5,938) 22,673,630 32,450,194
ERRH Profit for the year - - - - - - 2,473,698 2,473,698
Hin2Els : Other comprehensive income:
BE Premises - - 350,149 - - - - 350,149
AR SRS Available-for-sale securities - - - (17,028) - - - (17,028)
EHBEEE Currency translation difference - - - 424 - (17) - 407
ENEEE Total comprehensive income - - 350,149 (16,604) - (17) 2,473,698 2,807,226
REEHE B Release upon disposal of premises - - (454,824) - - - 454,824 -
BEARERT Transfer from retained earnings - - - - 80,054 - (80,054) -
a5 Dividends - - - - - - (542,500) (542,500)
20156128318 At 31 December 2015 3,144,517 - 5,621,068 132473 843,219 (5,955) 24,979,598 34,714,920
* BIRE B S THER| B30 W SIS IR EEES, - 1R BT R * In accordance with the requirements of the HKMA, the amounts

BOBERENEZEERFEERT RERZA (RERRBLRREMD
TREHRR) -

are set aside for general banking risks, including future losses

or other unforeseeable risks, in addition to the loan impairment

allowances recognised under HKAS 39.
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48. HRRE1E

R2016F1 8158 » AEBEEETEETHRESL  HE
& A75%133,320,000T * HEALEREZ FREHABE
591,0007T * RHIETH — MR SEEFETT ©

49. RARERDF
FEARXNEABRBETEREAREAAT - K2 A

MEARTRESREFREERAR (Ex]) RESHESR
TR PRRITRPREE - YAREEITES -

50. FHBRAE

AP IERERNR2016F3 A 18K EETSRBMIZEEM -

B R AL

Notes to the Financial Statements

48. EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET
DATE

On 15 January 2016, the Group sold certain premises to
BOCHK with selling price amounting to HK$133,320,000.
The gain from disposal of premises were approximately
HK$591,000. The transactions were entered on normal
commercial terms.

49. ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The Group is subject to the control of the State Council of
the PRC Government through China Investment Corporation,
its wholly-owned subsidiary Central Huijin Investment Ltd.
("Central Huijin”), BOC and BOCHK in which Central Huijin
has controlling equity interests.

50. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 18 March 2016.

223



